

Suez Canal University



Faculty of Engineering Electrical Engineering Department

Performance Enhancement of Emerging Memory Technologies Using Memristor– Based Structures

A Thesis Submitted to the Faculty of Engineering, Suez Canal University in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the **Doctor of Philosophy Degree in Electrical Engineering**

> BY Sherief Fathy Ibrahim Kamel Abou Nafea

M. Sc. in Electrical Engineering 2012 Faculty of Engineering – Port Said University B. Sc. in Electrical Engineering 2007 Faculty of Engineering - Suez Canal University



Aus Igit Auto

Suez Canal University

Faculty of Engineering Electrical Engineering Department

Performance Enhancement of Emerging Memory Technologies Using Memristor– Based Structures

A Thesis Submitted to the Faculty of Engineering, Suez Canal University in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the **Doctor of Philosophy Degree in Electrical Engineering**

BY Sherief Fathy Ibrahim Kamel Abou Nafea M. Sc. in Electrical Engineering 2012 Faculty of Engineering – Port Said University B. Sc. in Electrical Engineering 2007 Faculty of Engineering - Suez Canal University

Prof. Dr. El-Sayed Mahmoud El-Rabie

Professor of Electronic and Communication Eng. Faculty of Electronic Engineering, Menouf Menoufia University

Assoc.Prof.Dr Ahmed Ahmed Shaaban Dessouki

Associate Professor of Electrical Engineering Faculty of Engineering, Port Said Port Said University

Dr. Basem El-Hady El-Saeed

Assistant Professor of Electrical Engineering Faculty of Engineering, Ismailia Suez Canal University

2018

Suez Canal University Faculty of Engineering **Electrical Engineering Department**

Performance Enhancement of Emerging Memory Technologies Using Memristor-Based Structures

A Thesis Submitted to the Faculty of Engineering, Suez Canal University in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for The

Doctor of Philosophy Degree in Electrical Engineering

BY

Sherief Fathy Ibrahim Kamel Abou Nafea

M. Sc. in Electrical Engineering 2012 Faculty of Engineering – Port Said University B. Sc. in Electrical Engineering 2007 Faculty of Engineering - Suez Canal University

Approved by the examining committee:

Prof. Dr. El-Sayed Mostafa Saad Prof. Dr. Taha El-Sayed Taha

Professor of Electronic and Communication Eng. Professor of Electronic and Communication Eng. Faculty of Engineering, Helwan Helwan University

Faculty of Electronic Engineering, Menouf Menoufia University

Prof. Dr. El-Sayed Mahmoud El-Rabie

Professor of Electronic and Communication Eng. Faculty of Electronic Engineering, Menouf Menoufia University

Associate Professor of Electrical Engineering Faculty of Engineering, Port Said Port Said University

Assoc.Prof. Dr. Ahmed A. Shaaban Dessouki

Author	Sherief Fathy Ibrahim Kamel Abou Nafea
Title	Performance Enhancement of Emerging Memory
The	Technologies Using Memristor–Based Structures
Faculty	Faculty of Engineering
Department	Electrical Engineering Department
Location	Ismailia
Degree	Ph.D. in Electrical Engineering
Date	2017
Language	English
Supervision	Prof. Dr. El-Sayed Mahmoud El-Rabie
Committee	Assoc.Prof. Dr. Ahmed A. Shaaban Dessouki
Committee	Dr. Basem El-Hady El-Saeed

English Abstract

Until 1971, the known three fundamental electrical elements were resistor, inductor, and capacitor. In 1971, Professor Leon Chua proposed that there should be a fourth fundamental element to complete the missing link between electric charge and magnetic flux. This element has been denoted by "Memristor." Memristor is a two-terminal passive element whose resistance varies based on the historic profile of the applied voltage/current. The first realization of this element was by HP labs in 2008. After that, a wide area of research on the memristor and its possible applications is opened. The thesis gives an overview of the memristor's properties, types, and modeling approaches with a special focus on the spintronic memristor type. Then a brief survey on the applications such as memory and neural circuits is provided.

One interesting type of memristors is the spintronic memristor which is based on the spin-transfer torque (STT) effect of magnetic devices. The spintronic memristor combines the advantages of memristors such as the non-volatility and the advantages of spin-transfer torque magnetic devices such as the good scalability and the radiation hardness. Spintronic memristors are promising devices that can be used efficiently in various applications such as memory chips and neuromorphic systems. They can benefit from the maturity of integrating magnetic devices on top of CMOS devices. Thus, the spintronic memristor is a promising candidate for a new generation of universal memory circuits.

In this thesis, two spintronic memristor models are proposed. The first one is a thermal fluctuation aware (TFA) model which accounts for the effect of the temperature variations on the spintronic memristors and studies the read disturbance due to these thermal variations. The model

is useful for the analysis and design of memristive-based memory circuits and it keeps the simplicity of existing models.

The second spintronic memristor model has a higher accuracy, more generality, but also more complicity. Existing models of spintronic memristors represent a similar version of the linear ion drift model of resistive memristors, which offer simplified models, with lower accuracy and without enough linkage to the device's physical parameters. The proposed model provides a general spintronic memristor model in which its dynamical behavior is represented by the Landau-Lifshitz-Gilbert-Slonczewski (LLGS) equation. The proposed model provides a more accurate dynamical behavior by using the LLGS equation, and better link to the device's physical parameters. It also gives the required equations to cover different types and geometries of spintronic memristors. The effect of the thermal variations on the memristor's parameters is also included in the model. The model is verified to experimental data and shows a significant enhancement in fitting compared to existing models. For both models, Verilog-A codes are developed and integrated with an integrated circuit CAD tool.

Then, the thesis provides a mathematical analysis of the dynamical behavior of spintronic memristors and their memory circuits using the TFA model. From the mathematical analyses, some useful equations are deduced that can be used in the design of memristor-based memory circuits.

After that, a read/write circuit for spintronic memristor-based memories is proposed. The proposed read/write circuit achieves a significant reduction in the occupied area. The read disturbance of the circuit is investigated to calculate the maximum allowed number of reading cycles before a refreshment operation is needed, and it is compared to some well-known existing read/write circuits.

Finally, the thesis provides a brief comparison between different memristor types for different applications. The comparison helps to recognize the advantages and disadvantages of each memristor type in these applications, which helps in deciding which memristor type can be more efficient in each application.

	Memristor – Modeling - Spintronic Memristor - Read
	Disturbance - LLGS Equation - Tunnening
Key Words	Magnetoresistance - Temperature Variations - Verilog-A
	- MRAM - Nonvolatile Memories – Dynamical Analysis
	– Read/Write Circuits.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First and foremost, I thank Allah, for all his blessings and for giving me this opportunity to carry on this work, helping me and giving me the strength to accomplish it.

I would like to express my sincere gratitude and appreciation to my supervisors, whose guidance and support allowed the accomplishment of this research. I really have been fortunate to be able to benefit from their experience and remarkable influence during my first steps and through the whole work.

I owe my deepest recognition and sincere gratitude to **Prof. Dr. El-Sayed Mahmoud El-Rabie** and **Prof. Ahmed A. Shaaban Dessouki** for their invaluable guidance, precious advice, and constructive comments, their generous, time and effort throughout all the stages of conducting this thesis.

A special and deepest thanks go to **Dr. Hassan Mostafa**, whose helped me to complete this thesis. He was always there to advise, meet and talk about my ideas, and brought out the good ideas in me, thanks for his extensive discussions, detailed review, and continuous encouragement. I will never be able to thank him enough for everything I have learned from him.

I would like also to express my deepest gratitude to my supervisor, **Prof. Khairy El-Barbary** who was like a father to me. His death was a great loss to me and to our college. I will always remember him with utmost love and gratitude for his guidance and advice. My deepest thanks to **Dr. Basem El-Hady El-Saeed** for his continuous help and advice, which were of a great help throughout this work.

Last, but not least, I deeply thank my Family for giving hope, listening and supporting, they had confidence in me when I doubted myself, without their encouragement and constant guidance I could not have finished this thesis.

ABSTRACT

Until 1971, the known three fundamental electrical elements were resistor, inductor, and capacitor. In 1971, Professor Leon Chua proposed that there should be a fourth fundamental element to complete the missing link between electric charge and magnetic flux. This element has been denoted by "Memristor." Memristor is a two-terminal passive element whose resistance varies based on the historic profile of the applied voltage/current. The first realization of this element was by HP labs in 2008. After that, a wide area of research on the memristor and its possible applications is opened. The thesis gives an overview of the memristor properties, types, and modeling approaches with a special focus on the spintronic memristor type. Then a brief survey on the applications such as memory and neural circuits is provided.

One interesting type of memristors is the spintronic memristor which is based on the spin-transfer torque (STT) effect of magnetic devices. The spintronic memristor combines the advantages of memristors such as the non-volatility and the advantages of spin-transfer torque magnetic devices such as the good scalability and the radiation hardness. Spintronic memristors are promising devices that can be used efficiently in various applications such as memory chips and neuromorphic systems. They can benefit from the maturity of integrating magnetic devices on top of CMOS devices. Thus, the spintronic memristor is a promising candidate for a new generation of universal memory circuits.

In this thesis, two spintronic memristor models are proposed. The first one is a thermal fluctuation aware (TFA) model which accounts for the effect of the temperature variations on the spintronic memristors and

Abstract

studies the read disturbance due to these thermal variations. The model is useful for the analysis and design of memristive-based memory circuits and it keeps the simplicity of existing models.

The second spintronic memristor model has a higher accuracy, more generality, but also more complicity. Existing models of spintronic memristors represent a similar version of the linear ion drift model of resistive memristors, which offer simplified models, with lower accuracy and without enough linkage to the device's physical parameters. The proposed model provides a general spintronic memristor model in which its dynamical behavior is represented by the Landau-Lifshitz-Gilbert-Slonczewski (LLGS) equation. The proposed model provides a more accurate dynamical behavior by using the LLGS equation, and better link to the device's physical parameters. It also gives the required equations to cover different types and geometries of spintronic memristors. The effect of the thermal variations on the memristor parameters is also included in the model. The model is verified to experimental data and shows a significant enhancement in fitting compared to existing models. For both models, Verilog-A codes are developed and integrated with an integrated circuit CAD tool.

Then, the thesis provides a mathematical analysis of the dynamical behavior of spintronic memristors and their memory circuits using the TFA model. From the mathematical analyses, some useful equations are deduced that can be used in the design of memristor-based memory circuits.

After that, a read/write circuit for spintronic memristor-based memories is proposed. The proposed read/write circuit achieves a significant reduction in the occupied area. The read disturbance of the circuit is investigated to calculate the maximum allowed number of reading cycles before a refreshment operation is needed, and it is compared to some wellknown existing read/write circuits.

Finally, the thesis provides a brief comparison between different memristor types for different applications. The comparison helps to recognize the advantages and disadvantages of each memristor type in these applications, which helps in deciding which memristor type can be more efficient in each application.

KEYWORDS

Memristor – Modeling - Spintronic Memristor - Read Disturbance - LLGS Equation - Tunneling Magnetoresistance - Temperature Variations -Verilog-A - MRAM - Nonvolatile Memories – Dynamical Analysis – Read/Write Circuits.

LIST OF PUBLICATIONS

- S. F. Nafea, A. A. Dessouki, and S. El-Rabaie, "Memristor Overview up to 2015," Menoufia Journal of Electronic Engineering Research (MJEER), Vol.24, No. 1&2, Jan-July 2015.
- S. F. Nafea, A. A. Dessouki, S. El-Rabaie, K. El-Barbary, and H. Mostafa, "Read disturbance and temperature variation aware spintronic memristor model," in Electrical and Computer Engineering (CCECE), 2016 IEEE Canadian Conference on, 2016, pp. 1-4.
- S. F. Nafea, A. A. Dessouki, S. El-Rabaie, Basem E. Elnaghi, Yehea Ismail, and H. Mostafa, "Area-Efficient Read/Write Circuit for Spintronic Memristor Based Memories", 60th IEEE International Midwest Symposium on Circuits and Systems, 2017.
- S. F. Nafea, A. A. Dessouki, S. El-Rabaie, Basem E. Elnaghi, Yehea Ismail, and H. Mostafa, "Accurate LLGS-Based Spintronic Memristor Model". <u>Submitted to Microelectronics Journal (MEJ)</u>, <u>Elsevier "Under Reviewing"</u>.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOV	WLEDGEMENTS	I
ABSTRA	СТ	III
LIST OF	PUBLICATIONS	VII
TABLE (OF CONTENTS	IX
LIST OF	FIGURES	XIII
LIST OF	TABLES	XIX
LIST OF	SYMBOLS AND ABBREVIATIONS	XXI
1. Chap	ter 1: Introduction	1 -
1.1. Pro	oblem Statement	1 -
1.2. Th	esis Objectives	2 -
1.3. Th	esis Outline	
2. Chapter 2: Literature Review of Memristor Types and Modeling5 -		
2.1. Int	roduction	5 -
2.2. De	vice Properties	7 -
2.2.1.	Current-Voltage (I-V) Characteristic	8 -
2.3. Ty	pes of Memristors	9 -
2.3.1.	Resistive Memristors	10 -
2.3.2.	Spintronic Memristors	14 -
2.3.3.	Other Types of Molecular Memristors:	17 -

Table of Contents

2.3.4	.4. Comparison of Different Types of Memristor	20 -
2.4.	Resistive Memristors Modeling	22 -
2.4.3	.1. Linear Ion Drift Model	22 -
2.4.2	.2. Nonlinear-Ion Drift Model	23 -
2.4.3	.3. Simmons Tunnel Barrier Model	26 -
2.4.4	.4. TEAM Model	28 -
2.4.	.5. Model Comparison	29 -
2.5.	Spintronic Memristors Modeling	31 -
2.5.3	.1. Helen & Chen Model	32 -
2.5.2	.2. Miao & Chen Model	34 -
3. Ch	hapter 3: Overview of Memristor Applications	- 37 -
3.1.	Introduction	37 -
37	Memristor-based memory circuits	- 38 -
3.2.	1 Basic Cell	- 39 -
3.2.3	2. Read/Write Circuits	42 -
3.2.3	.3. Sneak Path Problem	47 -
3.2.4	.4. Memory Technologies Comparison	49 -
3.3.	Memristor-based Neuromorphic circuits	50 -
3.3.3	.1. Synapses Analysis Modeling Using Memristive Devices	52 -
3.4.	Memristor-based Logic	53 -
3.5.	Memristor-based FPGA Switching Blocks	54 -
3.6	Analog Applications	- 55 -
0.01		
4. CH	HAPTER 4: Modeling of Spintronic Memristors.	- 58 -
4.1.	Introduction	58 -
4.2.	Thermal Fluctuation Aware Model	59 -
4.2.3	.1. Thermal effect on magnetic devices	59 -
		Ă

	4.2.2.	Proposed Thermal Fluctuation Aware Model 60 -
	4.2.3.	Simulation Results 63 -
	4.2.4.	Design Insights 66 -
4	.3. LLG	S-Based Spintronic Memristor Model 67 -
	4.3.1.	Issues of Previous Models 67 -
	4.3.2.	Dynamical Behavior of Magnetic Devices 69 -
	4.3.3.	The Domain wall width and motion 72 -
	4.3.4.	The CIP and CPP structures 73 -
	4.3.5.	Thermal Dependent parameters 76 -
	4.3.6.	In-plane anisotropy and perpendicular-to-plane anisotropy 78 -
	4.3.7.	The GMR- and TMR-based spintronic memristors
	4.3.8.	Verilog-A Description 80 -
	4.3.9.	Simulation Results 82 -
	4.3.10.	Model Verification 88 -
	4.3.11.	Memristor-based memory cell 89 -
	4.3.12.	LLGS Model Summary 93 -
4	.4. Con	nparison of Spintronic Memristor Models 93 -
5.	Chapte	er 5: Memory Design Using Memristors 95 -
5.	.1. Pro	perties of Memristors Using (TFA) Model
	5.1.1.	Write Operation: 96 -
	5.1.2.	Read Operation $(J < J_{cr})$ 96 -
5.	.2. Pro	posed R/W Circuit 100 -
	5.2.1.	Simulation Results 102 -
	5.2.2.	Read Disturbance 105 -
5.	.3. Des	ign Insights 108 -
6.	Chapte	er 6: Performance Comparison of Memristor
twn	es for r	nain annlications _ 111 _
r y h	US 101 1	nam appheanons

6.1.	Introduction 111 -
6.2.	Memristor-based Oscillators 113 -
6.3.	Memristor-based Ratioed Logic (MRL) Circuits 118 -
6.4.	Memristor Crossbar Arrays 126 -
6.4.	1. The 0T1M Crossbar Arrays 127 -
6.4.	2. The 1D1M Crossbar Arrays 132 -
6.5.	Memristor Training 135 -
7. Ch	napter 7: Conclusions and Future Work 141 -
7.1.	Conclusions 141 -
7.2.	Suggestions for Future Work 143 -
Appen	ndices 145 -
Refere	ences 161 -

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 2.1 Fundamental Electrical Elements Relationships 6 -
Figure 2.2 HP TiO2 Memristor 6 -
Figure 2.3 Current-voltage characteristics of the resistor, capacitor, inductor, and
memristor [9] 8 -
Figure 2.4 Current-voltage characteristics of memristor at different frequencies [10] 9 -
Figure 2.5 Resistive memristor based on MIM architecture [11] 11 -
Figure 2.6 Switching of resistive materials (a) Unipolar mode (b) Bipolar
mode [11]
Figure 2.7 Formation of conductive filament (CF) (a) initial state (b) growth start
from anode to cathode (c) CF completed (d) Reverse voltage causes CF
rupture [12] 13 -
Figure 2.8 (a) A spintronic memristor with IPA structure. (b) spintronic memristor
with PPA structure 15 -
Figure 2.9 A spintronic memristor based on magnetic-domain-wall motion. (a)
Structure. (b) Equivalent circuit [7] 16 -
Figure 2.10 The cell structure of the polymeric memristor [11] 18 -
Figure 2.11 The polymeric memristor switching mechanism [22] 19 -
Figure 2.12 A cross-section of the FTJ used in ferroelectric memristors [24] 20 -
Figure 2.13 The coupled variable-resistor model for a memristor (a) Memristor
Device (b) Equivalent resistor model. [2] 22 -
Figure 2.14 Joglekar window function [28] 24 -
Figure 2.15 Biolek window function [29] 25 -
Figure 2.16 Prodromakis window function [30] described by (2.11) 26 -
Figure 2.17 Device schematic and characterization protocol. (a) Schematic of the device
cross-section (b) Example switching i-v curve for the device [31] 28 -
Figure 2.18 GMR-based spintronic memristor (a) Structure (b) Equivalent
Circuit 33 -
Figure 2.19 TMR-based spintronic memristor (a) Structure (b) Equivalent Circuit 35 -

Figure 3.1 Schematic of a conventional <i>k x m</i> memristive memory crossbar [42] 40 -
Figure 3.2 Memristor-NMOS (1T1M) storage cell [43] 41 -
Figure 3.3 Accessing memory element M11 in a 1T-1M memristive memory
crossbar [44] 41 -
Figure 3.4 1D1M RRAM cross-bar structure[45] 42 -
Figure 3.5 Memristor-Diode (1D1M) memory array [46] 42 -
Figure 3.6 Yenpo Read/Write Circuit proposed in [15] 43 -
Figure 3.7 Write operation (a) Logic 1 full switch (b) O_H level ($O_H=0.6$) [15]
Figure 3.8 Read pulse when reading (a) logic '0'(w=D) (b) logic '1'(w=0) [15] 44 -
Figure 3.9 Read operation (logic 1) (a) Read pulse waveform (b) Memristor state
(c) Output voltage (d) Logic value at data-out buffer [15] 44 -
Figure 3.10 (a) Impact of $\pm 10\%$ pulse mismatch for (b) '0' state (c) '1' state [15]45 -
Figure 3.11 El-Shamy Read/Write Circuit proposed in [47] 46 -
Figure 3.12 El-Shamy Read/Write Circuit during the reading operation [47] 46 -
Figure 3.13 Fifty successive reading cycles when reading (a) logic 0 (b)
logic 1 [47] 47 -
logic 1 [47] 47 - Figure 3.14 Effect of the sneak-path during the reading process (a) ideal case (b)
logic 1 [47] 47 - Figure 3.14 Effect of the sneak-path during the reading process (a) ideal case (b) real case [46] 48 -
logic 1 [47] 47 - Figure 3.14 Effect of the sneak-path during the reading process (a) ideal case (b) real case [46] 48 - Figure 3.15 Modeling the biological neural network using memristor crossbars [54] 52 -
 logic 1 [47]47 - Figure 3.14 Effect of the sneak-path during the reading process (a) ideal case (b) real case [46]48 - Figure 3.15 Modeling the biological neural network using memristor crossbars [54]52 - Figure 3.16 Schematic of MRL gates (a) OR gate (b) AND gate . The behavior of (c)
 logic 1 [47] 47 - Figure 3.14 Effect of the sneak-path during the reading process (a) ideal case (b) real case [46] 48 - Figure 3.15 Modeling the biological neural network using memristor crossbars [54] 52 - Figure 3.16 Schematic of MRL gates (a) OR gate (b) AND gate . The behavior of (c) an OR gate and (d) AND gate when V_{IN1}='1' and V_{IN2}='0'. The change of the
 logic 1 [47]47 - Figure 3.14 Effect of the sneak-path during the reading process (a) ideal case (b) real case [46]48 - Figure 3.15 Modeling the biological neural network using memristor crossbars [54]52 - Figure 3.16 Schematic of MRL gates (a) OR gate (b) AND gate . The behavior of (c) an OR gate and (d) AND gate when V_{IN1}='1' and V_{IN2}='0'. The change of the resistance of memristive devices for the (e) OR, and (f) AND gates [65]54 -
 logic 1 [47]47 - Figure 3.14 Effect of the sneak-path during the reading process (a) ideal case (b) real case [46]48 - Figure 3.15 Modeling the biological neural network using memristor crossbars [54]52 - Figure 3.16 Schematic of MRL gates (a) OR gate (b) AND gate . The behavior of (c) an OR gate and (d) AND gate when V_{IN1}='1' and V_{IN2}='0'. The change of the resistance of memristive devices for the (e) OR, and (f) AND gates [65]54 - Figure 3.17 mrFPGA (a) architecture (b) Design of connections and switching
 logic 1 [47]47 - Figure 3.14 Effect of the sneak-path during the reading process (a) ideal case (b) real case [46]48 - Figure 3.15 Modeling the biological neural network using memristor crossbars [54]52 - Figure 3.16 Schematic of MRL gates (a) OR gate (b) AND gate . The behavior of (c) an OR gate and (d) AND gate when V_{IN1}='1' and V_{IN2}='0'. The change of the resistance of memristive devices for the (e) OR, and (f) AND gates [65]54 - Figure 3.17 mrFPGA (a) architecture (b) Design of connections and switching blocks [66]55 -
 logic 1 [47] 47 - Figure 3.14 Effect of the sneak-path during the reading process (a) ideal case (b) real case [46] 48 - Figure 3.15 Modeling the biological neural network using memristor crossbars [54] 52 - Figure 3.16 Schematic of MRL gates (a) OR gate (b) AND gate . The behavior of (c) an OR gate and (d) AND gate when V_{IN1}='1' and V_{IN2}='0'. The change of the resistance of memristive devices for the (e) OR, and (f) AND gates [65] 54 - Figure 3.17 mrFPGA (a) architecture (b) Design of connections and switching blocks [66] 55 - Figure 3.18 Pulse-coded programmable resistor using a memristor [68] 56 -
 logic 1 [47]47 - Figure 3.14 Effect of the sneak-path during the reading process (a) ideal case (b) real case [46]48 - Figure 3.15 Modeling the biological neural network using memristor crossbars [54]52 - Figure 3.16 Schematic of MRL gates (a) OR gate (b) AND gate . The behavior of (c) an OR gate and (d) AND gate when V_{IN1}='1' and V_{IN2}='0'. The change of the resistance of memristive devices for the (e) OR, and (f) AND gates [65]54 - Figure 3.17 mrFPGA (a) architecture (b) Design of connections and switching blocks [66]55 - Figure 3.18 Pulse-coded programmable resistor using a memristor [68]56 - Figure 3.19 Memristor based reactance-less oscillator [71]56 -
 logic 1 [47]
 logic 1 [47]
 logic 1 [47]

Figure 4.3 Calculated number of reading cycles before failure versus the read
current ratio (Iread/Icr) for different temperature values 66 -
Figure 4.4 MTJ device's resistance vs applied voltage [76] 69 -
Figure 4.5 Domain-wall motion (a) Begin of rotation (b) DW fully switched (c)
DW moved to the new position72 -
Figure 4.6 CIP Spintronic Memristor (a) Basic cell (b) free layer division (b)
equivalent circuit 74 -
Figure 4.7 CPP Spintronic Memristor (a) Basic cell (b) free layer division (c) the
equivalent circuit 76 -
Figure 4.8 Spintronic Memristor (a) IPA structure (b) PPA structure 78 -
Figure 4.9 Verilog-A Flow Chart of the proposed model 81 -
Figure 4.10 Proposed model driven by a sinusoidal input of 1 V (a) for different
frequencies (b) for different temperatures 84 -
Figure 4.11 State Variable of a spintronic memristor driven by a biased sinusoidal
voltage 85 -
Figure 4.12 (a) Magnetization vector z-component (mz) (b) State Variable 86 -
Figure 4.13 Antiparallel resistance for sin wave input (TMR0=2) 87 -
Figure 4.14 Switching delay (a) AP to P switching (b) P to AP switching 88 -
Figure 4.15 Resistance as a function of current for the experimental data, Miao
Hu model, and the proposed model 89 -
Figure 4.16 Yenpo R/W circuit [15]
Figure 4.17 Write operation (a) Logic '0'((b) Logic '1'90 -
Figure 4.18 Read operation one cycle (a) Logic '0' (b) Logic '1'91 -
Figure 4.19 Read operation successive cycles (a) Logic '0' (b) Logic '1'
Figure 5.1 Normalized Neel-Brown relaxation time vs current density of reading
pulses normalized to Jcr 97 -
Figure 5.2 Effective current density (Jeff) versus normalized read current density
to Jcr for different temperature values 99 -
Figure 5.3 Effective current density (Jeff) versus normalized read current density
to Jcr for different Pfailure values 99 -

Figure 5.4 Two possible Read/Write circuits realizations (a) Yenpo R/W
circuit[15] (b) El-Shamy R/W circuit [47] 100 -
Figure 5.5 Read pulse when reading (a) logic '0' (w=D) (b) logic '1' (w=0) [15] 101 -
Figure 5.6 Proposed Read/Write Circuit 102 -
Figure 5.7 Equivalent R/W Circuit during the write operation 103 -
Figure 5.8 Write operation (a) Logic '0' (w/D=1) (b) Logic '1' (w/D=0) 103 -
Figure 5.9 Equivalent R/W circuit during Reading operation 104 -
Figure 5.10 Read operation one cycle (a) Logic '0' (w/D=1) (b) Logic '1'
(w/D=0) 104 -
Figure 5.11 Read operation successive cycles (a) Logic '0' (b) Logic '1' 105 -
Figure 5.12 Read disturbance in El-Shamy R/W Circuit 106 -
Figure 5.13 Read disturbance in the proposed R/W circuit for a 10% pulse
mismatch 107 -
Figure 6.1 Memristor-based reactance-less oscillator (a) Circuit (b) transition
between different operating points [99] 113 -
Figure 6.2 The simulation results of the memristor-based reactance-less oscillator
(R _{ON} =100 Ω , and R _{OFF} =38 K Ω , μ_V =1x10-10 cm2s-1V-1) 114 -
Figure 6.3 Memristor-based reactance-less oscillator using the resistive
memristor 115 -
Figure 6.4 Memristor-based improved reactance-less oscillator (a) Circuit. (b)
tracing of the circuit [73] 116 -
Figure 6.5 Memristor-based reactance-less oscillator 117 -
Figure 6.6 Simulation results (a) Vi (b) Memristor state variable (c) Vout 117 -
Figure 6.7 Schematic of MRL gates (a) OR gate (b) AND gate [65] 119 -
Figure 6.8 Simulation results of inputs, output, and state variables for a 2-input
NAND gate using ferroelectric memristor 120 -
Figure 6.9 Simulation results of inputs, and output, for a 5-input OR gate using
the manganite memristor 120 -
Figure 6.10 Simulation results of inputs, and outputs, for a full adder using the

Figure 6.11 Simulation results of inputs, and outputs, for a full adder using the
resistive memristor 122 -
Figure 6.12 Simulation results of inputs, and outputs, for a full adder using the
polymeric memristor 123 -
Figure 6.13 The reading current path through 0T1M memristor crossbar (a) Ideal
case without sneak paths (b) Real case example with the dashed lines are
undesired current paths (sneak paths) [46] 128 -
Figure 6.14 Reading Logic 0 of polymeric memristor without the sneak path
effect 130 -
Figure 6.15 Reading Logic 0 of polymeric memristor with the sneak path effect 130 -
Figure 6.16 Reading Logic 1 of ferroelectric memristor without the sneak path
effect 131 -
Figure 6.17 Reading Logic 1 of ferroelectric memristor with the sneak path effect 132 -
Figure 6.18 Reading Logic 0 of resistive memristor without the sneak path effect 134 -
Figure 6.19 Reading Logic 0 of resistive memristor with the sneak path effect 134 -
Figure 6.20 Circuit used to program a single memristor to a target
resistance [101] 135 -
Figure 6.21 Training ferroelectric memristor with initial memristance smaller than
the target memristance 137 -
Figure 6.22 Training Manganite memristor with initial memristance smaller than
the target memristance 137 -
Figure 6.23 Training polymeric memristor with initial memristance higher than
the target memristance 139 -

LIST OF TABLES

Table 2.1 Comparison between different memristor types [11] 21 -
Table 2.2 Comparison between different resistive memristor models 30 -
Table 2.3 Comparison of Different Window Functions 31 -
Table 3.1 Comparison between different memory technologies [46, 50] 50 -
Table 4.1 Constant and Parameters in The Proposed Model 83 -
Table 4.2 Comparison Between Previous Models and The Proposed
Models 94 -
Table 5.1 Read/Write circuits comparison 108 -
Table 6.1 Comparison of main parameters for different memristor types
using Biolek Model 112 -
Table 6.2 Comparison between different memristor types for the
parameters of Affan reactance-less oscillator 115 -
Table 6.3 Comparison between different memristor types for Affan
Improved Oscillator Circuit 118 -
Table 6.4 Comparison between different memristor types for MRL Logic
(Speed) 124 -
Table 6.5 Comparison between different memristor types for MRL Logic
(Power Consumption) 125 -
Table 6.6 Comparison between different memristor types for MRL Logic
worst case (V_{LOW} , V_{HIGH}) where V_{DD} = 1.2 V 126 -
Table 6.7Comparison between different memristor types for 0T1M
Crossbar 133 -
Table 6.8 Comparison between different memristor types for training time
$(x_{init}=0.875, x_{final}=0.75)$ 138 -

LIST OF SYMBOLS AND ABBREVIATIONS

List of Abbreviations

1D1M	One D iode one M emristor
1T1M	One Transistor one Memristor
AGC	Automatic Gain Control
CAD	Computer Aided Design
CAM	Content Addressable Memory
CF	Conductive Filament
CMOS	Complementary Metal-Oxide-Semiconductor
DRAM	Dynamic Random Access Memory
EIRP	Electric Pulse Induced Resistance switching
FeRAM	Ferroelectric Random Access Memory
FL	Free Layer
FPGA	Field Programmable Gate Array
FTJ	Ferroelectric Tunneling Junction
HRS	High Resistive State
IPA	In Plane Anisotropy
LRS	Low Resistive State
LLG	Landau Lifshitz Gilbert
LLGS	Landau Lifshitz Gilbert Slonczewski
MCAM	Memristor-based Content Addressable Memories
MIM	Metal Insulator Metal
MRAM	Magnetoresistive Random Access Memory
MTJ	Magnetic Tunneling Junction
PANI	P oly ani line
PCRAM	Phase Change Random Access Memory
PEO	Polyethylene Oxide
PPA	Perpendicular Plane Anisotropy
PL	Pinned Layer

List of Symbols and Abbreviations

redox	reduction-oxidation reaction
RFID	Radio-Frequency Identification
RRAM	Resistive Random Access Memory
RTD	Resonant Tunneling Diode
SPICE	Simulation Program with Integrated Circuit Emphasis
SRAM	Static Random Access Memory
STT	Spin Transfer Torque
TEAM	ThrEshold Adaptive Memristor Model
TMR	Tunneling Magneto Resistance
TFA	Thermal-Fluctuation Aware model

List of Symbols and Abbreviations

List of Symbols

Q	Electric Charge
Φ	Magnetic Flux
R	Resistance
L	Inductance
С	Capacitance
М	Memristance
W	Memductance
Ι	Current
V	Voltage
W	State Variable position
X	Normalized State Variable position
R _H	Memristor OFF state resistance
R _L	Memristor ON state resistance
J _{cr}	Critical Current Density
J _{eff}	Effective Current Density
R _{DW}	Domain Wall Resistance
Ps	Polarization efficiency
μ_V	Mobility of Oxygen Vacancies
A _{ex}	Exchange parameter
α_g	Gilbert damping parameter
R _P	Parallel resistance of spintronic memristor
R _{AP}	Antiparallel resistance of spintronic memristor
rL	Resistance per unit length at the low-resistance state
r _H	Resistance per unit length at the high-resistance state
Ms	Saturation Magnetization
Δ	Thermal Stability Factor

M	Magnetization Vector
sv	State Variable Position in LLGS-based Memristor model
Нк	Anisotropy field
Γ_{v}	Domain wall velocity coefficient
η	spin torque efficiency
τ_0	The nominal switching time of spintronic memristor when a current I_{cr} is applied to it.
τ _{P-AP}	The Neel-Brown relaxation time

Chapter 1: Introduction

The CMOS technology has been the dominant semiconductor integrated circuit technology over the past three decades. However, the continuous CMOS scaling down suffers increasing technological difficulties. Moreover, getting closer to the atomic dimension led to increasing the quantum effect and other second-order effects on the device performance. For example, in the deep submicron, the power consumption due to the subthreshold and gate leakages became a real bottleneck. Thus, many alternative technologies are being investigated in order to replace CMOS technology or to be integrated with it. Among the emerging technologies, memristor-based technologies are very promising ones.

The memristor is a fundamental two terminal device relates the magnetic flux φ with the electric charge q. With its inherent nonvolatile property and its dependence on the historic profile of current/voltage, the memristor offered a strong candidate for many applications. The memristor-based memory and neuromorphic circuits are considered the most important applications that greatly benefit from memristive properties. This thesis proposes two different models of a memristor type called "spintronic memristors", and investigates memristor-based memory design.

1.1. Problem Statement

The memristor devices with their different types are still immature technologies that need more investigation in device characterization and modeling. Accurate modeling is a crucial part of the memristor-based circuits design. Providing accurate modeling helps in gaining a better understanding of the circuit design and the design trade-offs. Besides, linking the model of the memristor to its physical parameters helps to estimate the impact of changes in these parameters on the memristor-based circuits. In addition, accurate modeling provides results closer to the real device behavior and shows the limitations of the technology that must be considered during the circuit design.

Memristor-based memories also require investigating the basic-cell design and read/write circuits in order to find the best tradeoffs between higher storage densities, larger noise margins, and higher performance. Proposing different cell designs and read/write circuits help the designer to compare between these designs and choose the best design that suits the design constraints.

1.2. Thesis Objectives

The main objectives of this thesis are to:

- Review the types and the models of memristors and compare existing memristor models to investigate their advantages and disadvantages.
- Survey the applications of the memristor with a special focus on memristor-based memory design.
- Proposing two different spintronic memristor models that overcome some limitations and disadvantages of existing memristor models.
- Provide a mathematical analysis of the dynamical behavior of memristors and the memory design using the proposed thermal fluctuation aware memristor model. This analysis can be effectively used to compromise between different memory design tradeoffs and understanding the design limitations.

- Proposes a read/write circuit that achieves a significant reduction in the circuit area. Compares different read/write circuits and provides design insights that may effectively help in the design of memristive-based memories.
- Compares memristor types for some well-known memristor applications. This comparison can be used in deciding which memristor type is more suitable for each application.

1.3. Thesis Outline

The organization of this thesis is outlined as follows:

Chapter One presents the introduction and the scope of the thesis.

Chapter Two gives an overview of the types and the models of the memristors. The models are reviewed and compared to define points on strengths and weaknesses.

Chapter Three introduces different applications of memristors with a special focus on memristor-based memory design.

Chapter Four introduces two alternative spintronic memristor models. The first model is a thermal fluctuation aware model. The second model is a more accurate more complicated model that links the spintronic memristor model to its physical parameters. The model represents the dynamical behavior of the spintronic memristor using the LLGS equation.

Chapter Five introduces an analysis of the dynamical behavior of memristors and memristor-based memory design. The thermal fluctuation aware model that is provided in chapter 4 is used in this analysis. A read/write circuit with a significant area reduction is proposed. The circuit theory of operation is investigated. The circuit is also compared with two existing well-known read/write circuits of memristive-based memories.

Chapter Six provides a comparison between the performance of different memristor types for some memristor-based applications.

Chapter Seven provides the conclusions of the thesis and gives the suggestions for future work.

Finally, the appendices and the list of references are provided.
Chapter 2: Literature Review of Memristor Types and Modeling

2.1. Introduction

Memristive devices were defined by Professor Leon Chua as devices that have hysteresis zero-crossing current-voltage characteristics [1]. The hysteretic effect decreases when the frequency increases, until reaching a purely resistive system. From this definition, we can conclude that any possible fabrication of a two terminal device that achieves zero-crossing hysteresis current-voltage characteristics represents a memristor. Through this chapter, memristor types from the point of view of the material used in fabrication are discussed. Then, well-known models -up to the author's knowledge- are discussed and compared. Separate sections for the resistive and the spintronic memristors modeling are provided. It should be noted that resistive memristor types, but with empirical values that are not linked to physical parameters of these devices.

As shown in Figure 2.1, the memristor is a two-terminal device element that directly relates electric charge (q) with magnetic flux (Φ) [1]. The memristor's parameter is the *memristance* (M) and it is measured in ohms. As the current is the time integration of the electric charge and the voltage is the time integration of the magnetic flux, the memristance value changes depending on the historic profile of the applied voltage on the memristor terminal and the historic profile of the current passed through it. That is why the element is denoted as a memristor, which is a short of "*memoryresistor*".



Figure 2.1 Fundamental Electrical Elements Relationships

In 2008, the members of an HP Labs announced a successful realization of a two terminal element that achieves the characterization of the memristor [2]. The HP memristor is a solid-state two terminal device formed of a nanometer scale titanium dioxide (TiO₂) thin film sandwiched between two metal electrodes as shown in Figure 2.2. The device achieved the main memristor properties according to Prof. Chua definition.



Figure 2.2 HP TiO2 Memristor

After the HP announcement, memristors gained a wide research interest for both modeling and applications. In the field of modeling, many models such as linear and nonlinear ion drift models were proposed. Some models were implemented using SPICE such as Biolek model [3], and others were implemented using Verilog-A such as TEAM model [4].

Besides the HP memristor, many devices have been submitted as physical realizations of the memristor such as ZnO [5], and TaO_x [6, 7]. Another promising memristor type is the spintronic memristor [8]. The spintronic memristor is the main focus of this thesis.

2.2. Device Properties

As referred in Figure 2.1, the memristor relates the electric charge (q) and the magnetic flux (φ) . The q- φ relation is a nonlinear relationship, and the memristor parameter is called memristance (M).

The memristor is said to be a charge-controlled memristor when its memristance is a q dependent. Where M(q) equals:

$$M(q) = \frac{d\varphi}{dq} \tag{2.1}$$

On the other hand, the memristor is said to be a flux-controlled memristor when its memductance (W) is a φ dependent. Where $W(\varphi)$ is the inverse of the memristance and it equals:

$$W(\varphi) = \frac{dq}{d\varphi}$$
(2.2)

For the charge-controlled memristor, the current-voltage relationship is:

$$v = M(q) . i \tag{2.3}$$

For the flux-controlled memristor, the current-voltage relationship is:

$$i = W(\varphi) \cdot v \tag{2.4}$$

2.2.1. Current-Voltage (I-V) Characteristic

In order to say that the memristor is a *fundamental* element, it must have a *unique* current-voltage characteristic that cannot be formed by any combination of the other three fundamental elements R, L, C. Figure 2.3 shows the difference between the current-voltage characteristic of the four fundamental elements. As shown in the figure, the memristor has a hysteresis current-voltage characteristic.



Figure 2.3 Current-voltage characteristics of the resistor, capacitor, inductor, and memristor [9].

Figure 2.4 represents the current-voltage characteristics of the memristor under a sinusoidal voltage signal at different frequencies. As shown in this figure, increasing the frequency of the applied signal reduces the hysteresis of the memristor's current-voltage characteristic. Under very high frequencies, the hysteresis completely vanishes and the memristor gives a resistor-like characteristic. The charge-controlled memristor is taken as an example to explain the reason of hysteresis reduction in higher

frequencies. Being a charge-controlled means that the memristance changes with the amount of the electric charge passed through the memristor in a specific direction. The higher the frequency for the same current amplitude, the less the amount of the charge ' $\Delta Q = I \Delta t$ '. Thus, at higher frequencies, the change in the memristance become smaller and the memristance hysteresis vanishes leading to a resistor-like current-voltage characteristic as shown in Figure 2.4.



Figure 2.4 Current-voltage characteristics of memristor at different frequencies [10].

2.3. Types of Memristors

This section introduces a quick review of different implementations of memristor according to the type of the material used. The resistive and the spintronic memristors might be the most interesting types of memristor implementations. Thus, a special focus on them is provided here. The modeling of these two memristor types is discussed in details in later sections.

2.3.1. Resistive Memristors

This type of memristors mainly depends on thin resistive film sandwiched between two metal electrodes in a similar manner to Figure 2.2. In order to consider this device as a memristor, its resistivity must change under the motion of electric current showing the hysteresis currentvoltage relationship. Resistive memristors are used in building Resistive Random Access Memory (RRAM) cells. The theory of operation for any RRAM cell is that its resistivity can be switched between two or more resistive states based on inherent physical behavior affected by an external stimulation.

In case of absence of any external stimulation, the memristor device should keep its resistive state, which results in a non-volatile cell. In case of switching between two distinctive resistive states, these two states can represent Logic '1' and Logic '0' for the data storage. Resistive memristors have an additional advantage that they are usually able to take any resistive value between two resistive states, High Resistive States (HRS) and Low Resistive State (LRS), which means that it can be used in multi-bit data storage.

The physical mechanism of the resistive memristor is similar to most devices used as RRAM cells. In case of the device is in the HRS state, the current moves uniformly through the entire device, and the whole device has a high resistivity. On the other hand, the case of LRS is different. In the LRS state, a low resistivity path between the device's two electrodes is established. The current passes only through this limited regime of the - 10 -

device, which acts as a low resistivity path surrounded by the rest of the device that still has high resistivity.



Figure 2.5 Resistive memristor based on MIM architecture [11].

Resistive switching devices can be divided into two groups, unipolar and bipolar devices. The differentiating between the two types depends on the polarity of the voltages needed for the SET and RESET. The SET usually refers to the switching from the HRS state to the LRS state, and the RESET refers to the switching from the LRS state to the HRS state. In the unipolar devices, the voltage needed for the SET ' V_{SET} ' and the voltage needed for the RESET ' V_{RESET} ' have the same polarity. In the bipolar devices, the V_{SET} and V_{RESET} have opposite polarities. The unipolar and bipolar switching mechanisms are shown in Figure 2.6. The memristive devices are bipolar devices, which means that voltages of both positive and negative polarities are needed for the switching operation.

Resistive memristors can be build using different materials such as TiO_2 , ZnO, and TaO_x [5-7]. Despite that these types were built years ago, the physical interpretation of the switching mechanism is still not confirmed. The two most common proposed switching mechanisms are discussed here.



Figure 2.6 Switching of resistive materials (a) Unipolar mode (b) Bipolar mode [11].

The first and the most common interpretation of the switching mechanism is the electric pulse induced resistance switching (EIRP). This mechanism explained the resistance switching as a result of applying a strong directional electric field. That electric field establishes a *conductive filament (CF)* that have less resistivity than the rest of the device material. The CF establishes a low resistivity path between the top and the bottom electrodes of the resistive memristor. Thus, the current flow is concentrated in the CF which causes more heating around the CF. The heating helps in the process of construction of the CF, and the device becomes in an LRS state. That process is considered as a thermochemical process. In the RESET case, a reverse current passes in the memristor. This current induces a large heating at the bottom electrode, as the CF is thin near the bottom electrode, which leads to a thermal rupture of the CF restoring the previous HRS state. Figure 2.7 shows the steps of this mechanism.



Figure 2.7 Formation of conductive filament (CF) (a) initial state (b) growth start from anode to cathode (c) CF completed (d) Reverse voltage causes CF rupture [12].

The second proposed switching mechanism is that oxygen ions that occur due to crystal defects and oxygen vacancies are the main reason for CF establishment. The applied positive voltage on the top electrode attracts the oxygen ions towards the top electrode. The oxygen ions are accumulated on the top electrode and repel each other toward the bottom electrode forming the CF. The RESET mechanism is similar to the first switching mechanism.

In both switching mechanisms, the CF always begins at the top electrode and then moves toward the bottom electrode. That is why the CF is narrower at the cathode. Thus, the joule heating at the cathode is high which plays the main role in destroying the CF when a voltage of opposite polarity is applied leading to the RESET operation and the HRS state.

The resistive memories gain a wide research interest due to the invention of the titanium-dioxide HP memristor and benefiting from the RRAM research that already existed years before the resistive memristor. In the following subsection, the titanium-dioxide HP memristor is discussed.

2.3.1.1. Titanium Dioxide Memristor

In 2008, HP labs announced a physical realization of a solid-state memristor using TiO₂ [2]. The HP memristor's basic structure is shown in Figure 2.2. It consists of a layer of TiO₂ sandwiched between two Platinum electrodes. The TiO₂ layer is divided into two parts -doped and undoped. The boundary between the doped and undoped TiO₂ is called "domain-wall". Domain-wall position (state) is changed under the effect of the applied voltage or current.

As mentioned, the titanium dioxide memristor was proposed by members of an HP Lab. The device is composed of a thin (50 nm) titanium dioxide film between two 5nm thick electrodes, one is titanium, and the other is platinum. The titanium dioxide film consists of two layers, one of which has a slight depletion of oxygen atoms (undoped). The other is the doped layer with oxygen vacancies, which act as charge carriers. The doped layer has a much lower resistance than the undoped layer.

2.3.2. Spintronic Memristors

Chen et al. [13] described three different possible designs of spintransfer torque based magnetic memristors. A promising structure is the domain-wall spintronic memristor, in which the device resistance occurs when the spin of electrons in one section of the device points in a different direction from those in another section, creating a boundary between the two sections called a "domain wall". Electrons flowing into the device have a certain spin, which alters the device's magnetization state. Changing the magnetization of the device moves the domain wall and changes its resistance. Beside the solid-state device, magnetic technology provides an alternative method to implement memristive systems [8, 13]. Figure 2.8 shows two possible realizations of the spintronic memristor. The first device, shown in Figure 2.8.a, is the domain-wall spintronic memristor proposed by Wang and Chen [13].

The device geometry is In-Plane-Anisotropy (IPA), in which the current flow is parallel to the spintronic memristor junction. Another possible realization of the spintronic memristor is shown in Figure 2.8.b. This device has been proposed by Miao Hu in [8], and its geometry is Perpendicularto-Plane Anisotropy (PPA), in which the current flow is perpendicular to the spintronic memristor junction.



Figure 2.8 (a) A spintronic memristor with IPA structure. (b) spintronic memristor with PPA structure.

In both structures, the device is divided into two layers: a reference or a pinned layer (PL), and a free layer (FL). The magnetization direction in the reference layer is fixed. The domain-wall position in the free layer changes according to the magnitude and direction of the current passes through the device and on the duration of the applied current pulse. By changing the domain-wall position, the memristance of the device is varied.

Spintronic memristors are promising candidates for many applications Such as memory chips [14, 15], and neuromorphic circuits [16-18]. In the field of memory circuits, spintronic memristors offer excellent scalability, and non-volatility properties, leading them to become one of the main promising candidates for a high-performance and high-density storage technologies. In the field of logic circuits, a new type of implied logic using memristors is presented in [19]. The memristor-based logic has the unique ability to be fabricated with memory cells on the same chip. The memristor is used also in crossbar arrays in switching blocks of Field Programmable Gate Arrays (FPGAs) [20, 21].

The device is divided into two layers as shown in Figure 2.9. A reference or a pinned layer (PL), and a free layer (FL). The magnetization direction in the reference layer is fixed. The position of the domain wall in the free layer can be changed by passing a driving current, and hence the total memristance of the device changes.



Figure 2.9 A spintronic memristor based on magnetic-domain-wall motion. (a) Structure. (b) Equivalent circuit [7]

The spintronic memristor has the potential to be a non-volatile memory element, since it holds its resistive value, even after it is unplugged from a power source. It also has the advantages of Magnetic random-access memories (MRAM) such as radiation hardness, and mature memory technology. Thus, the spintronic memristor-based memory devices could be the future of the non-volatile memories.

2.3.3. Other Types of Molecular Memristors:

Beside the resistive and the spintronic memristors, other possible realizations of memristors are provided in this section.

2.3.3.1. Polymeric Memristor

From its name, the polymer memristor is a memristor in which a thin polymeric strip and inorganic dielectric-type material are used to achieve a hysteresis current-voltage characteristic. The resistivity of the polymeric strip can be switched between an HRS state called 'reduced state', and an LRS state called 'oxidized state'. The mechanism of switching of the polymeric memristor depends on the well-known redox-reaction, which is a short for '**red**uction–**ox**idation reaction'. Oxidation is the loss of electrons or an increase in oxidation state by a molecule, atom, or ion. The *reduction*, or ion.

As shown in Figure 2.10, the polymeric memristor contains a micro-strip *polyaniline* called 'PANI' deposited on a solid insulating substrate layer and sandwiched between two metal electrodes. Another layer of Lithium perchlorate (LiClO₄). Doped polyethylene-oxide (PEO) is

deposited over the PANI strip. The PANI-PEO interface is the place in which the redox-reaction takes place.



Figure 2.10 The cell structure of the polymeric memristor [11].

The theory of operation of this device is as follows:

- When applying a positive voltage to the top electrode, an active region with a voltage higher than the oxidation potential is established. Thus, the PANI layer switches from the insulating state to an oxidized conducting state only in the limited active region. This is called 'oxidized state' and it is corresponding to the LRS state. The oxidized region is 'gradually formed' and thus this operation is usually relatively slow and offers the gradual change in resistivity of memristors, which is modeled by a 'state-variable' representing the position of the device between the LRS and HRS states.
- When applying a negative voltage to the top electrode, the polymeric memristor faces a reduction potential as shown in

Figure 2.11. Thus, the PANI layer switched back from the oxidized state to the insulating 'reduction' state.

The polymeric device memristive function is consequently achieved by changing the applied voltage measured to a reference voltage to add or remove Li⁺ ions to the PANI layer.



Figure 2.11 The polymeric memristor switching mechanism [22].

2.3.3.2. Ferroelectric Memristor

The ferroelectric memristor [23] uses a thin ferroelectric barrier sandwiched between two metallic electrodes. Switching the polarization of the ferroelectric material is achieved by applying a positive or a negative voltage across the junction, which leads to LRS and HRS resistances. The polarization does not switch abruptly. Those two states are used as Logic '0' and Logic '1' states in the ferroelectric memristor, which can be used in RAM circuits denoted by Ferroelectric RAM (FeRAM). The ferroelectric material has a non-volatile storage ability, which means that it can keep its state after removing the external field, which gives it the ability to achieve the memristive function. This feature is also used in many applications such as smart cards and radio frequency identification (RFID).

If the ferroelectric layer is at a nanoscale, it is denoted by a ferroelectric tunneling junction (FTJ). The ferroelectric memristor consists of an FTJ strip sandwiched between two metal electrodes. As stated, the switching mechanism is based on altering the polarization of the ferroelectric memristor by applying an external electric field. The change in the polarization causes the resistive switching of the device.

The realization of ferroelectric memristors can be done using a $BiTiO_3$ strip deposited onto a $La_xSr_yMnO_3$ layer and they are sandwiched by the two metal electrodes [24].



Figure 2.12 A cross-section of the FTJ used in ferroelectric memristors [24].

2.3.4. Comparison of Different Types of Memristor

The previous discussion aimed to give a thorough study of the most common memristor types from the fabrication point of view. It should be noted that the previous types are the most common memristor types up to the author's knowledge, but not *all* possible memristor implementations. There are other memristor types such as manganite memristors and resonant tunneling (RTD) memristors. However, RTD memristors characteristics are still not clear. ī

Memristor Type	Resistive	Spintronic	Polymeric	Ferroelectric	Manganite
ON/OFF Ratio	2000	5	100	300	100
Access Time (ns)	~10	~10	~25	~10	~100
Retention	Very Long	Very Long	Relatively Long	Relatively Long	Long
Endurance	10 ⁹	10 ¹⁶	10 ⁸	1014	10 ¹⁶
References	[5-7]	[13]	[11]	[23]	[25]

Table 2.1 Comparison between different memristor types [11].

Table 2.1 presents a comparison between different memristor types [11]. From the table, we can see that the resistive memristor has the highest ON/OFF ratio, which increases noise margin and helps in using the memristor cell for a multi-bit storage. On the other hand, the resistive memristor has a lower endurance, which is the main disadvantage and it needs a new technology to be integrated with CMOS. The spintronic memristor has a much better endurance and the technology of integrating magnetic devices with CMOS already exists. However, the spintronic memristor has a low ON/OFF ratio and the fabrication flexibility is difficult. Manganite memristor has a good endurance also and an intermediate ON/OFF ratio, but its access time is very high. From this discussion, we can conclude that the resistive and the spintronic memristor might be the most promising types of memristors which is the reason there modeling are discussed in the following two sections.

2.4. Resistive Memristors Modeling

As is the case with any new technology, it is important to learn how the memristor behaves to external stimulus in terms of voltage and current. There are many proposed models of memristors depending on the needed compromise between simplicity and accuracy and on the type of application. In this section, we try to cover the main models of memristors.

2.4.1. Linear Ion Drift Model

The model discussed here is based on the HP memristor shown in Figure 2.2. In Linear Ion Drift model, a uniform electric field across the device is assumed; thus, there is a linear relationship between driftdiffusion velocity and the net electric field.

$$\frac{dw(t)}{dt} = \mu_V \frac{R_L}{D} i(t)$$
(2.5)

where *D* is the total TiO₂ length, w(t) is a state variable defining the length of the doped TiO₂, R_L is the equivalent resistance of the memristor when the whole device is dropped, μ_V is the average ion mobility.



Figure 2.13 The coupled variable-resistor model for a memristor (a) Memristor Device (b) Equivalent resistor model. [2].

Chapter 2

According to the linear ion drift; the memristor can be modeled as a coupled variable-resistor model as shown in Figure 2.13, yielding the following I-V relationship[2]:

$$v(t) = \left(R_L \frac{w(t)}{D} + R_H \left(1 - \frac{w(t)}{D}\right)\right) i(t)$$
(2.6)

where R_H is the equivalent resistance of the memristor when the whole device is undoped.

Solving equations (5) and (6) the memristance of the device, for $R_H >> R_L$, simplifies to:

$$M(q) = R_H \left(1 - \frac{\mu_V R_L}{D^2} q(t) \right)$$
 (2.7)

The coupled equations of motion for the charged dopants and the electrons in this device take the normal form for a current-controlled (or charge-controlled) memristor as in (2.5) and (2.6).

2.4.2. Nonlinear-Ion Drift Model

The nanometer dimensions of memristor cause a high electric field with only applying a few volts. Thus, the electric field can easily exceed 10^6 V/cm, and it is reasonable to expect a high nonlinearity in the ionic drift-diffusion. The linear drift assumption also suffers from a problem in incorporating boundary effects.

A few attempts have been carried out so far to consider this nonlinearity in the state equation[2],[26], [27]. Each paper proposed using a different 'window function F(w/D)' multiplied by the right-hand side of (2.5). Thus, the state equation can be modified to be as follows:

$$\frac{dw(t)}{dt} = \mu_V \frac{R_L}{D} i(t) F\left(\frac{w}{D}\right)$$
(2.8)

Qualitatively, the boundary between the doped and undoped regions moves with speed v_d in the bulk of the memristor, but that speed is strongly Chapter 2

suppressed when it approached either edge, $w \sim 0$ or $w \sim D$. Thus, the window function should satisfy F(0)=F(1)=0 to ensure no drift at the boundaries.

2.4.2.1. Window Function

The choice of the suitable nonlinear drift model depends on the proper choice of the window function. Many papers proposed different window functions that attempt to achieve a good agreement with the nonlinear behavior and fewer simulation problems.

The first window function was proposed by Joglekar [28]. The window function equation is:

$$f(w) = 1 - (2(w/D) - 1)^{2p}$$
(2.9)

where *p* is a control parameter that defines the curvature of the window function. Figure 2.14 shows the Joglekar window function for different values of *p*. As shown in the figure, increasing the value of the parameter *p* makes the window function more flat with a value of unity, which reduces the effect of the window function in the middle around w/D = 0.5. The Joglekar window function is an empirical equation in which the value of *p* should be optimized to fit the real behavior of the memristor as possible.



Figure 2.14 Joglekar window function [28].

The advantage of Joglekar window function is that it offers a simple straightforward relationship that achieves the desired boundary condition. On the other hand, The drawback of this window function is that once the state variable w(t) reaches one of the boundaries extreme point w(t)=0 or D, the rate of change of the state variable "dw(t)/dt" equals zero, and thus the state variable w(t) is *trapped* at this boundary.

Another window function was proposed by Biolek [29] in order to overcome this problem. The Biolek window function is as follows:

$$f(w) = 1 - ((w/D) - u(i))^{2p}$$
(2.10)

where u(-i) is the unity function as a function of the current direction. The window function of Biolek is shown in Figure 2.15.



Figure 2.15 Biolek window function [29].

Both Joglekar and Biolek window functions do not have a scale factor and therefore the maximum value of the window function cannot be changed to a value lower or greater than one.

In 2015, a window function is proposed by Prodromakis [30]. This window function modified the Joglekar's window function in order to be able to control the maximum value of the window function to greater or less than unity. Equation (2.11) represents the Prodromakis window

- 25 -

function. Figure 2.16a shows this window function for different values of the parameter p, and Figure 2.16b shows the window function under different values of parameter j. The two parameters P and j offer a greater opportunity to fit the Prodromakis window function to the real memristor characteristics compared to Joglekar and Biolek window functions.



$$f(w) = j \left(1 - \left[\left(\frac{w}{D} - 0.5 \right) + 0.75 \right]^{tanh(P)} \right)$$
(2.11)

Figure 2.16 Prodromakis window function [30] described by (2.11)

2.4.3. Simmons Tunnel Barrier Model

Previous linear and nonlinear ion-drift models are empirical models that try to *fit* the real behavior of memristor. Both models do not represent physic-based models, and thus they do not give a real representation of a specific memristor device based on its physical parameters. The Simmons tunnel barrier model was proposed by Pickett et al. who are members of the HP lab team that presented the TiO_2 memristor.

The model represents a physic-based current-voltage relationship model for the TiO_2 memristor, but with an added empirical window function. The theory of this model and the window function are provided in [31]. This model assumes nonlinear and asymmetric switching behavior of the TiO_2 memristor. In this model, rather than two resistors in series as in the linear drift model, there is a resistor in series with a tunnel barrier.

Figure 2.17.a shows the schematic of the device cross-section, and Figure 2.17.b shows the switching I-V curve. The window function of this model is provided in (2.12) and (2.13) [31]. The two equations represent the same window function but using different fitting parameters in order to account for the asymmetry of the memristor's switching mechanism. During the off switching, the current is positive (i>0), and the window function of (2.12) is used. During the on switching, the current is negative (i<0), and the window function of (2.13) is used.

$$\dot{w} = f_{off} \sinh\left(\frac{i}{i_{off}}\right) \exp\left[-\exp\left(-\frac{w-a_{off}}{w_c} - \frac{|i|}{b}\right) - \frac{w}{w_c}\right]$$
(2.12)

where the values of the fitting parameters are: $f_{off} = 3.5 \pm 1 \ \mu m/s$, $i_{off} = 8.9 \pm 0.3 \ \mu A$, $a_{off} = 1.2 \pm 0.02 \ nm$, $b = 500 \pm 70 \ \mu A$, and $w_c = 107 \pm 4 \ pm$.

$$\dot{w} = f_{on} \sinh\left(\frac{i}{i_{on}}\right) \exp\left[-\exp\left(-\frac{w-a_{on}}{w_c} - \frac{|i|}{b}\right) - \frac{w}{w_c}\right]$$
(2.13)

where the values of the fitting parameters are: $f_{on} = 40\pm10 \ \mu\text{m/s}$, $i_{on}=115\pm4 \ \mu\text{A}$, $a_{on}=1.8\pm0.01 \ \text{nm}$, $b=500\pm90 \ \mu\text{A}$, and $w_c=107\pm3 \ \text{pm}$.

The current-voltage relationship and the SPICE model of the Simmons tunnel barrier are proposed by Hisham Abdalla et al. [32].

Simmons tunnel barrier's model offers high accuracy in modeling TiO_2 memristors and relates the device to its physical parameters. However, the current-voltage relationship of this model is complicated and the overall model is ambiguous. The model shows a very little flexibility during simulations and usually causes convergence issues.

However, this model is still used as the standard model for TiO_2 memristors and all other models accuracy and fitting are measured to this model.



Figure 2.17 Device schematic and characterization protocol. (a) Schematic of the device cross-section (b) Example switching i-v curve for the device [31].

2.4.4. TEAM Model

The TEAM model [4] tries to provide a flexible model that can achieve a compromise between the simplicity of the linear ion-drift model and accuracy of Simmons tunnel barrier model. The model provides two possible current-voltage relationships in linear and exponential forms. The window function of the model is as follows [4]:

$$\frac{dw(t)}{dt} = \begin{cases} k_{off} \left(\frac{i(t)}{i_{off}} - 1\right)^{a_{off}} . f_{off}(w) ; & 0 < i_{off} < i \\ 0 ; & i_{on} < i < i_{off} \\ k_{on} \left(\frac{i(t)}{i_{on}} - 1\right)^{a_{on}} . f_{on}(w) ; & 0 < i_{on} < i \end{cases}$$
(2.14)

The model has a large number of fitting parameters that enables the user to achieve better fitting to the desired memristor. The model also provides a current threshold as described in (2.14), as some memristor devices do not respond to external stimulations, which provides currents lower than a specific threshold value. The TEAM model is widely used as it gives a reasonable accuracy with a complexity degree between the linear ion-drift and the Simmons tunnel barrier. The availability of a Verilog-A code of the TEAM model also played an important role in its popularity [33].

2.4.5. Model Comparison

Table 2.2 provides a comparison between different resistive memristor models. It should be noted that the TEAM model is a general model, and it can be used for any memristor. However, this means that the TEAM model parameters do not give any direct relation with the physical parameters of any memristor type. The linear ion drift model is the simplest model and it has parameters that are physically connected to the resistive memristor. However, this model has many drawbacks as it has the lowest accuracy and it does not represent the nonlinearity behavior of the material ions. The nonlinear ion drift model provides a better representation of the resistive memristor. However, it requires fitting its window parameters to different memristors, as they are empirical parameters with no relation to the device material. In addition, the model still does not provide the best accuracy but it is better than the linear ion drift model accuracy. The Simmons tunneling barrier or the Pickett model provides the best accuracy and it is fitted to the

realized HP TiO₂ memristor. On the other hand, this model is highly complex and cannot be used in any mathematical analysis. The Simmons model also has a high probability of convergence issues during simulation and thus it is inefficient for SPICE simulators. The Simmons model is still used as a reference model for the HP memristor for model accuracy measurement.

Model	Linear Ion-Drift [2]	Non-Linear Ion-Drift [34]	TEAM [4]	Simmons Tunneling Barrier [31]
State Variable	$0 \le w \le D$	$0 \le w \le D$	$a_{off} \le x \le a_{on}$	$x_{on} \le x \le x_{off}$
Memristance Deduction	Explicit	Intermediate	Intermediate	Ambiguous
Accuracy	lowest	Low	Intermediate	Highest
Relation to	No	No	No	Partially
device physical parameters				
Threshold	No	No	Yes	Partially exist
Probability of	Lowest	Low	Moderate	High
	<u> </u>	X	T	
complexity	Simple	Intermediate	Intermediate	Complex

Table 2.2 Comparison between different resistive memristor models

* w:doped region physical width, x: undoped region width

Table 2.3 provides a comparison between different window functions used for nonlinear ion drift models. The Joglekar window function was the first proposed window function. This window function has a crucial drawback as its value equals zero at the state variable boundaries w=0, and w=D, which means that the state variable will be *trapped* at this boundary. The Biolek model solves this issue by using the current direction index step(-i). Prodromakis window function added the ability to scale the window function maximum value. The TEAM window function is dedicated only to the TEAM model in order to fit it to the Simmons tunneling barrier model. All window types except for the TEAM window are symmetrical, which is not always the real case of the resistive memristors.

Window type	Joglekar [28]	Biolek [35]	Prodromakis [27]	TEAM [4]
Function	$f(w) = 1 - \left(\frac{2w}{D} - 1\right)^{2P}$	$f(w) = 1 - \left(\frac{w}{D} - stp(-i)\right)^{2P}$	$f(w) = j(1) - ((w - 0.5)^{2}) + (0.75)^{p}$	$f_{on,off} = exp(-exp(x - x_{on/off} /w_c))$
Symmetric	Yes	Yes	Yes	Not necessarily
Resolve boundary condition	No	Yes	Partially	Partially
Scale factor	No	No	Yes	No
Fits memristive model	Linear/nonlinear ion drift / TEAM	Linear/nonlinear ion drift / TEAM	Linear/nonlinear ion drift / TEAM	TEAM for Simmons tunneling barrier fitting

Table 2.3 Comparison of Different Window Functions

2.5. Spintronic Memristors Modeling

In this section, two spintronic memristor models are discussed. The spintronic memristor can be modeled using any empirical memristor model. However, these models are the only available models that use the physical parameters to model the spintronic memristor devices up to author's knowledge. Other general memristor models are not related to the STT effect or the magnetic device material. The first model is proposed by Chen for a CIP GMR-based spintronic memristor [36]. The second model is a CPP TMR-based spintronic memristor model proposed by Miao Hu

Chapter 2

[8]. Both models are nearly the same, as the only difference in Wang model is using two series resistors instead of parallel ones

The model of the spintronic memristor that is modified in this work was proposed in [7]. It uses r_L and r_H to denote the values of the resistance per unit length of the spintronic memristor at the low-resistance and the high-resistance states, respectively. The memristance of a spintronic memristor can be calculated as [7]:

$$M(x) = r_{H} \cdot x + r_{L} \cdot (D - x)$$
(2.15)

where x is the position of the domain wall, and D is the length of the device. The domain-wall velocity (v) is proportional to the effective current density J_{eff} [7], i.e.

$$v = \frac{dx}{dt} = \Gamma_v J_{eff} \tag{2.16}$$

where the effective current density J_{eff} only affects the domain-wall position if it is greater than a specific critical value J_{cr} .

$$J_{eff} = \begin{cases} J & J \ge J_{cr} \\ 0 & J < J_{cr} \end{cases}$$
(2.17)

2.5.1. Helen & Chen Model

Figure 2.18 shows the structure of the CIP spintronic memristor and the equivalent circuit proposed by Chen [36]. Chen's model assumes that when the FL has a parallel magnetization vector to the PL, the resistance is the lowest and denoted by R_{P} . On the other hand, when the FL has an antiparallel magnetization vector to the PL, the resistance is the highest and denoted by R_{AP} .



Figure 2.18 GMR-based spintronic memristor (a) Structure (b) Equivalent Circuit.

Now let us assume that a part of the FL is parallel to the PL and the other part is antiparallel to the PL, and those two parts are separated by the domain wall. This can be represented by two series resistances as shown in Figure 2.18b. The total memristance of the device is given by:

$$M(\alpha) = R_P \cdot \alpha + R_{AP} \cdot (1 - \alpha) \tag{2.18}$$

where α is the relative domain-wall position. It represents the "state variable" of this memristor and is equals the ratio of the domain-wall position w over the total length of the free layer D ($\alpha = w/D$, $0 \le \alpha \le 1$).

The velocity of the domain-wall v is proportional to the current density J passing through the memristor. It can be calculated as follows:

$$v(t) = \frac{d\alpha(t)}{dt} = \Gamma_v J_{eff}$$
(2.19)

where Γ_v is the domain-wall velocity coefficient, and it is related to the device's structure and the material properties [36]. The value of Γ_v is estimated from a modified form of the LLG equation [37, 38], and it can be expressed as [36]:

$$\Gamma_{\nu} = \frac{P \,\mu_B}{e \,M_S} \tag{2.20}$$

- 33 -

where *P* is the polarization efficiency, μ_B is Bohr magneton.

The effective current density J_{eff} is equal to J only when $J>J_{cr}$ as the current density only affects the DW position if it is higher than a specific critical value J_{cr} .

$$J_{eff} = \begin{cases} J; & J \ge J_{cr} \\ 0; & J < J_{cr} \end{cases}$$
(2.21)

This model offers is similar to the linear ion-drift model of the solidstate memristors, but with a DW motion based on a simplification of a modified form of the LLG equation.

2.5.2. Miao & Chen Model

Figure 2.19a shows the structure of the CPP spintronic memristor proposed by Miao Hu [8]. The equivalent circuit of this spintronic memristor is shown in Figure 2.19b. This model is identical to the Chen model except for using parallel resistors instead of series resistors due to the CPP structure. The domain-wall separates the parallel and the antiparallel parts of the free layer, the model takes them as two parallel connected resistors R_{P}/α and $R_{AP}/(1-\alpha)$ respectively.

Thus, the overall memristance of the spintronic memristor can be calculated as follows [8]:

$$M(\alpha) = \frac{R_{AP}R_P}{R_{AP}\alpha + R_P(1-\alpha)}$$
(2.22)



Figure 2.19 TMR-based spintronic memristor (a) Structure (b) Equivalent Circuit.

The DW velocity is calculated from (4) similar to the Chen model. The magnetic-based memory devices strongly depend on the temperature [39, 40]. Both Chen and Miao Hu models do not include the thermal fluctuations effect on the device behavior.

Chapter 3: Overview of Memristor Applications

3.1. Introduction

Many memristor applications are proposed including memory chips, neuromorphic systems, logic circuits, and FPGA switching blocks. In the field of memory chips, memristors can be used in Resistive Random Access Memory (RRAM) cell structures, Magnetic Random Access Memory (MRAM) cell structures, and Memristor-based Content Addressable Memories (MCAMs).

Memristors have distinguished properties that permit great opportunities in memory design. The first property is the device's inherent non-volatility. This property greatly helps in the design of memory circuits. Memristors also offer excellent scalability. Thus, the memristor is one of the main promising candidates for a next-generation high-performance high-density universal memory technology that can be used as a replacement for all current memory types. In the field of neuromorphic systems, the inherent "*remembering*" property of the memristor can be used effectively to build circuits with lower area and complicity. The need for a "*learning/training*" property in neuromorphic circuits greatly benefit from the ability of memristor to "memorize" the current pass in it and its direction.

In the field of logic circuits, a new type of IMPLY logic circuits was implemented using memristors. The memristor-based implied logic has a distinguished feature that it can be fabricated with memory cells in the same place on the chip, providing opportunities for novel non-von Neumann computer architectures [41]. Memristors are also used in the design of crossbar-arrays, which are used in the switching blocks of the Field Programmable Gate Arrays (FPGAs). This chapter provides a brief review of memristors applications with a special focus on the memory design using memristors.

3.2. Memristor-based memory circuits

As mentioned, memristor's nonvolatile, high scalability, and fast switching properties may lead to a new generation of universal memory devices that replaces existing DRAMs, SRAMs, and Flash memories.

DRAM cell in the current technology occupies about $6F^2$, where F is the half-pitch. The one-transistor one capacitor (1T1C) topology is the most common topology used in building DRAM cells. The research field in DRAM includes using capacitors with higher dielectric constants, investigating the 3D-NAND DRAMs, and reducing the cell size to $4F^2$, which is still very challenging.

In the field of non-volatile memories, flash memories serve more than 99% of current nonvolatile memories. The flash memory cell uses one transistor (1T) to work as both an access element and a storage cell.

However, as current memory technology is reaching its scaling limit, other technologies are investigated like FeRAM, MRAM, PCRAM, and RRAM. Spintronic memristors can be used in MRAM, and resistive memristors can be used in RRAM. All these emerging technologies usually used an element that is equivalent to a resistor or a capacitor. The problem here is that both resistors and capacitors are two terminal elements, which means that these elements cannot provide the "gating" function in addition to their main role as a storage element. Thus, current memory cells usually combine 1T1C, 1T1R, or 1D1R, which reduces scalability. On the other hand, if no gating or access element is used, the memory array faces an

important issue known as the "sneak path". The sneak path issue will be discussed in some details in section 3.2.5.

A final note is that the memristor offers a very interesting feature, which is the ability to be used in multilevel cells (MLC) which allows the cell to store more than one bit and increase the storage capacity dramatically. This advantage may be the main point of strength of memristors against other emerging memory technologies.

3.2.1. Basic Cell

The basic memristor-based memory cell can be built in different topologies. The main three topologies are using memristor only cell (0T1M), one transistor one memristor (1T1M), or one diode-one memristor (1D1M). The three types are discussed briefly in this section.

3.2.1.1. OT1M Memory Cell

The simplest way of building a memristor-based memory is using only one memristor as a memory cell. Benefiting from its inherent nonvolatility, the stored data in the memristor is kept as long as no current passes through the memristor.

The memory array is built as shown in Figure 3.1, where a $k \ x \ m$ array of memory cells using one memristor for each cell is built. The row and column decoder are used to select the memory cell on which the read/write operation is done. The main drawback of this topology is that due to the non-gating of each cell, some undesired sneak paths occurs. However, this technique provides the highest possible density which is highly required in memory circuits.



Figure 3.1 Schematic of a conventional *k x m* memristive memory crossbar [42].

3.2.1.2. 1T1M Memory Cell

The 1T1M memory cell is another way to build memristor-based memory arrays. The memory cell is shown in Figure 3.2 in which the memristor memory element is accessed through the access transistor. Although this topology solves the sneak path problem, it will reduce the array density considerably. This topology is still required to guarantee reliability, and it can be beneficial in multi-level memory cells as one transistor only is used for a memory cell that can store two or more bits. The schematic of the 1T1M memristive-memory crossbar is shown in Figure 3.3. The pull-up voltages of the first column and the first row are activated to select the memory element M_{11} .


Figure 3.2 Memristor-NMOS (1T1M) storage cell [43]



Figure 3.3 Accessing memory element M11 in a 1T-1M memristive memory crossbar [44].

3.2.1.3. 1D1M Memory Cell

The third topology is the 1D1M memory cell. The 1D1M memristive memory crossbar is shown in Figure 3.5. However this memory element is non-gated, but the diode that needs about 0.5 volts to conduct current will reduce the sneak path problem considerably as the sneak path usually requires going through multiple memory cell elements and thus multiple diodes.



Figure 3.4 1D1M RRAM cross-bar structure[45]



Figure 3.5 Memristor-Diode (1D1M) memory array [46] .

3.2.2. Read/Write Circuits

The read/write circuit of spintronic memristor memories requires a careful design to avoid data disturbance during the read operation. The current that passes through the memristor memory element during the read operation changes the state variable position. After multiple reading operations, the accumulated effect on the state variable eventually leads to alter the stored data. Many read/write circuits were proposed for

memristive memory circuits. The two read/write circuits provided in this discussion covers two main *ideas* that are used in most read/write circuits.

Figure 3.6 shows a read/write circuit proposed by Yenpo et al. [15]. The write operation is achieved by applying a DC write voltage for enough time T_W to ensure full switching. As shown in Figure 3.7a, a write voltage of 1V is applied for 4ns to achieve full switching from Logic 0 to Logic 1. Figure 3.7b shows the calculation of the minimum time required for switching to the minimum level that is interpreted as Logic 1 (0.6 V).



Figure 3.6 Yenpo Read/Write Circuit proposed in [15].



Figure 3.7 Write operation (a) Logic 1 full switch (b) O_H level (O_H=0.6) [15].

The read operation is achieved by applying the read pulse shown in Figure 3.8. The read pulse consists of two pulses of opposite polarities, and

with the same amplitude and width in order to compensate the read disturbance of each other. However, in the case of pulse widths mismatch, a small read disturbance occurs which means that this circuit needs a periodic refreshment after a specific number of reading cycles. The reading operation is achieved by comparing the sensed voltage V_X on the resistor $R_X = (R_H + R_L)/2$ caused by the voltage divider between the memristor and the resistor R_X , with a reference voltage $V_{ref} = V_{read}/2$.



Figure 3.8 Read pulse when reading (a) logic '0'(w=D) (b) logic '1'(w=0) [15]



Figure 3.9 Read operation (logic 1) (a) Read pulse waveform (b) Memristor state (c) Output voltage (d) Logic value at data-out buffer [15].

Figure 3.9 shows the waveforms of the read operation of a stored logic 1. Figure 3.9a is the read pulse waveform and Figure 3.9b is the state variable waveform of the memristor. As shown in this figure, the state variable variation for the positive pulse compensates the variation due to the negative pulse for an ideal read pulse. The stored data is then sensed during the positive read pulse as shown in Figure 3.9c, and then the data output is buffered at the sensed logic state as in Figure 3.9d.

There are two main disadvantages of this circuit. The first one is the large area required to fabricate the resistors. The second one is that the circuit suffers from data disturbance during the read operation if the positive and negative read pulses are mismatched. As shown in Figure 3.10, a mismatch of $\pm 10\%$ caused a loss of the data after 20 cycles.



Figure 3.10 (a) Impact of $\pm 10\%$ pulse mismatch for (b) '0' state (c) '1' state [15].

The second R/W circuit is El-Shamy et al. which is shown Figure 3.11 [47]. This circuit was originally proposed for solid-state memristors in

order to avoid the date disturbance of Yenpo R/W circuit. Note that this circuit is equivalent to the convert stage only. However, due to the small R_H of spintronic memristors compared to resistive memristors, this advantage cannot be achieved in case of spintronic memristors as will be discussed in Chapter 5.

The write operation is identical to Yenpo read/write circuit. The read/write equivalent circuit during the reading operation is shown in Figure 3.12.



Figure 3.11 El-Shamy Read/Write Circuit proposed in [47].



Figure 3.12 El-Shamy Read/Write Circuit during the reading operation [47].

The idea of the reading operation depends on dividing the voltage (V_{read} – V_D) between two memristors M_1 which represents the memory cell and - 46 -

 M_2 which represent a part of the reading circuit. The second memristor M_2 is kept always at the off state benefitting from the diode that prevents current from passing in the reverse direction. For resistive memristors, R_H is usually high and thus the passing current is very low providing a disturbance-free reading operation as shown in Figure 3.13.



Figure 3.13 Fifty successive reading cycles when reading (a) logic 0 (b) logic 1 [47].

It should be noted that all previous simulations use resistive memristors. Spintronic memristors have a small OFF state resistance R_H and a much lower ON/OFF resistance ratios compared to resistive memristors, which increases the possibility of reading disturbance and reduces the sensed voltage difference. It is required to design a read/write circuit that can achieve larger sensed voltage difference, lower read operation data disturbance, and smaller occupied area.

3.2.3. Sneak Path Problem

One of the most important issues that face memristive memories is the sneak path problem. This problem arises from the fact that the memristor device has "no gate". Thus, undesired paths of current arise and form an additional resistance R_{SP} in parallel with the main path memristor's resistance R_M .

Figure 3.14a shows the reading operation of a 1M memory array in the ideal case. The second row and second column are selected to read the memristor $M_{2,2}$. Ideally, this memristor is the only element that can conduct current as it is the only element that both of its terminals -column terminal and raw terminal- are selected leading to a potential divider circuit between the load resistance R_L and the memristor resistance R_M . However, as shown in Figure 3.14b, the current can take other indirect sneak paths through multiple memristor elements resulting in an additional undesired resistance R_{SP} in parallel with the sensed resistance R_M .



Figure 3.14 Effect of the sneak-path during the reading process (a) ideal case (b) real case [46].

The sneak path problem is an important issue that limits the use of the 1M memristive memory arrays. One straightforward solution is to add a transistor to each cell as discussed in the 1T1M memristive memory arrays. However, this is highly undesirable technique, as it will reduce the array

density substantially. The 1D1M memristive memory arrays reduce the sneak path array problem, but also at the cost of the memory array density.

Another direction in solving the sneak path problem is to keep the 1M memory array and try to change other parameters that affect this problem. HP Labs team introduced a technique of multistage reading to overcome the sneak path problem [48]. The solution is straightforward but has a long algorithm and it will be even worth with larger designs. The reading procedure begins with performing a current measurement of the target cell in its normal state. Then, performing two current measurements to the target cell after putting it into OFF state and ON state. Comparing the three measurements, the cell content is defined. Finally, the data is rewritten to the target cell.

The second solution is the unfolded architecture proposed in [49]. This solution does not use a memristor cell at each cross-point in the memory array. However, this leads to the same problem of reducing the memory density similar to gating techniques.

Mohammed Zidan et al. also studied the effect of the array aspect ratio on the sneak path problem in order to find the best aspect ratio that should be used [46].

3.2.4. Memory Technologies Comparison

Table 3.1 provides a comparison between different memory technologies. The memristor is provided in a separate column for clarification, despite that it should be included in other technologies according to its type. Memristors provide a small cell area ($\sim 4F^2$) which makes it a promising element for high-density memories. It can provide a

nonvolatile element similar to flash memories with a high speed close to SRAMs and DRAMs. It also has a good retention and acceptable endurance. That combination of advantages of different memory technologies is the reason that memristor might replace all these technologies in the future.

	Mainstream Memories			Emerging Memories			Redox Including Memristor
	DRAM	SRAM	NAND Flash	FeRAM	STT- MRAM	PCRAM	
Cell element	1T1C	6T	1T	1T1C	1(2)T1R	1T(1D)1R	(1D)(1T)1R
Cell area	6-10 F ²	>100F ²	4F ²	15-35F ²	6-50F ²	4-30F ²	$4F^2$
Energy/bit (pJ)	0.005	0.0005	0.00002	0.01	0.1-2.5	2-25	0.1-3
Read time (ns)	2-10	0.2	100	45	10-35	10-50	<50
Write time (ns)	2-10	0.2	10 ⁶	65	35	12	<10
Retention	4-64ms	N/A	10 years	10 years	>10 years	>10 years	>10 years
Endurance (cycles)	>10 ¹⁶	>10 ¹⁶	104	10 ¹⁰ - 10 ¹⁴	1015	109	10 ¹²

Table 3.1 Comparison between different memory technologies [46, 50].

3.3. Memristor-based Neuromorphic circuits

The field of memristor-based neuromorphic applications is a very promising field and gains a wide research interest. Using memristors as synapses in neuromorphic circuits can potentially offer both high connectivity, and high density required for efficient computing.

The brain tissues are generally assumed to be complex networks of neurons that change their functional properties by processing sensed data. This process is called learning and the learned knowledge is stored in the - 50 -

cortex through modified synaptic connectivity. The learning in the neural tissues has various models like Hebbian correlational learning [51] and spike time dependent plasticity [52], and others. It is conceivable that all these learning effects are in fact manifestations of memristive behavior in the neural tissue.

The neuromorphic hardware community is largely focused on developing massively parallel, subthreshold analog circuits, often combined with memristive or other experimental devices for implementing synaptic memory. Any platform designed to develop intelligent machines must be (1) massively-parallel; (2) low power; (3) algorithmically flexible.

Storing and updating synaptic weights based on synaptic plasticity rules is a computationally very demanding operation in biologically-inspired neural networks [53] using basic operations of addition and multiplication. Memristive hardware holds the promise of greatly reduced power requirements by increasing synaptic memory storage capacity and decreasing wiring length between memory storage and computational modules.

Memristive nano-devices have inspired the neuromorphic community to examine their potential for building low power, intelligent machines. Their dynamics [31] and small size have suggested their use as "synapses" in analog circuits that learn online in real time [54-56]. There are suggestions from many researchers that memristor-based analog memory can be used to build brain-like learning machines with nanoscale memristive synapses.

Digital computers have one significant shortcoming: they are very inefficient at integrating the stiff differential equations found in many cognitive algorithms. Short of an algorithmic breakthrough in nonlinear dynamics, digital computers will probably never compete with analog in this area. Thus, the analog behavior of memristors can be of a great help in such algorithms.

3.3.1. Synapses Analysis Modeling Using Memristive Devices

Figure 3.15 shows how to model the biological neural network using memristor crossbars. Synapses are emulated using the memristor device, and the synapse weight is analog to the memristor's state variable. Corinto et al. present a rigorous mathematical study concerning the dynamics of different memristor models with a special emphasis on the effect of initial and boundary conditions of the system [57]. The analytical results connecting the initial condition of a memristor with its current-voltage characteristic can be used to devise a new pattern recognition system based on the synchronization of nonlinear dynamical systems. Nathan McDonald analyzed some promising and practical non-quasi-static linear and nonlinear memristor device models for neuromorphic circuit design and computing architecture simulation [58, 59].



Figure 3.15 Modeling the biological neural network using memristor crossbars [54].

3.4. Memristor-based Logic

An important advantage of memristors is that it can be used in designing a combined memory and logic functions on the same chip. The memristors can be used efficiently in crossbar arrays for both memory and logic functioning.

Memristors can be used to perform implied logic operations. It is important to note that the logic circuits realized by memristor differ than the Boolean logic realized by CMOS technology. The realization of implied logic is explained in [60, 61]. T. Raja and S. Mourad provided a tutorial on how to use memristor crossbars for logic design [62]. Hybrid reconfigurable logic circuits are fabricated by integrating memristor-based crossbars onto a foundry-built CMOS platform using nano-imprint lithography [63].

Another important way of memristor logic design is the memristor ratioed logic (MRL) that was proposed in [65]. This design has the advantage of being more reliable and has fewer design constraints. Figure 3.16 shows the schematic of AND gate and OR gate which have the same design but only the memristors are reversed. This type can only achieve non-inverting functions and uses the static CMOS inverter to achieve any inverting function and to restore logic swing.

For the OR gate, applying a voltage of V_{IN1} ='1' and V_{IN2} ='0' decreases the resistance of the first memristor (*R1*) and increases the resistance of the second memristor (*R2*). Thus, the output becomes high. Using the same theory for all other cases, it can be shown that the gate in Figure 3.16a work as an OR gate, and the gate in Figure 3.16b work as an AND gate.



Figure 3.16 Schematic of MRL gates (a) OR gate (b) AND gate . The behavior of (c) an OR gate and (d) AND gate when V_{IN1}='1' and V_{IN2}='0'. The change of the resistance of memristive devices for the (e) OR, and (f) AND gates [65].

3.5. Memristor-based FPGA Switching Blocks

A novel FPGA architecture with memristor-based reconfiguration (mrFPGA) was introduced in [66]. The proposed architecture is based on a CMOS-compatible memristor fabrication process. The programmable interconnects of mrFPGA use only memristors and metal wires. Thus, the interconnections can be fabricated over logic blocks, resulting in significant reduction of overall area and interconnect delay. D. Strukov and A. Mishchenko also introduced novel FPGA circuits based on hybrid

CMOS/resistive switching device (memristor) technology to achieve different logic architectures [67].



Figure 3.17 mrFPGA (a) architecture (b) Design of connections and switching blocks [66]

3.6. Analog Applications

Memristors can be used to implement programmable analog circuits, Amplifiers, and oscillators. Sangho Shin showed that memristors can be used to implement programmable analog circuits, leveraging memristor's fine-resolution programmable resistance without causing perturbations due to parasitic components [68]. The resistance programming can be achieved by controlling the input pulse width and its frequency. A Pulse-coded programmable resistor using memristor is shown in Figure 3.18.



Figure 3.18 Pulse-coded programmable resistor using a memristor [68]

T. Wey and W. Jemison used an automatic gain control (AGC) topology with a variable gain amplifier utilizing a (TiO₂) memristor [69]. Makot O. Itoh derived several memristor-based nonlinear oscillators from Chua's oscillators [70]. M. Affan Zidan presented a memristor-based oscillator without using any capacitors or inductors [71]. The introduced reactanceless oscillator enables an area efficient implementation for low-frequency oscillators. The circuit is shown in Figure 3.19. Despite that this circuit is theoretically suitable for low frequencies, it should be noted that the circuit assumed a very slow switching speed of the memristor which could be impractical for actual circuit realization.



Figure 3.19 Memristor based reactance-less oscillator [71].

The nonlinear dynamics of three memristor based phase shift oscillators are reported in [72]. It is considered that they will be a plausible solution for the realization of parametric oscillation as an autonomous linear timevariant system. A.G. Mosad presented an improved memristor-based relaxation oscillator which offers higher frequency and wider tuning range than the existing reactance-less oscillators [73].

CHAPTER 4: Modeling of Spintronic Memristors

4.1. Introduction

The model of the spintronic memristor that is modified in this work was proposed in [7]. The overview in Sec 2.5 provide a detailed explanation of existing spintronic models. This section focuses on the equations of the GMR-based memristor. It uses r_L and r_H to denote the values of the resistance per unit length of the spintronic memristor at the low-resistance and the high-resistance states, respectively. The memristance of a spintronic memristor can be calculated as [7]:

$$M(x) = r_H \cdot x + r_L \cdot (D - x)$$
(4.1)

where *x* is the position of the domain wall, and *D* is the length of the device. The domain-wall velocity (*v*) is proportional to the effective current density J_{eff} [7], i.e.

$$v = \frac{dx}{dt} = \Gamma_v. J_{eff} \tag{4.2}$$

where the effective current density J_{eff} only affects the domain-wall position if it is greater than a specific critical value J_{cr} .

$$J_{eff} = \begin{cases} J & J \ge J_{cr} \\ 0 & J < J_{cr} \end{cases}$$
(4.3)

From (4.3), it is obvious that this model did not include some important properties that occurs in all magnetoresistive based structures such as the effect of temperature variations, and the magnetoresistance voltagedependence. This model needs to be modified to include such important properties. Through this chapter, two spintronic memristor models are proposed. The first model deals with including the temperature variations effect and keeps model simplicity. The second model is a more complicated model that tries to include all physical parameters and to be suitable for all device geometries forming a *general* model for all spintronic memristors. The proposed models are implemented in Verilog-A, and integrated with an integrated circuit CAD tool to carry out any desired analyses of different circuits that utilize spintronic memristors.

4.2. Thermal Fluctuation Aware Model

4.2.1. Thermal effect on magnetic devices

Experimental studies of MRAM structures show that increasing the temperature of MRAM cells increases the probability of the cell switching between the parallel and the antiparallel states [8]. The thermal fluctuation becomes a disadvantage during the reading process as it can cause an undesirable switching to the data stored in the MRAM cell.

The probability that an MRAM cell switches its state after a duration time (t) is calculated by [9]:

$$P(t) = 1 - exp\left(\frac{-t}{\tau_{P \to AP}}\right) \tag{4.4}$$

where $\tau_{P \to AP}$ is the Neel-Brown relaxation time of an ensemble in an initial parallel state and can be calculated as [8]:

$$\tau_{P \to AP} = \tau_0 \exp\left[\frac{K_U V}{K_B T} \left(1 + \frac{H(t)}{H_K}\right)^2 \left(1 - \frac{I(t)}{I_{cr}}\right)\right]$$
(4.5)

where H(t) is the applied magnetic field, I(t) is the applied current, τ_0 is the nominal switching time when a current equals to I_{cr} is applied to the cell, K_U is the anisotropy constant, V is the volume of the MRAM cell's

(memristor's) FL, K_B is the Boltzmann constant, and T is the absolute temperature in Kelvin.

Equations (4.4) and (4.5) show that increasing the temperature increases the relaxation time ($\tau_{P\to AP}$), which increases the probability of the MRAM cell switching. This effect occurs in both writing and reading processes.

4.2.2. Proposed Thermal Fluctuation Aware Model

The spintronic memristor model presented in [7] assumed that when the current density is less than a specific critical value J_{cr} , then no change occurs to the domain wall position. According to this assumption, if the current that is used to read the stored data in a spintronic memristor-based memory cell is smaller than this critical value ($I_{read} < I_{cr}$), then the data stored within the cell is not affected by the reading process. Correspondingly, there exists no read disturbance regardless of the number of successive read cycles or the operating temperature value.

However, as reported in [8], it is shown that even if the applied current is less than the critical current, the data stored in the memory cell is changed due to the thermal fluctuation [8].

From (4.4), the probability of switching the cell state during the read process is [11]:

$$P_{failure} = 1 - exp\left(\frac{-t_P}{\tau_{P \to AP}}\right) \tag{4.6}$$

where t_P is the duration time when I_{read} is applied to the memristor that achieves a full memristor state switching (i.e., switching the memristor from the low-resistance state to the high-resistance state). In case of successive read cycles, t_P becomes the total duration of the successive read pulses required to have a full switching in the memristor state. In absence of an external applied field (H(t)=0), $\tau_{P\to AP}$ defined in (4.5) is reduced to [11]:

$$\tau_{P \to AP} = \tau_0 \exp\left[\frac{K_U V}{K_B T} \left(1 - \frac{l_{read}}{l_{cr}}\right)\right]$$
(4.7)

Equation (4.6) shows that when the summation of the read pulses durations, and consequently the number of reading cycles, increases, there is a high probability that the domain wall switches its state from parallel to anti-parallel or vice versa. In other words, the memristor switches its state even if the read current (I_{read}) is lower than the critical current value (I_{cr}) especially, for a large number of successive read operations. (4.7) shows that increasing the temperature decreases the duration ($\tau_{P \to AP}$) and thus increasing the probability of failure. The term (K_UV/K_BT) is considered as a "stability factor" to the memory circuit.

Equation (4.7) also shows another important design factor, which is the ratio between the read current (I_{read}) and the critical current (I_{cr}). Decreasing the term (I_{read}/I_{cr}) gives a better stability against thermal fluctuation.

These model modifications have a great significance in the analysis of the memory reading process and can be used to define the maximum allowable successive read cycles before the stored data in the spintronic memristor is disturbed.

Now we need to modify the model in [7] to take into account the effect of thermal fluctuation. Instead of assuming that J_{eff} equals zero for ($J < J_{cr}$) as in [7], the thermal fluctuation effect on J_{eff} is taken into account in the modified model. From its definition, τ_0 is the switching time when a current of magnitude equal to I_{cr} is applied to the cell. Based on (4.2) we can write that:

$$\int_{0}^{D} dx = \int_{0}^{\tau_{0}} \Gamma_{\nu} J_{cr} dt$$
(4.8)

This equation gives that:

$$D = \Gamma_{v} J_{cr} \tau_{0} \tag{4.9}$$

Now we need to define the value of J_{eff} that achieves the same full switching in a duration time equals to t_P . Thus from (4.2), we can write that:

$$\int_{0}^{D} dx = \int_{0}^{t_{P}} \Gamma_{v} J_{eff} dt$$
(4.10)

This equation gives that:

$$D = \Gamma_v J_{eff} t_P \tag{4.11}$$

Equating (4.9) and (4.11) gives that the equivalent effective current density for the thermal fluctuation is:

$$J_{eff} = \frac{J_{cr} \tau_0}{t_P} \tag{4.12}$$

Thus, the value of J_{eff} in (4.3) is modified to be:

$$J_{eff} = \begin{cases} J & J \ge J_{cr} \\ \frac{J_{cr} \tau_0}{t_P} & J < J_{cr} \end{cases}$$
(4.13)

where t_P can be calculated from (4.6) for a given design parameter ($P_{failure}$), as follows:

$$t_P = \tau_{P \to AP} \ln\left(\frac{1}{1 - P_{failure}}\right) \tag{4.14}$$

4.2.3. Simulation Results

The spintronic memristor's material properties and model parameters are taken from [7]. The Verilog-A code of the proposed model is provided in Appendix A. The nominal switching time calculated from (9) is $\tau_0 = 100nS$. The duration of the read pulse is chosen to be $t_{read}=10nS$ [12]. The thermal factor $(K_UV/K_BT) = 50$ at room temperature $(t=27^{\circ}C)$.

Figure 4.1 shows the probability of failure versus the number of cycles that achieves a full switch to the memristor memory cell for different values of (I_{read}/I_{cr}) at room temperature. The figure indicates that decreasing the read current strongly increases the stability of the memory cell during the read process.

However, decreasing the read current has two disadvantages. First, the sensed voltage difference becomes very small, which reduces the cell's noise immunity and makes the design of the supporting read circuit very challenging.

To understand this concern, let us study this issue using the read circuit design proposed in [13]. The critical current is $I_{cr}=35\mu A$, and the two memristance states are $R_P = 5 K\Omega$ and $R_{AP} = 6 K\Omega$. Let us consider $I_{read} = 0.9*I_{cr} = 31.5\mu A$. The read circuit is based on comparing the memristance value (R_P or R_{AP}) with the average value of the parallel and antiparallel resistances (5.5 K Ω). Thus the voltage difference sensed at the input of the comparator terminals will be $\Delta V = I_{read}*(R_{AP} - R_{avg}) \approx 16$ mV. This sensed voltage is too small compared to the comparator's offset voltage, which is typically larger than 50mV. Accordingly, reducing I_{read} results in very complex, power consuming, and large area read circuits.



Figure 4.1 Probability of failure versus the number of reading cycles before failure.

Second, decreasing I_{read} decreases the speed of the reading process. Therefore, choosing the read current value (I_{read}) is a trade-off between reducing the thermal fluctuation and achieving a larger sensed voltage difference.

A final remark in Figure 4.1 is that the calculated number of reading cycles represent total cycles before "full switch". The reason for this is that the $P_{failure}$ defined in (6) assumed the probability of failure is the probability of a "full switch" as the phenomenon was studied generally for any Magnetic Tunneling Junction (MTJ) based structure. In case of the domain-wall spintronic memristor, if the memristor state changes from 0% to 50%, then the data stored in the cell is already destroyed. For example, at $P_{failure}=10\%$ & $I_{read}=0.9*I_{cr}$, data will be destroyed after 80 read cycles only as the state variable *x* exceeds 0.5*D.

Figure 4.2 shows the relationship between the number of cycles before failure versus the read current ratio (I_{read}/I_{cr}) under different $P_{failure}$ values

at room temperature. As shown in this figure, in order to achieve less probability of failure, the maximum number of reading cycles before failure is reduced. This is a hard limitation on the memory design, which must be taken into consideration. In memory design, if the probability of failure is $P_{failure} \approx 0.1\%$, at $I_{read} = 0.8*I_{cr}$, the maximum number of reading cycles before failure is 110 cycles.



Figure 4.2 Calculated number of reading cycles before failure versus the read current ratio (Iread/Icr) for different probabilities of failure.

Figure 4.3 studies the effect of temperature variation on the maximum allowable successive read cycles versus the read current ratio (I_{read}/I_{cr}). As shown in this figure, the maximum allowable successive read cycles decrease exponentially with temperature increase. For example, at 110°C, and $I_{read}/I_{cr}=0.75$, it takes only 100 read cycles before the data is altered.

In the design of memory circuits, it is convenient to assume a temperature of around 70°C for commercial applications [74].



Figure 4.3 Calculated number of reading cycles before failure versus the read current ratio (Iread/Icr) for different temperature values.

4.2.4. Design Insights

From the proposed modified model as well as the presented simulation results, the following design guidelines and insights are extracted to help the spintronic memristor-based memory designers.

1) The read current (I_{read}) should be chosen carefully. Increasing I_{read} reduces the stability of the circuit due to thermal fluctuations, and thus reduces the maximum allowable successive read cycles. On the other hand, reducing I_{read} reduces the sensed voltage difference, the noise immunity, and the speed of the reading process. Therefore, the selection of the I_{read} value is a trade-off between thermal fluctuation impact and the supporting read circuit complexity.

2) Memory circuit design always requires a strict constraint on the allowable probability of failure as it causes a considerable data disturbance. Spintronic memristor-based memory designers should define the accepted - 66 -

 $P_{failure}$, and based on that, the maximum allowed successive read cycles is defined. A refresh scheme is needed to avoid read disturbance. Thus, this model gives the designer an important insight on when the refreshment circuit is required.

3) Temperature variation greatly affects the probability of failure in spintronic memristor based memories. Spintronic memristor-based memory designers should define carefully the expected operating temperature of the memory device.

4.3. LLGS-Based Spintronic Memristor Model

4.3.1. Issues of Previous Models

In this section, three spintronic memristor models are discussed. These models are the available models that are dedicated to spintronic memristor devices up to author's knowledge. Other general memristor models are empirical models with no relation to the STT effect or the magnetic device material. The first model is the spintronic memristor model proposed by Miao Hu [8]. This model represents the memristor as two parallel resistors that are a function of the domain-wall position as will be discussed in the following subsection. There is a similar model proposed by Wang [13], but for IPA spintronic memristor. Both models are nearly the same, as the only difference in Wang model is using two series resistors instead of parallel ones. The Miao Hu model is chosen due to the advantage of using PPA devices over IPA devices as discussed in the previous section. The second model is a modified model of the first one with considering the thermal fluctuation effect.

In the three models, there are some assumptions that limit the model accuracy, and usage.

- As given in (4.2), the rate of change of the state variable has a "linear" dependence on the effective current density of the memristor. This linear dependence represents the simplest and the lowest accuracy assumption of modeling the dynamical behavior of memristors. Although, that these models are straightforward models that achieve faster simulations, a more accurate model is needed for the estimation of the dynamical behavior of spintronic memristors.
- 2) The three models do not provide enough linkage to the physical parameters, structure, and dimensions of the spintronic memristor. A model with a direct relation to the magnetic material properties and device structure can be of a great impact on the studying and the manufacturing of the spintronic memristor. In addition, the proposed model will allow the optimization of the spintronic memristor materials' properties and design parameters at early design phases.
- 3) The three models assumed that the antiparallel resistance R_{AP} has a fixed value. Actually, the antiparallel resistance in magnetic-based devices is strongly dependent on the applied voltage as shown in Figure 4.4. Equation (4.15) provides an acceptable approximation for the tunneling magnetoresistance ratio (TMR) as a function of the applied voltage [75]. Taking the effect of the applied voltage on the TMR and consequently, R_{AP} is essential in the spintronic memristors simulations and strongly affects the design of the spintronic memristor-based memory cells.

$$TMR(V) = TMR_0 \frac{1}{1 + \left(\frac{V}{V_h}\right)^2}$$
(4.15)

Chapter 4



where V_h is the voltage at which the TMR is halved.

Figure 4.4 MTJ device's resistance vs applied voltage [76].

- 4) Finally, these models do not consider the thermal dependent parameters in the spintronic memristor. The TFA model considered only one temperature dependent parameter (J_{cr}), and the other two models did not include any thermal dependent factors.
- 5) Chen and TFA models are only applicable for GMR CIP structures, and Miao Hu model is only applicable for TMR CPP structure. A more generalized model that cover different possible structures of spintronic memristors can offer a standard model for any spintronic memristor.

4.3.2. Dynamical Behavior of Magnetic Devices

The Landau-Lifshitz-Gilbert (LLG) equation [77-79] describes the dynamic behavior of the magnetization vector of magnetic materials according to the following relationship:

$$\frac{\partial \vec{M}}{\partial t} = -\frac{\gamma}{1+\alpha_g^2} \vec{M} \times \vec{H}_{eff}(\theta) - \frac{\alpha_g \gamma}{(1+\alpha_g^2)M_s} \vec{M} \times (\vec{M} \times \vec{H}_{eff}(\theta)) \quad (4.16)$$

where α_g is the gilbert damping parameter, γ is the gyromagnetic ratio, M_S is the saturation magnetization, Heff is the effective magnetic field, and θ

is the angle between the easy axis of the magnet and the magnetization vector.

The first term of the LLG equation represents the precession of the magnetization vector due to the applied magnetic field. The second term represents a damping phenomenon that tends to counteract any change in the magnetization vector.

Recent research on magnetic nano-structure shows that the current flowing through these devices generates spin waves, layer switching, and a torque on the magnetization vector.

In 1996, Slonczewski stated that spin-polarized electrons in magnetic multilayers experience a change in their angular momentum, resulting in a torque applied to the magnetization vector called spin-transfer torque[80, 81]. A torque term should be added to the right-hand side of the previous equation to include this effect, and this term is given by [82]:

$$\overline{T_{spin}} = -\frac{\gamma \eta(\theta)\hbar}{2etM_s^2 A} I. \left(\vec{M} \times \left(\vec{M} \times \vec{M}_{PL} \right) \right)$$
(4.17)

where \hbar is the reduced Planck constant, *t* is the thickness of the free layer, *A* is the cross-sectional area, e is the electron charge, MPL is the magnetization vector of the pinned layer, I is the current passing through the spintronic memristor from the pinned layer to the free layer, and η is the spin torque efficiency.

After adding the torque term, the equation is called Landau-Lifshitz-Gilbert-Slonczewski (LLGS) equation. This equation is able to model the dynamic behavior of magnetic devices accurately.

The spin-transfer torque effect is exploited in MTJ device forming a device denoted by Spin-Transfer Torque Magnetic Tunneling Junction - 70 -

(STT-MTJ). Semiconductor spintronic devices are preferable for their maturity and endurance [83]. The main advantage of using the spin-transfer torque effect is that it requires lower current densities to achieve MTJ switching between P and AP states than all other existing techniques, which makes this technique preferable in high-density MRAMs [84].

The proposed model aims to overcome the drawbacks of current spintronic memristor models. The proposed model uses the LLGS equation to model the dynamical behavior of the spintronic memristor. Using the LLGS equation offers a more accurate representation of the memristor's dynamical behavior than previous models as they were using a simplified form of only the STT term from the modified LLG equation.

The LLGS equation deals with the free layer of the MTJ-based devices as one part that has a specific normalized magnetization vector m. The magnetization vector makes an angle θ with the easy axis (magnetization vector of the pinned layer). Thus, in the case of modeling spintronic memristors, The LLGS equation is applied to the DW part. In order to use the LLGS equation in modeling the spintronic memristor, the free layer is divided into three parts, a part with a magnetization vector parallel to the magnetization vector of the pinned layer, the domain-wall, and a part of a magnetization vector antiparallel to the magnetization vector of the pinned layer.

The proposed model also uses different equations that can represent all possible structures of spintronic memristors and links them to their physical parameters. The model included all the temperature-dependent parameters up to the author's knowledge. The domain wall width and its resistance value are also included in the model.

4.3.3. The Domain wall width and motion.

The switching between P and AP states in the spintronic memristor is based on the DW motion. The theory of operation is shown in Figure 4.5. The LLGS equation is used to calculate the domain-wall magnetization vector's relative angle to the easy axis of the memristor. If the STT effect exceeds the demagnetization field effect, the magnetization vector starts to rotate from AP to P state.



Figure 4.5 Domain-wall motion (a) Begin of rotation (b) DW fully switched (c) DW moved to the new position

When this magnetization vector reaches the parallel state as shown in Figure 4.5b, its width is added to the parallel part of the free layer, and the domain-wall position moves to the next part reducing the antiparallel part width as shown in Figure 4.5c. The LLGS is applied again on the domain-72 -

wall in its new position, and so on. The same theory works for the domainwall when its magnetization vector rotates from P to AP state, but the motion here is in the reverse direction reducing the parallel part and increasing the antiparallel part.

The DW type of the spintronic memristor is assumed to be a Neel wall in which the magnetization vector rotates in the plane of transition as shown in Figure 4.5. The Neel type DW width can be calculated by [36, 85] :

$$\Delta w = \sqrt{\frac{2A_{ex}}{M_S H_K}} \tag{4.18}$$

where A_{ex} is exchange parameter and H_K is the easy anisotropy. The FL is divided into "*N*" domain-walls. Thus, the number of domain walls *N* in the FL strip equals:

$$N = \frac{D}{\Delta w} \tag{4.19}$$

4.3.4. The CIP and CPP structures

The spintronic memristor can use either the CIP structure like the spintronic memristor proposed by Chen [13] or CPP structure like the one proposed by Miao Hu [8]. Figure 4.6a shows a spintronic memristor of CIP structure. The CIP spintronic memristor can be divided into three parts, *P*, *DW*, and *AP*. Thus, the CIP spintronic memristor can be considered equivalent to the three parts connected in series as shown in Figure 4.6b. This is the same assumption used by Chen model, except that he only takes the P and AP parts.



Figure 4.6 CIP Spintronic Memristor (a) Basic cell (b) free layer division (b) equivalent circuit.

Figure 4.6c shows the equivalent circuit that is used by the proposed model for the spintronic memristors with a CIP structure. The first resistor $R_P * (\alpha - 1/2N)$ is the equivalent resistor of the P part. The DW part has a resistance of R_{DW} , and it will be calculated according to whether the memristor type is GMR or TMR. The AP part is modeled by the resistance $R_{AP}*(1-\alpha-1/2N)$. The resistance R_P is the equivalent resistance of the spintronic memristor when the entire FL is in the P state. The derivation of this model is straightforward, as for a resistor $R, R=\rho L/A$, then the ratio of the P part resistance to the total resistance is $R_{p_part}/R_P=L_{p_part}/L_{tot}$. Thus, the P part resistance is given by:

$$R_{P_part} = R_P * \frac{w - \frac{\Delta w}{2}}{D} = R_P * \left(\alpha - \frac{1}{2N}\right)$$
(4.20)

where w is the DW position at the center of the DW which has a width of Δw , and $\alpha = w/D$.

Similarly, the AP part equivalent resistance is:

$$R_{AP_part} = R_{AP} * \frac{D - \left(w - \frac{\Delta w}{2}\right) - \Delta w}{D} = R_{AP} * \left(1 - \alpha - \frac{1}{2N}\right)$$
(4.21)

where the antiparallel resistance R_{AP} is calculated from the following equation:

$$R_{AP}(V) = R_P * (1 + TMR(T, V))$$
(4.22)

where TMR(T, V) is the tunneling magnetoresistance ratio as a function of temperature and voltage, and its value is calculated in the next subsection.

The total memristance can be calculated as follows:

$$M(\alpha) = R_P * \left(\alpha - \frac{1}{2N}\right) + R_{DW} + R_{AP} * \left(1 - \alpha - \frac{1}{2N}\right)$$
(4.23)

Using the same idea, the equivalent parallel resistance of the DW R_{P_DW} is calculated as follows:

$$R_{P_DW} = R_P * \frac{\Delta w}{D} = \frac{R_P}{N}$$
(4.24)

The R_{P_DW} value will be used in the calculation of the DW resistance R_{DW} .

Figure 4.7a shows a spintronic memristor of CPP structure. The CPP memristor can be divided into three parallel parts, P, DW, and AP. In contrast to the CIP structure, the devices area is divided into the three parts instead of the length. Thus, $R_{p_part}/R_P = A_{tot}/A_{p_part}$. Thus, the P part resistance equals:

$$R_{P_part} = R_P * \frac{D}{w - \frac{\Delta w}{2}} = \frac{R_P}{\left(\alpha - \frac{1}{2N}\right)}$$
(4.25)

Similarly, the AP part equivalent resistance is:

$$R_{AP_part} = R_{AP} * \frac{D}{D - \left(w - \frac{\Delta w}{2}\right) - \Delta w} = \frac{R_{AP}}{\left(1 - \alpha - \frac{1}{2N}\right)}$$
(4.26)

The total memductance $W(\alpha)$ can be calculated as follows:



Figure 4.7 CPP Spintronic Memristor (a) Basic cell (b) free layer division (c) the equivalent circuit

$$W(\alpha) = \frac{\left(\alpha - \frac{1}{2N}\right)}{R_P} + 1/R_{DW} + \frac{\left(1 - \alpha - \frac{1}{2N}\right)}{R_{AP}}$$
(4.27)

where $W(\alpha) = 1/M(\alpha)$.

The area of the DW is (1/N) times of the total FL area. Thus, the R_{P_DW} in the CPP structure is calculated as follows:

$$R_{P_DW} = R_P * \frac{D}{\Delta w} = N R_P \tag{4.28}$$

4.3.5. Thermal Dependent parameters

The magnetic parameters have a substantial dependence on the temperature. Thus, including the thermal dependence of the magnetic

- 76 -
parameters is of a great importance to study the behavior of spintronic memristors. In the proposed model, the effect of temperature fluctuations on the saturation magnetization, the polarization, and the tunneling magnetoresistance ratio are included.

The temperature dependent magnetization saturation can be calculated as follows:

$$M_{s}(T) = M_{s0} \left(1 - \frac{T}{T_{c}} \right)^{\beta}$$
(4.29)

where M_{S0} is the magnetization saturation at absolute zero, T_C is the Curie temperature, and β is a material dependent critical exponent.

The zero-voltage temperature dependent spin-polarization can be calculated as follows:

$$P_s(T) = P_0 \left(1 - \alpha_{SP} T^{3/2} \right) \tag{4.30}$$

where P_0 is the spin-polarization at absolute zero, and α_{SP} is a material and dependent geometry constant. The zero-voltage *TMR* is related to the spin-polarization as follows:

$$TMR_0(T) = \frac{2 P_s^2(T)}{1 - P_s^2(T)}$$
(4.31)

The voltage-dependent *TMR* is then calculated as follows:

$$TMR(T,V) = \frac{TMR_0(T)}{1 + \left(\frac{V}{V_h}\right)^2}$$
 (4.32)

The voltage-dependent spin-polarization is then calculated as follows:

$$P_{\mathcal{S}}(\mathsf{T},\mathsf{V}) = \sqrt{\frac{TMR(\mathsf{T},\mathsf{V})}{TMR(\mathsf{T},\mathsf{V})+2}}$$
(4.33)

4.3.6. In-plane anisotropy and perpendicular-to-plane anisotropy.

The in-plane anisotropy (IPA) and perpendicular-to-plane anisotropy (PPA) describe the direction of the anisotropy compared to the device geometry. In the IPA shown in Figure 4.8a, the anisotropy is parallel to the FL-PL interface. On the other hand, the anisotropy in PPA is perpendicular to the FL-PL interface as shown in Figure 4.8b.



Figure 4.8 Spintronic Memristor (a) IPA structure (b) PPA structure

Comparing IPA and PPA structures shows that the PPA structure requires less critical current than the equivalent IPA structure. The critical current of IPA and PPA structures is given in (4.34), and (4.35), respectively [86]. The ratio between the critical current of the IPA devices to the PPA devices is $(H_K+2\pi M_S)/H_K$. Typically, $M_S>H_K$, and so the PPA devices have lower critical currents than IPA devices which enable PPA devices to be used in more advanced technologies with smaller feature sizes, and thus providing higher densities than IPA devices. On the other hand, the IPA devices can provide higher ratios between the parallel and antiparallel resistances, which give better noise margins. It should be noted that the STT effect is more effective on PPA devices than IPA devices [79].

The proposed model includes the critical currents described in (4.34) and (4.34) based on whether the memristor type is IPA or PPA.

$$I_{C0 (IPA)} = \frac{2e\alpha_g M_S Vol (H_K + 2\pi M_S)}{\hbar \eta(\theta)}$$
(4.34)

$$I_{C0\,(PPA)} = \frac{2e\alpha_g M_S Vol\,H_K}{\hbar\eta(\theta)} \tag{4.35}$$

where Vol is the FL volume, and $\eta(\theta)$ is the polarization efficiency and it is given by [87]:

$$\eta(\theta) = \frac{P_S}{1 + P_S^2 \cos(\theta)} \tag{4.36}$$

Equations (4.34) and (4.35) show that the critical current of the spintronic memristor depends on η (θ) which is a function of the angle θ between the magnetization vectors of the FL and PL. This leads to an important deduction that the critical current of the spintronic memristor in the case of P-AP switching differs than the critical current in case of AP-P switching. In case of the P-AP switching, $\theta = \theta^{\circ}$ and the polarization efficiency becomes $\eta_{P-AP} = \eta$ (θ°) = $P_S / (1 + P_S^2)$. Similarly, the AP-P switching has a polarization efficiency of $\eta_{AP-P} = \eta$ (180°) = $P_S / (1 - P_S^2)$. Thus, the switching from AP to P states is easier than switching from P to AP states. This is physically understandable, as the FL magnetization vector tends to align with the easy axis. The ratio between the critical currents of P-AP and AP-P switching is:

$$\frac{I_{CO_{P-AP}}}{I_{CO_{AP-P}}} = \frac{1 - P_S^2}{1 + P_S^2} \tag{4.37}$$

4.3.7. The GMR- and TMR-based spintronic memristors

The proposed model uses the following equation to calculate the parallel resistance of the TMR-based devices [88]:

$$R_{P} = \frac{t_{ox}}{(F.\varphi^{1/2}.Area)} e^{(Coef.t_{ox}.\varphi^{1/2})}$$
(4.38)

where φ is the average potential barrier height of the oxide material, *coef* is a fitting parameter, and *F* is a fitting parameter corresponding to t_{ox} and depends on the material composition of the spintronic memristor layers.

The domain wall resistance as a function of θ is then calculated from the Julliere model [89] as follows:

$$R_{DW}(\theta) = \frac{2 R_{P_DW} \parallel R_{AP_DW}}{1 + P_S^2 \cos(\theta)}$$
(4.39)

where R_{P_DW} is calculated from (4.24) for CIP devices and from (4.28) for CPP devices in both GMR- and TMR-based memristors. R_{AP_DW} is calculated from (4.22) as a function of R_{P_DW} and TMR (*T*, *V*).

In the case of the GMR-based spintronic memristor, the parallel resistance of the device is calculated from the sheet resistance R_{eL} as in Chen model [36]:

$$R_P = R_{eL} \left(D/z \right) \tag{4.40}$$

where D, z is the device's length and width respectively as in the GMRbased spintronic memristor shown in Figure 2.18.

The DW resistance of the GMR-based memristors is then calculated from the following equation [90]:

$$R_{DW}(\theta) = R_{P_DW} + \left(R_{AP_DW} - R_{P_DW}\right) \left(\frac{1 - \cos(\theta)}{2}\right)$$
(4.41)

4.3.8. Verilog-A Description

Figure 4.9 shows the flowchart of the flow of the proposed model. The designer should first specify the memristor type whether it is GMR/TMR, CIP/CPP, and IPA/PPA. Then the physical parameters, magnetic device constants, and device dimensions are provided by the designer.



Figure 4.9 Verilog-A Flow Chart of the proposed model

After that, the Verilog-A routine computes temperature dependent parameters, DW width, and the number of DWs *N*. According to the device type, the values of R_P , R_{AP} , I_{C0} , and initial R_{DW} . The LLGS equation is applied to the DW and the rate of change of the normalized magnetization vector dm/dt and the angle θ are calculated. Then the value of the magnetization vector is updated. If the value of the normalized magnetization-vector component (*mz* for PPA or *mx* for IPA) crosses the switching point between P and AP states, the position of the DW is updated. Otherwise, move to the next step to compute the DW resistance R_{DW} (θ), and the total memristance M (α).

The switching point is taken as mz (or mx)=0, as it is the middle point between P and AP states [91].

4.3.9. Simulation Results

The model is implemented by Verilog-A language and used with a SPECTRE-based CAD tool to study the behavior of the spintronic memristor under different stimulations and to show the main characteristics of the device. The Verilog-A code of the proposed model is provided in Appendix A. Table 4.1 lists the values of the dimensions and the main parameters, used in the simulations. Due to the absence of spintronic memristor's experimental data, these values were taken from implemented STT-MTJ devices as to be the closest to the spintronic memristors [82, 92].

The general behavior of different geometries of spintronic memristors are similar. The TMR-based PPA spintronic memristor is chosen through our simulations because it might be the most promising type of spintronic memristor.

Physical constants						
e	Elementary charge (C)	$1.602 x 10^{-1}$				
ħ	Reduced Planck constant	1.054×10^{-10}				
Material parameters						
M_{s_nom}	Magnetization saturation	1050				
H_K	Easy anisotropy (O_e)	250				
A _{ex}	Exchange parameter	1.8 x10 ⁻¹¹				
$\alpha_{ m g}$	Gilbert damping	0.002				
γ	Gyromagnetic ratio	1.7608x10 ⁻				
V_h	TMR voltage dependence	0.5				
T _C	Curie temperature	1420				
α_{sp}	Ps thermal dependence	$2x10^{-5}$				
β	M_s thermal dependence	0.4				
F	TMR-based R _P fitting	409405				
Model parameters						
D	Length (nm)	500				
h	Thickness (nm)	1.5				
Z	Width (nm)	60				
t_{ox}	Oxide thickness (nm)	0.85				
R_{eL}	Low sheet resistance	50				

TABLE 4.1 Constant and Parameters in The Proposed Model

Figure 4.10a shows the current-voltage (I-V) characteristics of the spintronic using a 1 V sinusoidal input voltage. The I-V characteristics are studied under different input frequencies 2.5, 5, 10, and 20 MHz. The curve hysteresis reduces when the signal frequency increases as expected for any memristor device.

Figure 4.10b shows the I-V characteristics of the spintronic memristor when applying a sinusoidal input of IV under different temperature values, 200°, 300°, and 400° K.



(b)

Figure 4.10 Proposed model driven by a sinusoidal input of 1 V (a) for different frequencies (b) for different temperatures.

The figure shows that the curve hysteresis reduces when the temperature increases. Thus, we can conclude from this figure that increasing temperature reduces the unique hysteresis feature of the memristor, making it a little closer to the resistor-like behavior.

In Figure 4.11, a biased sinusoidal voltage excitation is applied on the spintronic memristor. A frequency of f=20MHz and amplitude of $V_m = 0.8V$. A negative bias of -0.1V is added for the first three cycles and then a positive bias of +0.3V) is added for the next three cycles. In the first three cycles, the negative bias combined with the sinusoidal voltage causes the gradually increasing ripples. Another reason for the increasing ripples is that the switching from P to AP is slower than the AP to P switching due to the inherent trend of the magnetization vector to be aligned with the easy axis as mentioned. Thus to overcome this effect and force the devices to achieve gradually decreasing ripples, a bias of +0.3 V was needed in the second three cycles compared with only -0.1 V bias in the first three cycles.

The state variable switching between ON and OFF is shown in Figure 4.11. A I V input pulse is used. As shown in Figure 4.12a, the change of the state variable depends on the DW mz switching which is calculated from the LLGS equation. Thus, for a full ON and OFF memristance switching, mz must achieve N switches ON or OFF respectively as shown in Figure 4.12b.



Figure 4.11 State Variable of a spintronic memristor driven by a biased sinusoidal voltage



Modeling of Spintronic Memristors

Figure 4.12 (a) Magnetization vector z-component (mz) (b) State Variable.

(b)

The value of the antiparallel resistance and thus the total memristance is a function of the applied voltage. The proposed model includes the TMR/GMR voltage dependence effect. Figure 4.13 shows the value of the antiparallel resistance for a sinusoidal applied voltage. As shown in this figure, the antiparallel resistance reaches its maximum value when the input voltage equals zero. Under zero applied voltage, the tunneling magnetoresistance TMR (V=0) = TMR_0 and the R_{AP} value is maximum. When the applied voltage reaches its positive or negative maximum (±1V), the tunneling magnetoresistance and the antiparallel resistance reach their lowest value: TMR ($V=\pm 1$) = $0.2*TMR_0$ and the R_{AP} value is minimum. Thus, reducing the operating voltage in spintronic memristor is preferable

Chapter 4

in the design, as it increases the noise margin of the memristor in memory applications.



Figure 4.13 Antiparallel resistance for sin wave input (TMR0=2)

Figure 4.14 shows the switching delays of the spintronic memristor versus the applied voltage. The switching delay decreases with voltage increment. The designer needs to achieve a compromise between decreasing the applied voltage to increase *TMR* (*V*) and increasing it to decrease switching delay. In Figure 4.14a, a negative voltage signal is applied leading to AP-to-P switching. In Figure 4.14b, a positive voltage signal is applied leading to P-to-AP switching. The figure shows the clear asymmetry of the switching delay. At $\pm 0.4V$ for example, the AP-to-P switching requires only 29.5ns compared to 49.5ns for the P-to-AP switching.







Figure 4.14 Switching delay (a) AP to P switching (b) P to AP switching

4.3.10. Model Verification

In 2016, a paper published by Steven Lequeux et al. provided the first realization of a spintronic memristor [93]. This is the first experimental achievement of a spintronic memristor up to the author knowledge. Figure 4.15 shows a comparison between Miao Hu model and the proposed model fitting to the current-memristance relationship. The reason for choosing - 88 -

Miao Hu model for the comparison is that this spintronic memristor is a TMR-based memristor. The proposed model shows better fitting to the experimental data. The first reason behind this is the clear voltage dependency of the TMR and thus the antiparallel resistance. The second reason is the ability to use two different critical currents for the positive and negative voltages in the proposed model. It should be noted that some values in Table 1 do not apply to this fitting. The values that are used in this fitting are $R_P = 37 \Omega$, and TMR=0.84. The device dimensions are (1000*100*2.2 nm3), which fit the provided experimental data.



Figure 4.15 Resistance as a function of current for the experimental data, Miao Hu model, and the proposed model

4.3.11. Memristor-based memory cell

The memristor-based memories might be the most promising application for spintronic memristors. The memory read/write operations are discussed here as a case study of the proposed model. The read/write circuit used here is provided in [15], and it is shown in Figure 4.16. The - 89 -

write operation is simply achieved by applying a positive pulse of 1V to write logic '0', or a pulse of -IV to write logic '1'. Figure 4.17 shows the simulation results of the write operation.



Figure 4.16 Yenpo R/W circuit [15].



Figure 4.17 Write operation (a) Logic '0'((b) Logic '1'.

The simulation results of the read operation for one cycle is shown in Figure 4.18. The theory of the circuit depends on applying a read voltage signal of equivalent positive and negative pulses to cancel the effect of each - 90 -

other. The output data is sensed during the positive reading pulse and latched at the output until the next cycle. Figure 4.19 shows the memristor's state and the data out for successive reading pulses. As shown in the figure, there is no disturbance of the stored data. The reason is that the reading pulse is chosen to be narrower than the lowest pulse width that could produce a change in the memristor state. The amplitude of the reading pulse is $V_m=0.5V$ at which the memristor need about 52ns for a full AP-to-P switching. The no. of DWs is N=43. Thus, for only one DW switch, a pulse duration of 1.21ns is needed which is clearly larger than the reading pulse duration. Thus, there is no data disturbance for multiple reading cycles.



Figure 4.18 Read operation one cycle (a) Logic '0' (b) Logic '1'.



5 7.5 12.5 2.5 10 15 2.5 5 7.5 10 12.5 15 7.5 2.5 12,5 0 5 10 15 Time (ns) (b)

Figure 4.19 Read operation successive cycles (a) Logic '0' (b) Logic '1'.

4.3.12. LLGS Model Summary

The LLGS model is the first model that represents the dynamical behavior of the spintronic memristor using the LLGS equation. Chen, Miao Hu, and TFA models only take one term of a modified LLG equation and deduced approximate DW speed from it. The proposed model uses suitable equations to model different types of spintronic memristors like GMR/TMR, CPP/CIP, and PPA/IPA as a function of their physical parameters. The proposed model is also the first model that includes the TMR/GMR voltage dependence in spintronic memristor modeling. The model includes thermal dependent parameters to model the effect of thermal fluctuations on the device's behavior. Both voltage-dependent and thermal-dependent effects are of a great importance in studying the actual behavior of spintronic memristors in circuit design. The model is verified to an experimental data of a spintronic memristor, and it showed much better fitting compared to existing models. A case study memristor-based read/write memory circuit is used to verify the model. The model is written using Verilog-A, and it is integrated with SPECTRE-based CAD tool.

4.4. Comparison of Spintronic Memristor Models

Table 4.2 provides a comparison between previous models and the proposed model. Unlike previous models, which partially depends on a modified LLG equation, the proposed uses the LLGS equation to model the dynamical behavior of the spintronic memristor. The proposed model uses physic equations to model different types of spintronic memristors as a function of its physical parameters. The proposed voltage and thermal dependent parameters. This can be used efficiently to study the effect of thermal fluctuations of spintronic memristors. However, the proposed model needs a longer simulation time, as it requires smaller time step to

keep up with the fast changes in the magnetization vector when it is modeled by the LLGS equation.

Model	Chen Model [36]	Miao Hu Model [8]	TFA Model	LLGS Model
LLGS-based	partially	partially	partially	Yes
Valid for different geometries	No	No	No	Yes
Material parameters' dependence	partially	partially	partially	Yes
Thermal dependence	No	No	partially	Yes
TMR/GMR voltage dependence	No	No	No	Yes
Simulation time	Shorter	Shorter	Shorter	Longer

TABLE 4.2 Comparison Between Previous Models and The Proposed Models.

Chapter 5: Memory Design Using Memristors

The memory applications might be the most important memristor applications. The inherent non-volatility of the memristor combined with its high scalability make the memristor technology a strong candidate for the future of memory circuit design. In this chapter, an analysis of spintronic memristor properties using the TFA model is provided. The memory design is also investigated using this model. Then, a read/write circuit that offers a sensational area reduction is proposed and compared with existing read/write circuits.

5.1. Properties of Memristors Using (TFA) Model

The memristance of the spintronic memristor can be written as a function of q by solving equations (2.15), (2.16), and (2.17) for a driving DC current large enough that $J>J_{cr}$ to be as follows:

$$M(q) = R_L + (R_H - R_L) \left(\frac{w_0}{D} + \frac{\Gamma_v}{h \, z \, D} q\right)$$
(5.1)

where $R_L=r_L.D$, $R_H=r_H.D$ are the memristor's overall ON and OFF resistances, w_0 is the initial value of the state variable.

Thus, the state variable can also be written as a function of q as follows:

$$w(q) = w_0 + \frac{\Gamma_v}{hz} q \tag{5.2}$$

Assume that the charge required to increase *w* to its upper limit (*w*=*D*) equals Q_{UP} , and the charge required to decrease *w* to its lower limit (*w*=0) equals Q_{LOW} . Then Q_{UP} and Q_{LOW} can be calculated as follows:

$$Q_{UP} = \frac{hz}{\Gamma_{\nu}} * (D - W_0) \tag{5.3}$$

$$Q_{LOW} = -\frac{hz}{\Gamma_{\nu}} w_0 \tag{5.4}$$

Thus, the normalized state variable x=w/D can be written as follows:

$$x(q) = \frac{w(q)}{D} = \begin{cases} 1 & ; q \ge Q_{UP} \\ \left(\frac{w_0}{D} + \frac{\Gamma_v q}{h z D}\right) & ; Q_{LOW} < q < Q_{UP} \\ 0 & ; q \le Q_{LOW} \end{cases}$$
(5.5)

5.1.1. Write Operation:

During the writing process, the designer ensures that $J>J_{cr}$. The charge needed to write a logic "0" starting from initial state $w_0=0$, or logic '1' starting from $w_0=D$ (Full Switch) is:

$$Q_{write 0} = \frac{\Gamma_v D}{h z} \tag{5.6}$$

$$Q_{write \ 1} = -\frac{\Gamma_v D}{h \ z} \tag{5.7}$$

Equations (5.6) and (5.7) are used to calculate the minimum time duration needed for the writing process under a specific driving DC current I_A by substituting with $Q_{write} = I_A.T_{WRITE}$.

$$T_{WRITE} = \frac{\Gamma_{\nu}}{h z} . D. I_A \tag{5.8}$$

5.1.2. Read Operation $(J < J_{cr})$

The read operation is a quite difficult operation in memristor-based memory cells, as we need to apply read voltage or current without *disturbing* the stored data. This problem is even more difficult in case of spintronic memristor than solid-state memristor because the latter one has a much higher ON/OFF ratio and thus much higher R_H also. In case of the spintronic memristor, the designer wants to make a compromise between avoiding data disturbance and gaining enough voltage difference to be used

with the sense amplifier state. Thus, this operation might be done using current densities higher or lower than the critical value J_{cr} . In case of using $J>J_{cr}$, equations derived so far can be used to estimate the data disturbance (Δw) .

The second method is to use $J < J_{cr}$ which is the case discussed here. For the Wang model, this case does not cause any disturbance in the stored data. However, using TFA model shows that there is a disturbance caused by thermal fluctuation should be taken into consideration.

In spintronic memristors, there is no external applied field (H(t)=0), and $\tau_{P\to AP}$ is reduced to :

$$\tau_{P \to AP} = \tau_0 \exp\left[\Delta\left(1 - \frac{I_{read}}{I_{cr}}\right)\right]$$
(5.9)

where $\Delta = (K_U V/K_B T)$ is considered as a *stability factor* to the memory circuit.



Figure 5.1 Normalized Neel-Brown relaxation time vs current density of reading pulses normalized to Jcr.

Figure 5.1 shows the normalized Neel-Brown relaxation time $\tau_{P \to AP}$ as a fuction of the reading pulses current density normalized to J_{cr} .

For a given design factor $P_{failure}$, let that:

$$f_P = ln\left(\frac{1}{1 - P_{failure}}\right) \tag{5.10}$$

then

$$t_P = f_P \tau_{P \to AP} = f_P \tau_0 \exp\left[\Delta\left(1 - \frac{J_{read}}{J_{cr}}\right)\right]$$
(5.11)

and

$$J_{eff} = \frac{J_{cr}\tau_0}{t_P} = \frac{J_{cr}}{f_P \exp\left[\Delta\left(1 - \frac{J_{read}}{J_{cr}}\right)\right]}$$
(5.12)

The read disturbance Δw can be calculated by integrating (2.13):

$$\int_{w0}^{w} dw = \int_{0}^{T_{read}} \Gamma_{v} J_{eff} dt$$
(5.13)

$$\Delta w = (w - w0) = \frac{\Gamma_{v J_{cr}}}{f_P} \int_0^{T_{read}} e^{\left(-\Delta \left(1 - \frac{J_{read}}{J_{cr}}\right)\right)} dt \qquad (5.14)$$

Thus, for a given factor $\frac{J_{read}}{J_{cr}}$, read disturbance equals:

$$\Delta w = \frac{\Gamma_{v \ J_{cr}}}{f_P} \ e^{\left(-\Delta \left(1 - \frac{J_{read}}{J_{cr}}\right)\right)} . T_{read}$$
(5.15)

Equation (5.15) shows an important design consideration; the read disturbance increases exponentially with the reading current for $J < J_{cr}$.

Using the previous equation to plot the relation between the read time and the read disturbance for different $\frac{J_{read}}{J_{cr}}$ gives Figure 5.2 and Figure 5.3.



Figure 5.2 Effective current density (Jeff) versus normalized read current density to Jcr for different temperature values.



Figure 5.3 Effective current density (Jeff) versus normalized read current density to Jcr for different Pfailure values.

5.2. Proposed R/W Circuit

The Read/Write circuit in spintronic memristor memories needs a careful design to achieve larger sensed voltage difference, lower data disturbance, and smaller area as possible.

Figure 5.4 shows two realizations of Read/Write circuits proposed by Yenpo et al. [15] and El-Shamy et al. [47]. For both R/W circuits, the writing process is achieved simply by applying a DC write voltage for enough time T_{WRITE} to ensure full switching.



(a)



(b)

Figure 5.4 Two possible Read/Write circuits realizations (a) Yenpo R/W circuit[15] (b) El-Shamy R/W circuit [47].

For the R/W circuits shown in Figure 5.4a, the read process is achieved by applying the read pulse shown in Figure 5.5. The read pulse consists of two opposite polarities pulses with the same amplitude and width in order to compensate the read disturbance of each other. However, in case of pulse widths mismatch, a small read disturbance occurs which means that this circuit needs a periodic refreshment after a specific number of reading cycles. The reading process is achieved by comparing the voltage V_X which is a voltage divider between the memristor's resistance and a resistor $R_X = (R_H + R_L)/2$, with a reference voltage $V_{ref} = V_{read}/2$. The main disadvantage of this circuit is the large area required to fabricate the resistors.



Figure 5.5 Read pulse when reading (a) logic '0' (w=D) (b) logic '1' (w=0) [15]

The second R/W circuit is shown in Figure 5.4b. This circuit was originally proposed for solid-state memristor in order to avoid the date disturbance of Yenpo R/W circuit. Note that this circuit is equivalent to the convert stage only. However, due to the small R_H of spintronic memristors compared to solid-state memristors, this advantage cannot be achieved in case of spintronic memristors as will be shown in the simulation results.

Figure 5.6 shows the proposed R/W circuit. In this circuit, the resistor R_X of Yenpo circuit is replaced by two parallel memristors (M_2 , M_3) and they are kept in the OFF state. Thus, the equivalent resistance of M_2 and M_3 equals ($R_H/2$). Despite that, this value is slightly lower than R_X , it can give similar operation without any problems. Similarly, the two resistors of the sense stage are also replaced by two memristors (M_4 and M_5). This circuit works in the same manner of Yenpo R/W circuit. During floating and write operation, memristors (M_2 , M_3 , M_4 , and M_5) are connected to a voltage (V_{DD}) to prevent accumulated mismatches that occur in the read operation. Memristor M_1 represents the memory cell, and it still affected by the read pulse mismatch like in Yenpo R/W circuit. The main advantage of this circuit is the great reduction in the circuit's area, as the memristor's area is much smaller than its equivalent resistor.



Figure 5.6 Proposed Read/Write Circuit.

5.2.1. Simulation Results

Memristor parameters are taken from [36]. The ON/OFF ratio is adjusted to 5, which is the largest ratio achieved in spintronic memristors

- 102 -

up to the author's knowledge [11]. The memristor dimensions are $(D=200nm, z=10nm, h=70A^{\circ})$. The thermal stability factor $\Delta=50$.

Figure 5.7 shows the equivalent circuit of the R/W circuit during the write operation. The write operation is simply achieved by applying a positive pulse of IV to write logic '0', or a pulse of -IV to write logic '1'. Figure 5.8 shows the simulation results of the write operation.



Figure 5.7 Equivalent R/W Circuit during the write operation.



Figure 5.8 Write operation (a) Logic '0' (w/D=1) (b) Logic '1' (w/D=0).

Figure 5.9 shows the equivalent R/W circuit during the read operation. The simulation results of the read operation for one cycle is shown in Figure 5.10. In the case of w/D=1, the negative pulse compensates the positive pulse disturbance. If w/D=0, the first negative pulse cannot reduce

w/D as it is at minimum limit. However, this disturbance is not accumulative as the next read cycle (w/D) > 0 and thus next negative and positive pulses compensate each other. The data out is sensed during the positive reading pulse, thus the output is valid after the rising edge of the reading pulse as shown in Figure 5.10b. Figure 5.11 shows the memristor's state and the data out for successive reading pulses. As shown in the figure, there is no data disturbance as long as there is no pulse match in the reading voltage signal.



Figure 5.9 Equivalent R/W circuit during Reading operation.



Figure 5.10 Read operation one cycle (a) Logic '0' (w/D=1) (b) Logic '1' (w/D=0). - 104 -

Chapter 5



Figure 5.11 Read operation successive cycles (a) Logic '0' (b) Logic '1'.

5.2.2. Read Disturbance

The read disturbance is an important concern, as it defines the maximum allowed successive read cycles after which the data must be refreshed. Assume that the allowable margin for logic '1' is w/D: 0 to 0.4, and for logic '0' is w/D: 0.6 to 1. The effect of the reading pulse mismatch is similar in the Yenpo and the proposed R/W circuits.

Figure 5.12 shows the simulation results of successive reading cycles using El-Shamy R/W circuit and reading a logic '1'. In contrast with the results of this circuit using solid-state memristors, the stored data is disturbed after only 40 cycles. The high resistance state R_H of solid-state memristors is about 200 K Ω , and the voltage drop of the forward biased diode is about 0.7 V. The read current I_{READ} passes through memristors M_1 and M_2 , where M_2 is kept always at R_H . In the worst case, if M_1 resistance equals $R_L=100\Omega$, the current I_{READ} becomes:

$$I_{READ} = \frac{V_{READ} - V_D}{R_H} \approx \frac{0.3}{200 * 10^3} = 1.5 \ \mu A \tag{5.16}$$

- 105 -

This is a small value and thus no disturbance occurs in solid-state memristor. On the other hand, for the spintronic memristor; $R_L=1K\Omega$, and $R_H = 5 \ K\Omega$. $I_{READ} \approx 0.3/6 \ K = 50 \ \mu A$. This current is more than 30 times of the equivalent one in the solid-state memristor, which causes the significant read disturbance as shown in Figure 5.12. Note that this technique uses a positive read pulse only, which means that there is no disturbance in logic '0' successive reading.



Figure 5.12 Read disturbance in El-Shamy R/W Circuit.

Figure 5.13 shows the read disturbance in the proposed circuit for a 10% pulse mismatch. The data is lost after 60 cycles. The logic '0' is not shown here also because the memristor becomes in the higher resistance state, which reduces the read disturbance. Thus, reading logic '1' is the worst-case condition.



Figure 5.13 Read disturbance in the proposed R/W circuit for a 10% pulse mismatch.

Table 5.1 concludes the comparison between the three R/W techniques. The sense amplifier stage for El-Shamy is assumed the same as in Yenpo R/W circuit. The write power is the same in the three R/W because they are identical in the write operation. The comparator used in El-Shamy R/W circuit is twice the area of the compactor used in the other two techniques because the sensed voltage difference in El-Shamy is small. The small ON/OFF ratio provided a voltage difference of 60 mV (175 mV for Logic '1', and 115 mV for logic '0'). The resistors used in the sense stage should be reduced as possible to reduce their area. However, the tolerance of the N-diffusion resistor should be observed. For this design, $R=0.5 \ K\Omega$ is chosen. The convert stage area of the proposed circuit is $1:10^5$ of Yenpo R/W and 1:500 of El-Shamy R/W circuits.

Comparison Aspect	Dynamical [15]	El-Shamy [47]	Proposed
Power write '1'(µW)	270	270	270
Power write '0'(µW)	290	290	290
Power read '1'(µW)	56	260	52
Power read '0'(µW)	88	290	90
Convert stage area (µm ²)	800	4	0.008*
SA stage area (μm ²)	277	294	13
Sensed ∆V (mV)	370	60	355
N cycles before refreshment	60	40	60

TABLE 5.1 Read/Write circuits comparison

*The Memristor area is estimated as (Area=Length*Width)

5.3. Design Insights

These are some design insights that can help the designer of memristive based memory circuits:

- The memristor can replace the resistor if we can make sure that the current moves in one direction or will compensate itself in two directions. This idea can reduce the area significantly.
- The circuit that works fine for a specific type of memristors does not necessarily give the same advantages to other memristor types as proved in El-Shamy read/write circuit. Thus, a separate analysis for each type is always required and this also shows the importance of having dedicated models for each type.
- The read process is a very challenging process in memristors especially for those of small ON/OFF ratios such as spintronic

memristors. Spintronic memristors with higher ON/OFF would be of a great benefit in memristive based memory design.

Chapter 6: Performance Comparison of Memristor types for main applications

6.1. Introduction

In this chapter, a comparative study of different memristor types for some well-known circuits/topologies is provided. The aim of this chapter is to study the effect of memristor's fabrication and properties on its performance and circuit design. Thus, this can help us to choose between different memristor types based on the application and the required design criteria.

The memristor types were discussed in Chapter 2. Table 2.1 provided an important comparison between memristor types for their main parameters and specifications. This chapter tries to answer the question of how could these specifications affect the design of memristor-based circuits and main topologies, which provides the designer some important design insights that help him to choose the best memristor type that can give the best performance and meets the main design requirements. It is important to note that there are a wide variety of memristor fabrication types which makes it difficult to accurately define the exact parameter values of each type. However, the values that are used in this study provides acceptable average values of each fabrication type and can be a good reference for this comparison.

Table 6.1 repeat important properties mentioned in Table 2.1, add the model parameters' values that are used for different memristor types

Chapter 6Performance Comparison of Memristor types for mainapplications

through the simulations of this study and refers to some references with experimental data that justify the choice of these values.

The model that is used in this comparative study is the non-linear iondrift model using Biolek window function [29]. The reason for not using the proposed models in Chapter 4 for this comparison is that these models are dedicated for spintronic memristor only. Biolek model is suitable for all memristor types with an acceptable degree of accuracy. The window function parameter P=40 for all memristor types. The rest of the model parameters are provided in Table 6.1. For all memristor types, we assumed that they have the same area. Thus, the area of each compared circuit/topology is the same and not included in the comparison.

Memristor Type	Resistive	Spintronic	Polymeric	Ferroelect ric	Manganit e
ON/OFF Ratio	2000	5	100	300	100
Access Time (ns)	~10	~10	~25	~10	~100
Ron	100Ω	1ΚΩ	10KΩ	150KΩ	50
Roff	200ΚΩ	5ΚΩ	1MΩ	46MΩ	5kΩ
μv	1.00E-05	3.00E-08	2.00E-07	1.50E-07	5.00E-08
Reference s	[2, 94]	[93]	[95, 96]	[24, 97]	[25, 98]

 Table 6.1 Comparison of main parameters for different memristor types using Biolek

 Model.

The circuits/topologies discussed in this chapter are not divided into categories such as analog, memory, and neuromorphic applications. Many memristor-based circuits/topologies can be used in different applications. For example, the crossbar memristor topologies 1T1M, 1D1M, and 0T1M
are used in almost all memristor applications. That is why these circuits/topologies are not categorized.

6.2. Memristor-based Oscillators

Figure 6.1 shows an example of a relaxation oscillator proposed in [99]. The memristor in this circuit substitutes the capacitor as it keeps increasing and decreasing its state variable to provide the required sustained oscillation. The input voltage moves between the two limiting values V_p and V_n , and their corresponding memristances are R_{mn} , and R_{mp} . The values of R_{mn} , and R_{mp} must lie between the lowest and highest memristance values R_{ON} , and R_{OFF} . For equal absolute values of V_{OH} and V_{OL} , the cycle time (T) equals [99]:

$$T = \frac{\left(R_{mp}^2 - R_{mn}^2\right) + 2 R_a (R_{mp} - R_{mn})}{2 K' V_{OL}} \tag{6.1}$$

where K' equals:

$$K' = \mu_V R_{ON} \frac{(R_{OFF} - R_{ON})}{D^2}$$
(6.2)



Figure 6.1 Memristor-based reactance-less oscillator (a) Circuit (b) transition between different operating points [99].

Chapter 6Performance Comparison of Memristor types for mainapplications

From (6.1) and (6.2), it is clear that the operating frequency of this oscillator is inversely proportional to R_{ON} , the ON/OFF ratio of the memristor, and the mobility μ_V .

Figure 6.2 shows the simulation results of the oscillator using the reference values provided in **[99]** ($R_{ON}=100 \ \Omega$, and $R_{OFF}=38 \ K\Omega$, $\mu_V =1 \times 10^{-10} \ \text{cm}^2 \text{s}^{-1} \text{V}^{-1}$). The resultant frequency of this circuit equals 3.51 Hz.

However, when using the approximate parameter values of different memristor types, they give much higher frequencies, which means that the practical applications of this oscillator should be changed or the design must be modified to achieve such low frequencies. Figure 6.3 shows the simulation results of the oscillator using the resistive memristor. The operating frequency is about 149 MHz which is in a completely different scale than the example provided in [99].



Figure 6.2 The simulation results of the memristor-based reactance-less oscillator $(R_{ON}=100 \ \Omega, \text{ and } R_{OFF}=38 \text{ K}\Omega, \mu_V=1x10\text{-}10 \text{ cm}2\text{s}\text{-}1\text{V}\text{-}1).$



Figure 6.3 Memristor-based reactance-less oscillator using the resistive memristor.

Table 6.2 provides a comparison between memristor types when used in the reactance-less oscillator of Figure 6.1. The table shows that the resistive memristor can provide a wide range of frequencies up to $16.67 \ TH_z$ benefiting from its high ON/OFF ratio which gives a high K'value and thus a high frequency as given in (6.1), and (6.2). The lowest possible frequency is $f_{min}=3.65 \ MH_z$ using the ferroelectric memristor due to its high R_{OFF} value. The oscillating frequency f_{osc} is calculated at the average R_a value between $R_{a,max}$, and $R_{a,min}$ as given in the table. All these values are calculated based on the mathematical derivation provided in [73].

Table 6.2Comparison between different memristor types for the parameters of Affanreactance-less oscillator.

Memristor	Resistive	Spintronic	Polymeric	Ferroelectric	Manganite
Туре					
f _{osc} (Hz)	149.6M	56.5M	56.4M	14.5M	14.1M
f _{max} (Hz)	16.667T	100M	16.5G	38.15G	4.16G
f _{min} (Hz)	37.5M	36M	14.85M	3.65M	3.75M
$\mathbf{R}_{\mathrm{a}}\left(\Omega ight)$	33.38K	1.33K	171K	7.7M	860
$R_{a,max}(\Omega)$	66.67K	1.67K	333K	15.33M	1.67K
$R_{a,min}(\Omega)$	100	1K	10K	150K	50

Chapter 6Performance Comparison of Memristor types for mainapplications

A.G. Mosad presented an improved memristor-based relaxation oscillator which offers higher frequency and wider tuning range than the previous reactance-less oscillator [73]. The circuit is shown in Figure 6.4 and the tracing that describes its behavior.



Figure 6.4 Memristor-based improved reactance-less oscillator (a) Circuit. (b) tracing of the circuit [73].

The idea of the circuit is connecting the negative terminal of the memristor to inverted output instead of to ground. This allows using a single supply voltage V_{DD} with the ground instead of two supply voltages of $\pm V_{DD}$.

Figure 6.5 shows the output of the circuit using the basic values provided in [73]. The same note that was mentioned in the previous circuit also exists here as the operating frequency is much lower than the achieve values when applying different memristor types. Thus, these circuits cannot be used for very low-frequency applications such as biomedical applications. Figure 6.6 shows the simulation results of the improved reactance-less oscillator using the manganite memristor. In this circuit, we used an initial state variable far from the desired value to achieve oscillation

to prove that the oscillation can still be achieved regardless the initial state of the memristor. The operating frequency is about 700 MHz which as mentioned much higher than the proposed values in [73].



Figure 6.5 Memristor-based reactance-less oscillator



Figure 6.6 Simulation results (a) Vi (b) Memristor state variable (c) Vout.

Chapter 6Performance Comparison of Memristor types for mainapplications

Table 6.3 provides a comparison between different memristor types for the improved oscillator circuit. The improved circuit provides a wider frequency ranges with a minimum value of $f_{min} = 2.3$ MHz using the ferroelectric memristor and a maximum value of $f_{max} = 17.31$ THz for the resistive memristor.

Memristor	Resistive	Spintronic	Polymeric	Ferroelectric	Manganite
Туре					
f _{osc} (Hz)	7.6G	2.87G	2.87G	737.8M	717.4M
f _{max} (Hz)	17.31T	103.8M	17.13G	39.62G	4.32G
f _{min} (Hz)	23.56M	22.62M	9.33M	2.3M	2.36M
$\mathbf{R}_{\mathrm{a}}\left(\Omega ight)$	33.38K	1.33K	171K	7.7M	860
$\mathbf{R}_{a,max}(\Omega)$	600K	15K	3M	138M	15K
$R_{a,min}(\Omega)$	100	1K	10K	150K	50

 Table 6.3 Comparison between different memristor types for Affan Improved

 Oscillator Circuit.

6.3. Memristor-based Ratioed Logic (MRL) Circuits

The memristor ratioed logic (MRL) was proposed in [65]. The concept of this logic type depends on the idea that the memristor resistivity increases when a current pass in a specific direction and decreases when current passes in the reverse direction. Thus, if enough time is allowed the memristor eventually becomes in the ON state or the OFF state depending on the current direction. After that, the output value is calculated depending on the potential divider between different memristors. Figure 6.7 shows the schematic of AND gate and OR gate. Those circuits are the basic circuit for all MRL logic. A static inverter must be used to achieve any inverting

function. It should be noted that there are other types of memristor-based logic such as memristor-aided logic (MAGIC) [41] and Memristor-based material implication (IMPLY) logic [61]. However, the MRL type is more reliable with acceptable noise margins and fewer design constraints.



Figure 6.7 Schematic of MRL gates (a) OR gate (b) AND gate [65].

Figure 6.8 and Figure 6.9 show the simulation results of both the 2-input NAND and 5-input OR gate respectively. The performance of these gates depends on the speed of the memristor. Also, memristors with higher resistance values can provide lower currents and power consumptions at the cost of the device speed. The 2-input NAND gate uses the and gate shown in Figure 6.7 followed by a static CMOS inverter. The 0.13 μm CMOS technology is used and a supply voltage of 1.2 V. The 5-input OR gate is used to show the effect of the number of inputs on the performance. As will be shown, memristors with high ON/OFF ratio does not suffer any problems due to a large number of inputs. However, memristor with low ON/OFF ratio cannot function properly under a large number of inputs.



Figure 6.8 Simulation results of inputs, output, and state variables for a 2-input NAND gate using ferroelectric memristor.



Figure 6.9 Simulation results of inputs, and output, for a 5-input OR gate using the manganite memristor.

Another important design issue is to cascade stages of MRL logic without separating it with static CMOS inverter. To study the effect of cascading MRL logic, the full adder shown in Figure 6.10 is investigated. The circuit uses two cascaded stages of MRL to the *SUM* output and four cascaded stages for the C_{OUT} output.



Figure 6.10 Simulation results of inputs, and outputs, for a full adder using the resistive memristor [65].

Figure 6.11 shows the simulation results of the full adder using resistive memristor. Cascading logic stages reduces the logic swing from the full swing $(0, V_{DD})$ to $(0.2 V_{DD}, 0.5 V_{DD})$.

The logic swing in the MRL is not constant, and the provided values are the worst case values. This problem can be solved by using static inverters at the end of MRL logic.



Figure 6.11 Simulation results of inputs, and outputs, for a full adder using the resistive memristor.

However, as long as the number of cascaded stages increases, the logic swing keeps reducing until a point at which the circuit fails to provide distinguished output levels for logic 1 from logic 0 states. Thus, for the MRL logic, the maximum allowable number of cascaded stages must be calculated to ensure proper operation. Figure 6.12 shows another example of a full adder circuit using polymeric memristors. The circuit gives nearly the same logic swing, but it has a slower response.



Figure 6.12 Simulation results of inputs, and outputs, for a full adder using the polymeric memristor.

Table 6.4 summaries the comparison between different memristor types for MRL Logic from the propagation delay point of view. It should be noted that for the full adder circuit, the propagation delay is measured to the middle point between the worst case values of logic 1 and logic 0. For the spintronic memristor, the 5-input OR and the 5-input AND gates failed to provide two distinguished levels for logic 0 and logic 1. The reason for this is the low ON/OFF ratio of spintronic memristors which greatly limits the use of this type in MRL logic and even all other types of memristor-based logic circuits. An interesting note in the ferroelectric memristor-based MRL logic is the great difference between the propagation delay of the Chapter 6 applications

AND/OR gates and the NAND/NOR gates. The simulation shows a very narrow overshoot current tunnel through the inverter input (MOS gates), and this overshoot diminish slower when the memristors have higher resistances. Thus, for the ferroelectric memristor which have the highest ON and OFF resistances, this current delays switching from high to low. This effect exists in other memristor types, but its effect is considerably smaller. The MRL using manganite memristor is slower than other types due to the slower switching of the manganite memristor as provided in Table 6.1.

Memristor Type	Resistive	Spintronic	Polymeric	Ferroelectric	Manganite
2-in AND	8.4 ns	8.3 ns	21 ns	18.4 ns	82 ns
2-in OR	8.4 ns	8.34 ns	21 ns	8.4 ns	85 ns
2-in NAND	10 ns	10 ns	27.9 ns	82 ns	95 ns
2-in NOR	8 ns	6.6 ns	20 ns	119 ns	72 ns
5-in AND	8.76 ns	failed	22 ns	18.87 ns	100 ns
5-in OR	8.77 ns	failed	22 ns	10 ns	100 ns
Full Adder	23 ns	7.6 ns	57 ns	240 ns	failed

Table 6.4 Comparison between different memristor types for MRL Logic (Speed).

Table 6.5 provides a comparison between different memristor types for MRL Logic from the power consumption point of view. For memristor types with low memristances, the power consumption is higher. For memristors with higher memristances, the power consumption of the MRL gates is much lower and the static CMOS inverter's power consumption is dominant like in the ferroelectric memristor case.

Memristor	Resistive	Spintronic	Polymeric	Ferroelectric	Manganite
Туре					
2-in AND	3.6 µW	120 µW	0.69 µW	15.57 nW	124.2 μW
2-in OR	3.6 µW	76.76 μW	0.69 µW	15.4 nW	124.2 μW
2-in NAND	11.34 μW	127.3 μW	4.28 μW	21.5 µW	142.6 μW
2-in NOR	13 µW	78.22 μW	4.05 μW	12.71 μW	136.2 μW
5-in AND	16.9 µW	failed	3.25 μW	73.25 nW	540.9 μW
5-in OR	16.4 µW	failed	3.19 µW	72.5 nW	594.1 μW
Full Adder	65 µW	450 µW	46.38 μW	53.32 μW	failed

 Table 6.5
 Comparison between different memristor types for MRL Logic (Power Consumption).

Table 6.6 provides a comparison between different memristor types for MRL worst case logic swing. The logic swing of MRL logic is not only important for noise margins, but also for ensuring proper operation as the logic swing keeps reducing with direct cascading of logic stages. For memristor types with high ON/OFF ratio, the one stage logic can achieve a full swing. The spintronic memristor is the only type that could not achieve a full swing in the one-stage logic as it has a very small ON/OFF ratio compared to other types. On the other hand, for the full adder which has cascaded logic gates of two and four stages, all memristor types suffer from logic swing reduction. The manganite memristor has the lowest R_{ON}, and thus it failed to provide two distinguished voltage levels for logic 1 and logic 0 states. As a conclusion, both the spintronic and the manganite memristors need careful design to ensure proper operation. The resistive memristor has the best characteristics of acceptable logic swing, higher speed, and intermediate power consumption.

Memristor	Resistive	Spintronic	Polymeric	Ferroelectric	Manganite
Туре					
1 Stage	Full Swing	(0.2 V,	Full Swing	Full Swing	Full Swing
(ex: 5-in	(0 V,	1.2 V)	(0 V,	(0 V,	(0 V,
OR)	1.2 V)	AND	1.2 V)	1.2 V)	1.2 V)
ON)		(0 V, 1 V)			
		OR			
2&4 Stages	(0.24V,	(0.41 V,	(0.25 V,	(0.25 V,	failed
(ex: Full	0.6 V)	0.5 V)	0.6 V)	0.6 V)	
Adder)					

Table 6.6 Comparison between different memristor types for MRL Logic worst case $(V_{LOW}\,,V_{HIGH}) \mbox{ where } V_{DD}\mbox{=} 1.2 \mbox{ V}.$

6.4. Memristor Crossbar Arrays

For most applications, memristors need to be connected in array form. Thus, studying the crossbar memristor arrays is an essential step for applications such as memories, and neuromorphic systems. The crossbar arrays can be formed using only a memristor at each cross-point which is called (0T1M) crossbar array, or one diode and one memristor (1D1M), or one transistor and one memristor (1T1M). The first type – 0T1M- provides the highest density which is an essential requirement for any application and especially for memristor-based memory circuits. However, as the memristor is a two-terminal device, undesired paths called *sneak paths* can occur besides the selected path, and it is unavoidable in this crossbar array type. The aim of this section is to study the effect of sneak paths on the crossbar arrays of each memristor type. One solution to avoid the problem of sneak paths is to use the 1D1M crossbar arrays. In this type, if there are N diodes in one sneak path, then this path needs a voltage of $N.V_{D.ON}$ to turn these diodes ON. Achieving this voltage level is usually difficult, which prevent the sneak path from affecting the circuit operation. The second solution is to use the 1T1M crossbar array which completely prevents the

sneak paths by turning off MOSFETs in undesired paths. However that these solutions avoid the effect of sneak paths, the price in density reduction is high. The 0T1M crossbar can achieve up to 93% less area than the 1T1M crossbar arrays [100]. Thus, the study of sneak paths effect in 0T1M crossbars is important to see if the circuit can operate properly with the sneak paths or not.

6.4.1. The 0T1M Crossbar Arrays

Figure 6.13 shows a simple example of a 5x5 memristor crossbar. The reading operation is performed by applying a reading pulse V_R and sensing the output voltage V_{OUT} that comes from the potential divider between the selected memristor and a load resistance R_L . Figure 6.13a shows the ideal case where there is only the selected current path. In this case, the output voltage is calculated as follows:

$$V_{OUT,ideal} = V_R \, \frac{R_L}{R_L + R_M} \tag{6.3}$$

However, as shown in Figure 6.13b, some undesired current paths might occur if the all the memristors in each of these current paths are in the ON state. These current paths are called sneak paths and they add parallel paths with an equivalent parallel resistance R_{SP} to the main memristance of the selected memristor. Thus, the real equation of the output voltage becomes:

$$V_{OUT,sneak} = V_R \frac{R_L}{R_L + (R_M / / R_{SP})}$$
(6.4)

The effect of the sneak paths can be considerably large, especially if the memristor is in the OFF state and the ON/OFF ratio is large. In this case, the sneak path resistance R_{SP} becomes the dominant resistance as it is much smaller than the memristance of the selected memristor R_M .



Figure 6.13 The reading current path through 0T1M memristor crossbar (a) Ideal case without sneak paths (b) Real case example with the dashed lines are undesired current paths (sneak paths) [46].

The design of the 0T1M memristor crossbars requires a smart choice of the reading pulse V_R and the load resistance R_L . The reading pulse should use an identical positive and negative pulses with narrow pulse widths as shown in Figure 6.14. The narrow pulse width ensures a small disturbance to the state variable (x = w/D; $0 \le x \le 1$) of the selected memristor, and the negative pulse prevents accumulated drifts to the state variable by compensating the effect of the positive pulse. The output voltage is sensed during the positive reading pulse. The proper choice of the load resistance R_L can help in reducing the sneak path effect. Let's take an example of the resistive memristor where $R_{ON} = 100 \ \Omega$, and $R_{OFF} = 200 \ K\Omega$. Assuming that the positive reading pulse $V_R=1$ V, and the equivalent sneak paths resistance is $R_{SP}=5*R_{ON}=500 \ \Omega$. The first choice is to make the load resistance $R_L=R_{OFF}$. From (6.3) and (6.4), the output voltages with and without the sneak path effect are as follows:

Logic 0 (
$$x=0, R_M=R_{OFF}$$
): $V_{OUT,ideal} = 0.5 V$, $V_{OUT,sneak} = 0.9975 V$ (6.5.a)

Logic 1 (x=1, $R_M=R_{ON}$): $V_{OUT,ideal} = 1 V$, $V_{OUT,sneak} = 1 V$ (6.5.b) - 128 -

It is clear from (6.5) that this choice is a bad choice as the difference between the sensed voltage at logic 0 and logic 1 reduces from $\Delta V_{OUT,ideal} = 0.5 V$, to $\Delta V_{OUT,sneak} = 0.0025 V$. The second choice is to choose the load resistance as the average of R_{ON}, and R_{OFF} which also highly reduces ΔV_{OUT} . Thus, the third and best choice is to take the load resistance as low as possible $R_M = R_{ON}$. The output voltages with and without the sneak path effect, in this case, are as follows:

Logic 0 (
$$x=0, R_M=R_{OFF}$$
): $V_{OUT,ideal} = 0 V$, $V_{OUT,sneak} = 0.1667 V$ (6.6.a)

Logic 1 (
$$x=1, R_M=R_{ON}$$
): $V_{OUT,ideal} = 0.5 V$, $V_{OUT,sneak} = 0.5454 V$ (6.6.b)

In this case, the difference between the sensed voltage at logic 0 and logic 1 reduces from $\Delta V_{OUT,ideal} = 0.5 V$, to $\Delta V_{OUT,sneak} = 0.3787 V$, which is much better than the first and second choices.

The 0T1M memristor crossbar that is used in our comparison is an 8x8 memristor crossbar with three sneak paths. The load resistance is chosen to be $R_L=R_{ON}$ to reduce the sneak path effect. The total width of the reading signal is 0.25 ns with ± 1 V identical pulses. It is assumed that there is no pulse mismatch for simplicity.

Figure 6.14 shows the simulation results of reading a logic 0 polymeric memristor without sneak path effect. The output voltage is $V_{OUT,ideal} = 40 \text{ mV}$. The simulation is repeated with the sneak path effect, and the output is shown in Figure 6.15. The output voltage increased to $V_{OUT,sneak} = 0.43 \text{ V}$. The positive pulse increases the state variable by a very small drift and it is compensated by the negative pulse. Thus, for reading logic 0, there is no disturbance in the state variable for all memristor types ($\Delta x=0$).





Figure 6.14 Reading Logic 0 of polymeric memristor without the sneak path effect.



Figure 6.15 Reading Logic 0 of polymeric memristor with the sneak path effect

Figure 6.16 shows the simulation results of reading logic 1 for a ferroelectric memristor in the ideal case. The output voltage is

 $V_{OUT,ideal} = 0.51$ V. As the initial state variable is x=1, the positive pulse cannot increase the state variable. In the negative reading pulse, the state variable decreases causing a drift with $\Delta x = 20m$. However, this drift is compensated with the next reading pulse, and thus the drift in the state variable is not accumulative. Another reason for the noticeable drift in the state variable when reading logic 1 is the high current flow as the memristor is in the ON state (R_{ON}). In Figure 6.17, the sneak paths are added. The output increased to $V_{OUT,sneak} = 0.58$ V and the state variable drift increased to $\Delta x_{sneak} = 90m$. Despite that the drift is not accumulative, it is based on the assumption that there is no pulse mismatch in the reading signal. In the practical application, this increase in the state variable drift due to the sneak path effect reduces the allowable number of successive reading operations before a refreshment is required.



Figure 6.16 Reading Logic 1 of ferroelectric memristor without the sneak path effect.



Figure 6.17 Reading Logic 1 of ferroelectric memristor with the sneak path effect

Table 6.7 summarize the comparison between different memristor types for the 0T1M 8x8 Crossbar array. The table shows the great effect of sneak paths. For spintronic memristors, the output voltages of logic 1 and logic 0 differ by only 80 mV. The matter is even worse as the sneak paths are not determinant, and thus all these calculations are valid only for this particular example.

6.4.2. The 1D1M Crossbar Arrays

The use of the 1D1M memristor crossbar arrays is one of the main solutions to the sneak paths on the price of reducing density. The same 8x8 memristor crossbar is used here but with adding one diode to each crosspoint. Also, there is no need to use a positive and negative reading signal in this case as the diode only conducts in one direction and its voltage drop takes most of the read signal voltage. Thus, a reading signal of +1 V is directly applied here to read the data stored in any memristor.

Me	emrist	or Type	Resistive	Spintronic	Polymeric	Ferroelectric	Manganite
	t Sneak ths	Vout	0 V	0.46 V	40 mV	13 mV	40 mV
Logic 0	Withou pat	Δx	0	0	0	0	0
Reading	Sneak ths	V _{OUT(avg)}	72 mV	0.64 V	0.43 V	0.27 V	0.45 V
	With pa	Δx	0	0	0	0	0
	tt Sneak ths	Vout	0.5 V	0.62 V	0.5 V	0.51 V	0.51 V
Logic 1	Withou pa	Δx	100 m	12 m	50 m	20 m	18 m
Reading	ak paths	Vout(avg)	0.54 V	0.72 V	0.64 V	0.58 V	0.65 V
	With Sne	Δx	100 m	9 m	40 m	90 m	14 m
c 1 – logic0)		W Ithout Sneak paths	0.5 V	0.16 V	0.46 V	0.5 V	0.47 V
AVour (logi		with Sneak paths	0.47 V	0.08 V	0.21 V	0.31 V	0.2 V

	Table 6.7	Comparison	between different	memristor types	s for 0T1M	Crossbar.
--	-----------	------------	-------------------	-----------------	------------	-----------

Chapter 6Performance Comparison of Memristor types for mainapplications

Figure 6.18 shows the simulation results of reading logic 0 of resistive memristor without the sneak path effect. The output voltage is $V_{OUT} = 0.63$ *V*. Figure 6.19 shows the simulation results of reading logic 0 of resistive memristor including the sneak path effect. It gives exactly the same results. Regardless the type of memristor and whether reading logic 0 or logic 1, the 1D1M memristor crossbar arrays were able to completely cancel the sneak path effect.



Figure 6.18 Reading Logic 0 of resistive memristor without the sneak path effect.



Figure 6.19 Reading Logic 0 of resistive memristor with the sneak path effect - 134 -

6.5. Memristor Training

Another important application is memristor training/programming. Memristor programming means the ability to adjust its memristance and hence its state variable to any desired value. Memristor programming is required in many applications such as neuromorphic systems, multi-level memories, and using memristors as a programmable resistor which can be used in variable gain amplifiers. The word *training* is usually used with the neural applications. Figure 6.20 shows an example of a circuit used in training memristors [101]. The concept of the circuit is to use a simple inverting operational amplifier with the memristor that is required to be trained and a fixed resistance. The required memristance value is translated to its equivalent output voltage and inserted to the two comparators with a small precision value subtracted for the 1st comparator input and added to the 2nd comparator input.



Figure 6.20 Circuit used to program a single memristor to a target resistance [101].

When the memristance is smaller than the required value the AND gate is high indicating the need to increase its resistance. When the memristance is higher than the required value the NAND gate is high indicating the need to increase its resistance. Both increasing and decreasing are achieved through a feedback voltage pulses until reaching the target resistance. The XOR gate becomes high when reaching the target resistance indicating the end of the training process.

The first training test initialize the memristor at $x_{init} = 0.875$. The target state variable is assumed to be $x_{\text{final}} = 0.75$. This test is performed for all memristor types to study their response. The implementation of the circuit and the simulation using Virtuoso are provided in Appendix B.

Figure 6.21 shows the training of the ferroelectric memristor. As the initial state variable is larger than the target state variable, then the initial memristance is smaller than the target memristance. The first control output is zero which means that the target memristance is not larger than the initial memristance. The second control output initially equal 1 V which activate the feedback loop to increase the memristance (decrease state variable). When the memristance reaches the target value the second control output (Increase R_M) switched to 0 V and stop the feedback loop. The third control output (No Change) switches to 1 V at the same time which indicates that the target memristance is achieved. Figure 6.22 shows the training of manganite memristor for the same conditions. The time required to train the manganite memristor is larger than the time required to train the ferroelectric memristor, because the manganite memristor switching speed is slower than the ferroelectric memristor.

Chapter 6



Figure 6.21 Training ferroelectric memristor with initial memristance smaller than the target memristance.



Figure 6.22 Training Manganite memristor with initial memristance smaller than the target memristance.

Table 6.8 provide a comparison of the time required to train each memristor type for the given example ($x_{init} = 0.875$, $x_{final} = 0.75$). The - 137 -

Chapter 6 applications

manganite and polymeric memristors are the slowest in switching, so they are also the slowest in training. However, the switching speed of memristors can't explain the difference between resistive, spintronic, and ferroelectric memristors which have the same switching delay. The other factors that affect the training time are the values of μ_V , R_{ON}. Equation (2.5) shows that the rate of change of the state variable is proportional to μ_V , R_{ON}. Thus, the memristor which have higher μ_V , or higher R_{ON} can achieve faster training. The dependence on R_{ON} is not directly proportional as the increasing of R_{ON} reduces the current pass though the memristor. As a conclusion, the simulation results shows that training speed has a direct proportionality to μ_V , and it also increases with R_{ON} but at a slower rate.

Table 6.8 Comparison between different memristor types for training time (x_{init} =0.875, x_{final} = 0.75).

Memristor Type	Resistive	Spintronic	Polymeric	Ferroelectric	Manganite
Training time	14.5 ns	25.5 ns	51.5 ns	16.5 ns	205 ns

Figure 6.23 shows the reverse situation when the initial memristance is higher than the final memristance. In this case, the initial state variable is set to $x_{init} = 0.5$ and the same target state variable of $x_{final} = 0.75$. The (Decrease R_M) control signal starts at 1 V which means that the memristance needs to be decreased. When the target value corresponding to $x_{final} = 0.75$ is achieved, the control signal (Decrease R_M) switched to 0 V and the (No Change) control signal switched to 1V.



Figure 6.23 Training polymeric memristor with initial memristance higher than the target memristance.

Chapter 7: Conclusions and Future Work

In this chapter, some important conclusions about this thesis, and also the suggested topics for future work are introduced.

7.1. Conclusions

Recently, memristors have gained a wide research interest and found many applications. In this paper, an overview of memristor's basic operation, fabrication, and modeling are presented. Also, a survey on the various applications of memristors, which include nonvolatile memories, neuromorphic computer architectures, logic circuits, and analog applications is provided. This survey aims to give the reader a general overview of the device operation, main models, and recent research achievements in the field of memristor technology. Besides the overview, a future perspective is given for many possible improvements in memristors' modeling and applications, which can be useful for the upcoming researchs and helps in finding new ideas in the memristor field.

In this work, we have proposed a modified spintronic memristor model. The proposed model is used to study the read disturbance in spintronic memristor-based memory cells due to the thermal fluctuation. The simulation results show that, for a specific probability of failure during the reading process, there is a maximum allowable number of successive read cycles before failure. These results can be used to define the needed frequency of a data refreshment scheme. It is shown that increasing the read current increases the probability of data disturbance. Also, increasing the operating temperature reduces the maximum allowable successive read cycles before failure.

The thesis also proposed an LLGS-based spintronic memristor model. The proposed model is the first model that represents the dynamical behavior of the spintronic memristor using the LLGS equation. This equation provides a physic based method to calculate the change in the magnetization vector of the free layer, providing an accurate model with a direct relation to the physical parameters of the memristor. Thus, the model takes into account the physical behavior of spin-transfer-torque effect of the MTJ-based spintronic memristor. The model also takes into account two important effects, the TMR voltage dependence, and the thermal fluctuation. Both effects are of great importance in studying the actual behavior of spintronic memristors in circuit design. The model is verified to an experimental data of a spintronic memristor, and it showed much better fitting compared to existing models. The model is written using Verilog-A and integrated with SPECTRE-based CAD tool to study the dynamical behavior of the memristor in various electronic circuits with CMOS designs.

The dynamical behavior of spintronic memristors is investigated using the proposed TFA model in order to gain better knowledge about the effect of temperature variations on their behavior. The write and read processes are also investigated using the TFA model. Some useful relations between the probability of failure and critical current density are calculated and plotted.

A read/write circuit is proposed. The proposed circuit achieved a great reduction in the required area for the read/write circuits compared to existing techniques. The read disturbance of the proposed circuit is also investigated and compared with existing techniques to estimate the maximum allowable successive reading cycles before a refreshment is needed.

7.2. Suggestions for Future Work

From what is discussed in the thesis, it is clear that more enhancement in memristor fabrication and modeling is still needed.

In the field of fabrication, it is strongly recommended to investigate various available compounds that can enhance the ON/OFF ratio and the switching speed of spintronic memristors. Spintronic memristors have many great potentials, but the ON/OFF ratio can be a bottleneck if not increased than current values. The same thing goes for resistive memristors, which needs more investigation of enhancing the endurance.

In order to benefit from the high scalability of memristive-based crossbar arrays, the problem of the sneak path must have reliable solutions without reducing scalability. Despite all of the current solution, the sneak path problem is still a major block that will probably delay this technology from finding its place in the market.

Specific model for each type of memristor with a focus on relating the model to the devices' physical parameters is highly required. The proposed model of spintronic memristor shows how different might be the behavior from memristor type to another one. Thus, investigating other types of memristors such as the manganite memristors will give us a better view of the advantages and limitations of each type.

The comparison of memristor types for different application excluded talking about the neuromorphic application. The neuromorphic application is –of course- an important memristor application. However, it was excluded as it needs a lot of simulations and to be well-covered, which is out of the scope of the thesis. Such comparison can be greatly beneficial for memristor-based neural networks.

Appendices

Appendix A

1. Thermal Fluctuation Aware Memristor Model:

// VerilogA for Thermal Fluctuation Aware Spintronic Memristor Model // Parameter values are in SI units `include "constants.vams" `include "disciplines.vams" module spintronic memristor Sherief(pos, neg, x norm); inout pos,neg, x_norm; electrical pos, neg; electrical x norm; branch (pos,neg) memristor; real jeff; real memristance; real current_density; real rL: real rH: real x: real x last; real dxdt: real first iteration; // Physical Constants parameter real e=1.602e-19; parameter real uB=9.274e-24; // Bohr magneton (J/T) // Matrial Parameters parameter real Hp=5000*1e3/(4*3.1415); // Hard Anisotroby "Converted from Oe to A/m" parameter real Hk=100*1e3/(4*3.1415); // Easy Anisotroby "Converted

from Oe to A/m"

<u>Appendices</u>

```
parameter real Ms=1010*1e3;
                                  // Magnetization Saturation
"Converted from emu/cm3 to A/m"
parameter real A=1.8e-11:
                               // Exchange Parameter (J/m)
parameter real Alpha=0.02155;
                                  // Range from [0.002-0.1]
parameter real P=0.35;
                              // Polarization Efficiency
parameter real Gama=1.75e7;
                                  // Gyromagnetic Ratio
parameter real Jcr=5e11;
                               // Critical current Density (A/m2)
// Model Parameters
parameter real D=1000e-9;
                                // Length
                               // Thickness
parameter real h=70e-10;
parameter real z=10e-9;
                              // Width
parameter real ReL=50;
                               // Low Sheet resistance (Ohm/m2) "at
h=70A''
parameter real GMR=0.2;
                               // Giant Magnetoresistance ratio
// time step
parameter real dt=200e-12;
                               // user must specify dt same as max step
// size in transient analysis & must be at least 3 orders smaller than T
period of the source (Must be as small as 1e-3*Tsource)
parameter real init_state=0.2; // Initial value of the normalized state
variable
parameter real Del=15000; // dimensionless
parameter real Temp=300;
analog begin
 if(first iteration==0) begin
 x last=init state*D; // if this is the first iteration, start with x init
 memristance = rH*x_last + rL*(D-x_last);
 end
rL = ReL/z:
rH = rL^{*}(1+GMR);
current density = V(memristor)/(memristance*h*z);
 if(abs(current_density) > Jcr) begin
 ieff = current density;
 end
- 146 -
```

```
else if ((current_density < Jcr) && (current_density>0)) begin
 jeff = 1*Jcr/exp((Del/Temp)*(1-(current_density/Jcr)));
  end
 else if ((current_density > -Jcr) && (current_density<0)) begin
 jeff = -1*Jcr/exp((Del/Temp)*(1-(abs(current_density)/Jcr)));
  end
dxdt= P*uB*jeff/(e*Ms);
x=x last+dxdt*dt;
 if(x > D) begin
 \mathbf{x} = \mathbf{D};
  end
 else if(x < 0) begin
 x = 0;
 end
memristance = rH^*x + rL^*(D-x);
x last=x;
V(memristor) <+ I(memristor)*(memristance);
V(x_norm) \ll x/D;
first_iteration=1;
end
endmodule
```

2. LLGS-based Memristor Model:

// VerilogA for Memristor, LLGS-based spintronic memristor model

`include "constants.vams"

`include "disciplines.vams"

module LLGS_Memristor (pos, neg);

//terminal definitions

inout pos,neg;

electrical pos, neg;

branch (pos, neg) memr;

// variables

real res, net_torque, efficiency, volume, rpar, RandomGaussian, Hfluctuation;

integer seed, Ni, sv_multiple;

real DW_width,DW_volume, RandomTheta, std_dev,N, Memres, Memduc;

// LLG equation coefficients

real h1, h2, h3, k1, k2, k3, s1, s2, s3;

real dmx_dt, dmy_dt, dmz_dt;

real mx, my, mz, sv, Icr, Ieff;

real V_dx, I_dx;

real Ms0,Ms,tmr0, Jc,Rp,Rap, Rp_DW,Rap_DW;

real Ps_nom, Ps0, Ps0_T, Ps_V_T,tmr0_T, TMR_V_T,eff_AP_to_P,eff_P_to_AP;

// model parameters

parameter real plank_constant = 1.054e-27 from (-inf:inf);

parameter real electron_charge = 1.602e-19 from (-inf:inf);

parameter real gyromagnetic_ratio = 1.7608e7 from (-inf:inf);

parameter real alpha = 0.002 from (0:inf); // Range from [0.002-0.1]

parameter real Ms0_nom = 1050 from (0:inf); // Magnetization Saturation
"emu/cm3 ": Ms0_nom(Vmemr=0) at room temperature

- 148 -
parameter real Hk = 250 from (0:inf);

parameter real Vh = 0.5 from (0:inf);

parameter real Aex= 1.8e-7; // *Exchange parameter converted from* (*J*/*m*) *to cgs by* (*10^4)

parameter real g=2; // G-Factor

parameter real ReL=50; // GMR low sheet resistance (Ohm/cm2)

parameter real Tc=1420; // Curie temperature (Kelvin)

parameter real alpha_sp=2e-5; // Material & Geometry dependent factor

parameter real beta=0.4; // material dependent

parameter real modifier=1; // modifier to adapt for Jcr if given (def=1)

parameter integer GMR_TMR= 1 from [0:1]; // set this value = 0 for GMR or =1 for TMR

parameter integer CIP_CPP= 1 from [0:1]; // set this value = 0 for "current-inplane" CIP or =1 for "current perpendicalr to plane" CPP "TMR is always CPP"

parameter integer IPA_PPA= 1 from [0:1]; // set this value = 0 for In plane Anisotropy (IPA) or =1 for Perpendicular to plane anisotropy (PPA)

// Difference between IPA & PPA is in the critical current. To keep model generality, assume that in IPA, coordinatdes are rotated so that mz is the easy axis.

parameter real sv_init=0.51 from [0:1]; // between [0,1], it will be approximated to nearest DW position.

parameter real tmr0_nom = 2 from (0:inf); // tmr0_nom = TMR(Vmem=0) at room temperature

parameter real length = 500e-7 from (0:inf);

parameter real width = 60e-7 from (0:inf);

parameter real thickness = 1.5e-7 from (0:inf);

parameter real tox = 0.85e-7 from (0:inf);

parameter real F = 409405; // Fitting parameter of tunneling resistance (Fitted nominal size to Rp=1500)

parameter real Coef = 1.025;

parameter real Phi = 0.4; // Phi in eV
parameter real kb=1.38e-16; //Boltzman constant
parameter real T=300; //Temperature (Kelvin)
parameter real dt=2e-12; // dt must be defined in cadence with the same value
// take dt <= (1/(10000*fmax))</pre>

// model analog block

analog begin

volume = length*width*thickness; // FL volume

 $Ms0 = Ms0_nom / pow((1-300/Tc),beta);$

Ms=Ms0*pow((1-T/Tc),beta);

DW_width=sqrt(2*Aex/(Ms*Hk)); // Neel DW width

Ni=length/DW_width;

N=Ni;

DW_volume=volume/N;

std_dev=sqrt(kb*T/(Ms*DW_volume*Hk)); //standard deviation of theta
"initialization"

 $k1 = -1*gyromagnetic_ratio/(1 + pow(alpha,2));$

k2 = -1*gyromagnetic_ratio*alpha/(1 + pow(alpha,2));

k3 = gyromagnetic_ratio*plank_constant/(2*electron_charge*Ms*DW_volume);

//conventional STT source (PL with easy axis parallel to FL)

s1 = 0;

s2 = 0;

s3 = 1;

// Polarization and TMR as a function of voltage and temperature

Ps_nom = sqrt(tmr0_nom/(tmr0_nom+2)); // polarization at room temperature

Ps0 = Ps_nom / (1-alpha_sp*pow(300,1.5)); // polarization at zero Kelvin

 $Ps0_T = Ps0*(1-alpha_sp*pow(T,1.5)); // Ps(0,T)$

```
tmr0_T = 2*pow(Ps0_T,2)/(1-pow(Ps0_T,2)); // TMR(0,T)
```

 $TMR_V_T = tmr0_T / (1+pow((V(memr)/Vh),2)); // TMR(V,T)$

 $Ps_V_T = sqrt(TMR_V_T/(TMR_V_T+2));$

// IPA and PPA critical currents

eff_AP_to_P=Ps_V_T/(2*(1-pow(Ps_V_T,2)));

eff_P_to_AP=Ps_V_T/(2*(1+pow(Ps_V_T,2)));

```
if (IPA_PPA==0) begin
```

if (V(memr) <= 0) begin // AP to P switching

```
Icr = modifier* (g*electron_charge* alpha/(plank_constant*eff_AP_to_P))
*(Ms*volume)*(Hk+2*`M_PI*Ms);
```

end

```
else if (V(memr) > 0) begin // P to AP switching
```

```
\label{eq:linear} \begin{split} Icr = modifier*(g*electron_charge*alpha/(plank_constant*eff_P_to_AP)) \\ *(Ms*volume)*(Hk+2*`M_PI*Ms); \end{split}
```

end

end

else if (IPA_PPA==1) begin

if $(V(memr) \le 0)$ begin // AP to P switching

```
Icr = modifier*(g*electron_charge*alpha/(plank_constant*eff_AP_to_P))
*(Ms*volume)*Hk;
```

end

else if (V(memr) > 0) begin // P to AP switching

Icr = modifier*(g*electron_charge*alpha/(plank_constant*eff_P_to_AP)) *(Ms*volume)*Hk;

end

end

// CIP CPP Geometry

```
if (CIP_CPP==0) begin // CIP & GMR
```

 $V_dx = res*V(memr)/(res+Rp*(sv-1/(2*N))+Rap*(1-sv-1/(2*N)));$

I_dx=I(memr); // V_dx is the equiv memr voltage that achieves same switching delay as Aynaz model (V_dx=N*Vdw_dx)

```
// GMR resistance calculations

Rp = ReL*length/width;

Rp_DW = Rp/N;

Rap_DW = Rp_DW*(1+TMR_V_T);

res = Rp_DW + (Rap_DW-Rp_DW)*(1-mz)/2;

end

else if (CIP_CPP==1) begin // CPP

V_dx=V(memr);

I_dx= I(memr)/(1+res*((sv-1/(2*N))/Rp+(1-sv-1/(2*N))/Rap));

if (GMR_TMR==0) begin // GMR

Rp = (ReL*length/width);

Rp_DW = Rp*N;

Rap_DW = RpPW*(1+TMR_V_T);

res = Rp_DW + (Rap_DW-Rp_DW)*(1-mz)/2;
```

end

else if (GMR_TMR==1) begin //TMR Julliere Model

Rp = (tox/(F*length*width*sqrt(Phi*electron_charge*1e7)))*exp(-Coef*tox*1e7*sqrt(Phi)); // Brinkman tunn barrier res model

 $Rp_DW = Rp*N;$

 $res = 2*Rp_DW*(1+TMR_V_T)/(2+TMR_V_T*(1+mz)); // Julliere Model$

end

end

// Net Tourge calculation

if (abs(I(memr)) >= abs(Icr)) begin

Ieff=I_dx;

end

- 152 -

```
else if (abs(I(memr)) < abs(Icr)) begin

Ieff = 0;

end

efficiency = Ps_V_T/(2*(1 + pow(Ps_V_T,2)*mz));

net_torque = Ieff*efficiency;

//Heff=Heff+Hfluctuation

seed=25;

RandomGaussian=$rdist_normal(seed, 0, 1);
```

```
Hfluctuation=sqrt(2*alpha*kb*T/(gyromagnetic_ratio*Ms*volume))*Rando mGaussian;
```

h1= -4*`M_PI*Ms*mx+Hfluctuation;

h2 = 0+Hfluctuation;

h3 = Hk*mz+Hfluctuation;

```
if(analysis("ic")) begin
```

//This defines the initial conditions for the magnetization vector

//fixed

/*V(x) <+ 0;

V(y) <+ 0.3;

V(z) <+ sqrt(1 - 0.3*0.3);*/

// random

// seed=4;

// RandomTheta=\$rdist_normal(seed, 0, std_dev);

mx=0;

my= sin(RandomTheta);

mz= cos(RandomTheta);

sv_multiple = sv_init*N;

sv = sv_init;// sv_multiple/N+1/(2*N);

if (sv >= 1) begin

```
sv = 1-1/(2*N);
```

end

end

```
else if(analysis ("tran")) begin
```

```
dmx_dt = k1*(h3*my-h2*mz)+ k2*(-h1*my*my-h1*mz*mz+ h2*mx*my+h3*mx*mz) + k3*net_torque*(-s1*my*my-s1*mz*mz+ s2*mx*my+s3*mx*mz);
```

mx=mx+dt*dmx_dt;

```
\label{eq:my_dt} \begin{split} &dmy_dt = k1^*(h1^*mz - h3^*mx) + k2^*(h1^*mx^*my - h2^*mx^*mx - h2^*mz^*mz + h3^*my^*mz) + k3^*net\_torque^*(s1^*mx^*my - s2^*mx^*mx - s2^*mz^*mz + s3^*my^*mz); \end{split}
```

my= my+dt*dmy_dt;

```
\label{eq:mz_dt} \begin{split} dmz_dt &= k1^*(h2^*mx-h1^*my) + k2^*(h1^*mx^*mz+h2^*my^*mz-h3^*mx^*mx-h3^*my^*my) + k3^*net\_torque^*(s1^*mx^*mz+s2^*my^*mz-s3^*mx^*mx-s3^*my^*my); \end{split}
```

mz= mz+dt*dmz_dt;

```
if (V(memr)<0) begin
    if (mz>0) begin
    sv= sv+1/N;
    if (sv <= (1-1/(2*N)) ) begin
    mx = 0;
    my = 0;
    mz = -1;
    end
    else if (sv >= 1) begin
    sv= 1-1/(2*N);
    mx = 0;
    my = 0;
```

mz = +1;end end

end

end

```
else if (V(memr)>0) begin
   if (mz<=0) begin
     sv = sv - 1/N;
    if (sv \ge 1/(2*N)) begin
      mx = 0;
      my = 0;
      mz = +1;
    end
    else if (sv <= 0) begin
     sv = 1/(2*N);
    mx = 0;
    my = 0;
    mz = -1;
   end
 end
end
```

```
Rap = Rp*(1+TMR_V_T);
if (CIP_CPP==0) begin
Memres=(res+Rp*(sv-1/(2*N))+Rap*(1-sv-1/(2*N)));
V(memr) <+ I(memr)*Memres;
end
```

else if (CIP_CPP==1) begin

Memduc=((1/res)+((sv-1/(2*N))/Rp)+((1-sv-1/(2*N))/Rap));

I(memr) <+ V(memr)*Memduc;

end

end

endmodule

Appendix B

Cadence Simulation Example:

Circuit: Memristor Training

PC Specs: Core i7 2.7 GHz , 8 GB RAM

Simualtion time : 12.5 Seconds

Transient simulation : Total time : 300 ns, time step : 1 ps.



* Virtuoso®	Analog Design Environment (1) - d	ch_5_Me	mories Training_circuit schematic	~~~	and the second second			
S <u>e</u> ssion Set	<u>up A</u> nalyses <u>V</u> ariables <u>O</u> utputs	<u>S</u> imulatio	n <u>R</u> esults <u>T</u> ools <u>H</u> elp				cād	dence
II Status: Read	iy T=27 C Simulator: spectre	State:	state 3					
Design Variab	les		Analyses					
Nam	e = Value	\land		Argum	ents		Δ	· [**
1 dt	1p		1 tran 👱 0 300n conservative					
2 init	500m							. AC
								⊖ pc
1							=	U Trans
								Ϋ́
				100				}- ⊕ →
		=	Outputs	Mature 1 B				⊡→
			1 x	- Value P	ot Save	ally Save Options	- Ĥ	
			2 out_opamp			ally		\checkmark
			3 out+			allv		
			4 out-		<u> </u>	allv	-	
			5 ×_high		<u> </u>	allv		
			6 equal	<u>×</u>	<u> </u>	allv		
			7 ×_low	<u>×</u>	<u>:</u>	allv		
							ų	
1		L L	- [100				\bigcirc
		Ę	Plot After Simulation: Auto	Plotti	ng mode:	Replace 🔽		
					•			hA.
>								4.6
2 Notlist and	Pue							
J Neuist and	nuii							

Figure B-2 The Analog Design Environment of the training circuit

/root/simulation/Training_circuit/spectre/schematic/psf/spectre.out	
<u>File H</u> elp cād	епсе
<pre>tempeffects = all errpreset = conservative method = gear2only lteratio = 10 relref = alllocal cmin = 0 F gmin = 1 pS</pre>	
tran: time = 7.5 ns (2.5 %), step = 1 ps (333 u tran: time = 22.5 ns (7.5 %), step = 1 ps (333 u tran: time = 37.5 ns (12.5 %), step = 1 ps (333 u tran: time = 52.5 ns (17.5 %), step = 1 ps (333 u tran: time = 67.5 ns (22.5 %), step = 1 ps (333 u tran: time = 82.5 ns (27.5 %), step = 1 ps (333 u tran: time = 82.5 ns (27.5 %), step = 1 ps (333 u tran: time = 112.5 ns (32.5 %), step = 1 ps (333 u tran: time = 127.5 ns (42.5 %), step = 1 ps (333 u tran: time = 142.5 ns (42.5 %), step = 1 ps (333 u tran: time = 142.5 ns (57.5 %), step = 1 ps (333 u tran: time = 157.5 ns (52.5 %), step = 1 ps (333 u tran: time = 172.5 ns (52.5 %), step = 1 ps (333 u tran: time = 172.5 ns (52.5 %), step = 1 ps (333 u tran: time = 202.5 ns (67.5 %), step = 1 ps (333 u tran: time = 202.5 ns (67.5 %), step = 1 ps (333 u tran: time = 202.5 ns (67.5 %), step = 1 ps (333 u tran: time = 22.5 ns (77.5 %), step = 1 ps (333 u tran: time = 227.5 ns (92.5 %), step = 1 ps (333 u tran: time = 227.5 ns (92.5 %), step = 1 ps (333 u tran: time = 227.5 ns (92.5 %), step = 1 ps (333 u tran: time = 227.5 ns (92.5 %), step = 1 ps (333 u tran: time = 227.5 ns (92.5 %), step = 1 ps (333 u tran: time = 277.5 ns (92.5 %), step = 1 ps (333 u tran: time = 277.5 ns (92.5 %), step = 1 ps (333 u tran: time = 277.5 ns (92.5 %), step = 1 ps (333 u tran: time = 277.5 ns (92.5 %), step = 1 ps (333 u tran: time = 277.5 ns (92.5 %), step = 1 ps (333 u tran: time = 277.5 ns (92.5 %), step = 1 ps (333 u tran: time = 277.5 ns (92.5 %), step = 1 ps (333 u tran: time = 277.5 ns (92.5 %), step = 1 ps (333 u tran: time = 277.5 ns (92.5 %), step = 1 ps (333 u tran: time = 277.5 ns (92.5 %), step = 1 ps (333 u tran: time = 277.5 ns (92.5 %), step = 1 ps (333 u tran: time = 277.5 ns (92.5 %), step = 1 ps (333 u tran: time = 277.5 ns (92.5 %), step = 1 ps (333 u tran: time = 277.5 ns (92.5 %), step = 1 ps (333 u tran: time = 277.5 ns (92.5 %), step = 1 ps (333 u tran: time = 277.5 ns (92.5 %), step = 1 ps (333 u tran: time = 277.5 ns (92.5 %), step = 1 ps (333 u tran: time = 277	(व) (व) (व) (व) (व) (व) (व) (व) (व) (व)

Figure B-3 The simulation output file of the training circuit.



Figure B-4 The simulation results of the training circuit.

REFERENCES

- [1] L. Chua, "Memristor-the missing circuit element," *IEEE Transactions on Circuit Theory*, vol. 18, pp. 507-519, 1971.
- [2] D. B. Strukov, G. S. Snider, D. R. Stewart, and R. S. Williams, "The missing memristor found," *nature*, vol. 453, p. 80, 2008.
- [3] D. Biolek, V. Biolkova, and Z. Biolek, "SPICE model of memristor with nonlinear dopant drift," *Radioengineering*, 2009.
- [4] S. Kvatinsky, E. G. Friedman, A. Kolodny, and U. C. Weiser, "TEAM: Threshold adaptive memristor model," *IEEE Transactions on Circuits and Systems I: Regular Papers*, vol. 60, pp. 211-221, 2013.
- [5] A. Kumar and M. Baghini, "Experimental study for selection of electrode material for ZnO-based memristors," *Electronics Letters*, vol. 50, pp. 1547-1549, 2014.
- [6] A. J. Lohn, J. E. Stevens, P. R. Mickel, and M. J. Marinella, "Optimizing TaOx memristor performance and consistency within the reactive sputtering "forbidden region"," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 103, p. 063502, 2013.
- [7] A. C. Torrezan, J. P. Strachan, G. Medeiros-Ribeiro, and R. S. Williams, "Sub-nanosecond switching of a tantalum oxide memristor," *Nanotechnology*, vol. 22, p. 485203, 2011.
- [8] M. Hu, H. Li, Y. Chen, X. Wang, and R. E. Pino, "Geometry variations analysis of TiO 2 thin-film and spintronic memristors," in *Proceedings of the 16th Asia and South Pacific design automation conference*, 2011, pp. 25-30.
- [9] (Dec. 2017). Available: https://regmedia.co.uk/2011/12/22/memristor.jpg
- [10] S. Shin, K. Kim, and S.-M. Kang, "Compact models for memristors based on charge-flux constitutive relationships," *IEEE Transactions on Computer-Aided Design of Integrated Circuits and Systems*, vol. 29, pp. 590-598, 2010.
- [11] L. Wang, C. Yang, J. Wen, S. Gai, and Y. Peng, "Overview of emerging memristor families from resistive memristor to spintronic memristor," *Journal of Materials Science: Materials in Electronics*, vol. 26, pp. 4618-4628, 2015.
- [12] F. Pan, S. Gao, C. Chen, C. Song, and F. Zeng, "Recent progress in resistive random access memories: materials, switching mechanisms, and performance," *Materials Science and Engineering: R: Reports*, vol. 83, pp. 1-59, 2014.

- [13] X. Wang, Y. Chen, H. Xi, H. Li, and D. Dimitrov, "Spintronic memristor through spin-torque-induced magnetization motion," *IEEE electron device letters*, vol. 30, pp. 294-297, 2009.
- [14] C. Xu, X. Dong, N. P. Jouppi, and Y. Xie, "Design implications of memristor-based RRAM cross-point structures," in *Design, Automation* & Test in Europe Conference & Exhibition (DATE), 2011, pp. 1-6.
- [15] Y. Ho, G. M. Huang, and P. Li, "Dynamical properties and design analysis for nonvolatile memristor memories," *IEEE Transactions on Circuits and Systems I: Regular Papers*, vol. 58, pp. 724-736, 2011.
- [16] I. E. Ebong and P. Mazumder, "CMOS and memristor-based neural network design for position detection," *Proceedings of the IEEE*, vol. 100, pp. 2050-2060, 2012.
- [17] A. Wu and Z. Zeng, "Dynamic behaviors of memristor-based recurrent neural networks with time-varying delays," *Neural Networks*, vol. 36, pp. 1-10, 2012.
- [18] S. Wen, Z. Zeng, and T. Huang, "Exponential stability analysis of memristor-based recurrent neural networks with time-varying delays," *Neurocomputing*, vol. 97, pp. 233-240, 2012.
- [19] S. Kvatinsky, A. Kolodny, U. C. Weiser, and E. G. Friedman, "Memristor-based IMPLY logic design procedure," in *IEEE 29th International Conference on Computer Design (ICCD)*, 2011, pp. 142-147.
- [20] W. Wang, T. T. Jing, and B. Butcher, "FPGA based on integration of memristors and CMOS devices," in *Proceedings of 2010 IEEE International Symposium on Circuits and Systems (ISCAS)*, 2010, pp. 1963-1966.
- [21] J. Rajendran, H. Manem, R. Karri, and G. S. Rose, "Memristor based programmable threshold logic array," in *Proceedings of the 2010 IEEE/ACM International Symposium on Nanoscale Architectures*, 2010, pp. 5-10.
- [22] V. Erokhin and M. P. Fontana, "Electrochemically controlled polymeric device: a memristor (and more) found two years ago," *arXiv preprint arXiv:0807.0333*, 2008.
- [23] A. Chanthbouala, V. Garcia, R. O. Cherifi, K. Bouzehouane, S. Fusil, X. Moya, *et al.*, "A ferroelectric memristor," *Nature materials*, vol. 11, pp. 860-864, 2012.
- [24] D. Kim, H. Lu, S. Ryu, C.-W. Bark, C.-B. Eom, E. Tsymbal, *et al.*, "Ferroelectric tunnel memristor," *Nano letters*, vol. 12, pp. 5697-5702, 2012.

- 162 -

- [25] D. Liu, H. Cheng, X. Zhu, G. Wang, and N. Wang, "Analog memristors based on thickening/thinning of Ag nanofilaments in amorphous manganite thin films," *ACS applied materials & interfaces*, vol. 5, pp. 11258-11264, 2013.
- [26] S. Benderli and T. Wey, "On SPICE macromodelling of TiO 2 memristors," *Electronics Letters*, vol. 45, pp. 377-379, 2009.
- [27] T. Prodromakis, B. P. Peh, C. Papavassiliou, and C. Toumazou, "A versatile memristor model with nonlinear dopant kinetics," *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 58, pp. 3099-3105, 2011.
- [28] Y. N. Joglekar and S. J. Wolf, "The elusive memristor: properties of basic electrical circuits," *European Journal of Physics*, vol. 30, p. 661, 2009.
- [29] Z. Biolek, D. Biolek, and V. Biolkova, "SPICE model of memristor with nonlinear dopant drift," *Radioengineering*, vol. 18, pp. 210-214, 2009.
- [30] J. Chowdhury, J. Das, and N. Rout, "Implementing trigonometric nonlinearity in linear ion-drift memristor model," in *International Conference on Industrial Instrumentation and Control (ICIC)*, 2015, pp. 1150-1153.
- [31] M. D. Pickett, D. B. Strukov, J. L. Borghetti, J. J. Yang, G. S. Snider, D. R. Stewart, *et al.*, "Switching dynamics in titanium dioxide memristive devices," *Journal of Applied Physics*, vol. 106, pp. 074508-074508-6, 2009.
- [32] H. Abdalla and M. D. Pickett, "SPICE modeling of memristors," in *IEEE International Symposium on Circuits and Systems (ISCAS)*, 2011, pp. 1832-1835.
- [33] S. Kvatinsky, K. Talisveyberg, D. Fliter, E. G. Friedman, A. Kolodny, and U. C. Weiser, "Verilog-A for memristor models," *CCIT Technical Report*, vol. 801, 2011.
- [34] E. Lehtonen and M. Laiho, "CNN using memristors for neighborhood connections," in *12th International Workshop on Cellular Nanoscale Networks and Their Applications (CNNA)*, 2010, pp. 1-4.
- [35] Z. Biolek, D. Biolek, and V. Biolkova, "SPICE Model of Memristor with Nonlinear Dopant Drift," *Radioengineering*, vol. 18, 2009.
- [36] Y. Chen and X. Wang, "Compact modeling and corner analysis of spintronic memristor," in *Proceedings of the International Symposium on Nanoscale Architectures IEEE/ACM*, 2009, pp. 7-12.
- [37] M. Yamanouchi, D. Chiba, F. Matsukura, and H. Ohno, "Current-induced domain-wall switching in a ferromagnetic semiconductor structure," *Nature*, vol. 428, pp. 539-542, 2004.

- [38] X. Liu, X.-J. Liu, and M.-L. Ge, "Dynamics of domain wall in a biaxial ferromagnet interacting with a spin-polarized current," *Physical Review B*, vol. 71, p. 224419, 2005.
- [39] D. W. Abraham and P. L. Trouilloud, "Thermally-assisted magnetic random access memory (MRAM)," US Patent 6,385,082, 2002.
- [40] I. Prejbeanu, M. Kerekes, R. Sousa, H. Sibuet, O. Redon, B. Dieny, et al., "Thermally assisted MRAM," *Journal of Physics: Condensed Matter*, vol. 19, p. 165218, 2007.
- [41] S. Kvatinsky, D. Belousov, S. Liman, G. Satat, N. Wald, E. G. Friedman, *et al.*, "MAGIC—Memristor-aided logic," *IEEE Transactions on Circuits and Systems II: Express Briefs*, vol. 61, pp. 895-899, 2014.
- [42] N. Talati, S. Gupta, P. Mane, and S. Kvatinsky, "Logic design within memristive memories using memristor-aided loGIC (MAGIC)," *IEEE Transactions on Nanotechnology*, vol. 15, pp. 635-650, 2016.
- [43] Y. Takahashi, Y. Urata, T. Sekine, N. Anuar, and M. Yokoyama, "Memristor 1T-SRAM with adiabatic driving," in *Proc. IEEE Int. Electron Devices and Materials Symp.*, *PB-1*, *Taipei, Taiwan* 2011.
- [44] H. Manem and G. S. Rose, "A read-monitored write circuit for 1T1M multi-level memristor memories," in *IEEE international symposium on Circuits and systems (ISCAS)*, 2011, pp. 2938-2941.
- [45] (2014, Dec. 30, 2017). Available: https://www.a-star.edu.sg/dsi/Key-R-D-Areas/Non-Volatile-Memories-NVM/Projects/RRAM-Memristor.aspx
- [46] M. A. Zidan, H. A. H. Fahmy, M. M. Hussain, and K. N. Salama, "Memristor-based memory: The sneak paths problem and solutions," *Microelectronics Journal*, vol. 44, pp. 176-183, 2013.
- [47] M. Elshamy, H. Mostafa, Y. H. Ghallab, and M. S. Said, "A novel nondestructive read/write circuit for memristor-based memory arrays," *IEEE Transactions on Very Large Scale Integration (VLSI) Systems*, vol. 23, pp. 2648-2656, 2015.
- [48] P. O. Vontobel, W. Robinett, P. J. Kuekes, D. R. Stewart, J. Straznicky, and R. S. Williams, "Writing to and reading from a nano-scale crossbar memory based on memristors," *Nanotechnology*, vol. 20, p. 425204, 2009.
- [49] H. Manem, G. S. Rose, X. He, and W. Wang, "Design considerations for variation tolerant multilevel CMOS/Nano memristor memory," in *Proceedings of the 20th symposium on Great lakes symposium on VLSI*, 2010, pp. 287-292.

- [50] J. J. Yang, D. B. Strukov, and D. R. Stewart, "Memristive devices for computing," *Nature nanotechnology*, vol. 8, pp. 13-24, 2013.
- [51] P. R. Montague, P. Dayan, C. Person, and T. J. Sejnowski, "Bee foraging in uncertain environments using predictive hebbian learning," *Nature*, vol. 377, pp. 725-728, 1995.
- [52] N. Caporale and Y. Dan, "Spike timing–dependent plasticity: a Hebbian learning rule," *Annu. Rev. Neurosci.*, vol. 31, pp. 25-46, 2008.
- [53] M. Di Ventra and Y. V. Pershin, "Biologically-inspired electronics with memory circuit elements," in *Advances in Neuromorphic Memristor Science and Applications*, ed: Springer, 2012, pp. 15-36.
- [54] S. H. Jo, T. Chang, I. Ebong, B. B. Bhadviya, P. Mazumder, and W. Lu, "Nanoscale memristor device as synapse in neuromorphic systems," *Nano letters*, vol. 10, pp. 1297-1301, 2010.
- [55] G. S. Snider, "Self-organized computation with unreliable, memristive nanodevices," *Nanotechnology*, vol. 18, p. 365202, 2007.
- [56] G. S. Snider, "Spike-timing-dependent learning in memristive nanodevices," in *IEEE International Symposium on Nanoscale Architectures NANOARCH* 2008, pp. 85-92.
- [57] F. Corinto, A. Ascoli, and M. Gilli, "Memristor models for pattern recognition systems," in *Advances in Neuromorphic Memristor Science and Applications*, ed: Springer, 2012, pp. 245-267.
- [58] N. R. McDonald, R. E. Pino, P. J. Rozwood, and B. T. Wysocki, "Analysis of dynamic linear and non-linear memristor device models for emerging neuromorphic computing hardware design," in *The 2010 International Joint Conference on Neural Networks (IJCNN)*, 2010, pp. 1-5.
- [59] R. E. Pino, J. W. Bohl, N. McDonald, B. Wysocki, P. Rozwood, K. A. Campbell, et al., "Compact method for modeling and simulation of memristor devices: Ion conductor chalcogenide-based memristor devices," in *Proceedings of the 2010 IEEE/ACM International Symposium on Nanoscale Architectures*, 2010, pp. 1-4.
- [60] E. Lehtonen and M. Laiho, "Stateful implication logic with memristors," in *Proceedings of the 2009 IEEE/ACM International Symposium on Nanoscale Architectures*, 2009, pp. 33-36.
- [61] S. Kvatinsky, G. Satat, N. Wald, E. G. Friedman, A. Kolodny, and U. C. Weiser, "Memristor-based material implication (IMPLY) logic: Design principles and methodologies," *IEEE Transactions on Very Large Scale Integration (VLSI) Systems*, vol. 22, pp. 2054-2066, 2014.

- [62] T. Raja and S. Mourad, "Digital logic implementation in memristor-based crossbars," in *International Conference on Communications, Circuits and Systems ICCCAS* 2009, pp. 939-943.
- [63] Q. Xia, W. Robinett, M. W. Cumbie, N. Banerjee, T. J. Cardinali, J. J. Yang, *et al.*, "Memristor- CMOS hybrid integrated circuits for reconfigurable logic," *Nano letters*, vol. 9, pp. 3640-3645, 2009.
- [64] T. Raja and S. Mourad, "Digital logic implementation in memristor-based crossbars-a tutorial," in *Fifth IEEE International Symposium on Electronic Design, Test and Application* 2010, pp. 303-309.
- [65] S. Kvatinsky, N. Wald, G. Satat, A. Kolodny, U. C. Weiser, and E. G. Friedman, "MRL—memristor ratioed logic," in *13th International Workshop on Cellular Nanoscale Networks and Their Applications (CNNA)*, 2012, pp. 1-6.
- [66] J. Cong and B. Xiao, "mrFPGA: A novel FPGA architecture with memristor-based reconfiguration," in *IEEE/ACM International Symposium onNanoscale Architectures (NANOARCH)*, 2011, pp. 1-8.
- [67] D. Strukov and A. Mishchenko, "Monolithically stackable hybrid FPGA," in *Design, Automation & Test in Europe Conference & Exhibition* (*DATE*), 2010, pp. 661-666.
- [68] S. Shin, K. Kim, and S.-M. Kang, "Memristor applications for programmable analog ICs," *IEEE Transactions on Nanotechnology*, vol. 10, pp. 266-274, 2011.
- [69] T. Wey and W. Jemison, "An automatic gain control circuit with TiO2 memristor variable gain amplifier," *Analog Integrated Circuits and Signal Processing*, vol. 73, pp. 663-672, 2012.
- [70] M. Itoh and L. O. Chua, "Memristor oscillators," *International Journal of Bifurcation and Chaos*, vol. 18, pp. 3183-3206, 2008.
- [71] M. A. Zidan, H. Omran, A. Radwan, and K. Salama, "Memristor-based reactance-less oscillator," *Electronics letters*, vol. 47, pp. 1220-1221, 2011.
- [72] A. Talukdar, A. G. Radwan, and K. N. Salama, "Non linear dynamics of memristor based 3rd order oscillatory system," *Microelectronics Journal*, vol. 43, pp. 169-175, 2012.
- [73] A. G. Mosad, M. E. Fouda, M. A. Khatib, K. N. Salama, and A. G. Radwan, "Improved memristor-based relaxation oscillator," *Microelectronics Journal*, vol. 44, pp. 814-820, 2013.
- [74] (Dec. 30,2017). Available: https://www.everspin.com/file/160/download
- [75] M. Madec, J.-B. Kammerer, F. Pregaldiny, L. Hebrard, and C. Lallement, "Compact modeling of magnetic tunnel junction," in *Joint 6th*
- 166 -

International IEEE Northeast Workshop on Circuits and Systems and TAISA Conference NEWCAS-TAISA, 2008, pp. 229-232.

- [76] Y. Chen, X. Wang, H. Li, H. Xi, Y. Yan, and W. Zhu, "Design margin exploration of spin-transfer torque RAM (STT-RAM) in scaled technologies," *IEEE transactions on very large scale integration (VLSI)* systems, vol. 18, pp. 1724-1734, 2010.
- [77] L. D. Landau and E. Lifshitz, "On the theory of the dispersion of magnetic permeability in ferromagnetic bodies," *Phys. Z. Sowjetunion*, vol. 8, pp. 101-114, 1935.
- [78] T. L. Gilbert, "A phenomenological theory of damping in ferromagnetic materials," *IEEE Transactions on Magnetics*, vol. 40, pp. 3443-3449, 2004.
- [79] D. C. Ralph and M. D. Stiles, "Spin transfer torques," *Journal of Magnetism and Magnetic Materials*, vol. 320, pp. 1190-1216, 2008.
- [80] J. C. Slonczewski, "Current-driven excitation of magnetic multilayers," *Journal of Magnetism and Magnetic Materials*, vol. 159, pp. L1-L7, 1996.
- [81] J. Slonczewski, "Currents, torques, and polarization factors in magnetic tunnel junctions," *Physical Review B*, vol. 71, p. 024411, 2005.
- [82] S. Huda, "Modeling and Design of Spin Torque Transfer Magnetoresistive Random Access Memory," MSc Thesis, University of Toronto, 2012.
- [83] H. Akinaga and H. Ohno, "Semiconductor spintronics," *IEEE Transactions on nanotechnology*, vol. 99, pp. 19-31, 2002.
- [84] F. Li, S. Y. H. Lua, and A. Mani, "An Optimized Resistance Characterization Technique for the Next Generation Magnetic Random Access Memory," *IEEE Transactions on Nanotechnology*, vol. 14, pp. 540-545, 2015.
- [85] A. Thiaville, Y. Nakatani, J. Miltat, and Y. Suzuki, "Micromagnetic understanding of current-driven domain wall motion in patterned nanowires," *EPL (Europhysics Letters)*, vol. 69, p. 990, 2005.
- [86] J. Z. Sun, "Spin-current interaction with a monodomain magnetic body: A model study," *Physical Review B*, vol. 62, p. 570, 2000.
- [87] J. Sun and D. Ralph, "Magnetoresistance and spin-transfer torque in magnetic tunnel junctions," *Journal of Magnetism and Magnetic Materials*, vol. 320, pp. 1227-1237, 2008.
- [88] Y. Wang, H. Cai, L. A. de Barros Naviner, Y. Zhang, X. Zhao, E. Deng, *et al.*, "Compact model of dielectric breakdown in spin-transfer torque

magnetic tunnel junction," *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 63, pp. 1762-1767, 2016.

- [89] M. Julliere, "Tunneling between ferromagnetic films," *Physics letters A*, vol. 54, pp. 225-226, 1975.
- [90] L. Engelbrecht, *Modeling spintronics devices in Verilog-A for use with industry-standard simulation tools*: Oregon State University, 2011.
- [91] S. Huda and A. Sheikholeslami, "A novel STT-MRAM cell with disturbance-free read operation," *IEEE Transactions on Circuits and Systems I: Regular Papers*, vol. 60, pp. 1534-1547, 2013.
- [92] R. W. Dorrance, "Modeling and design of STT-MRAMs," PhD Thesis, University of California, Los Angeles, 2011.
- [93] S. Lequeux, J. Sampaio, V. Cros, K. Yakushiji, A. Fukushima, R. Matsumoto, *et al.*, "A magnetic synapse: multilevel spin-torque memristor with perpendicular anisotropy," *Scientific reports*, vol. 6, p. 31510, 2016.
- [94] F. Miao, J. P. Strachan, J. J. Yang, M. X. Zhang, I. Goldfarb, A. C. Torrezan, *et al.*, "Anatomy of a nanoscale conduction channel reveals the mechanism of a high-performance memristor," *Advanced materials*, vol. 23, pp. 5633-5640, 2011.
- [95] N. Gergel-Hackett, B. Hamadani, B. Dunlap, J. Suehle, C. Richter, C. Hacker, *et al.*, "A flexible solution-processed memristor," *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, vol. 30, pp. 706-708, 2009.
- [96] V. Erokhin, G. D. Howard, and A. Adamatzky, "Organic memristor devices for logic elements with memory," *International Journal of Bifurcation and Chaos*, vol. 22, p. 1250283, 2012.
- [97] A. Chanthbouala, V. Garcia, R. O. Cherifi, K. Bouzehouane, S. Fusil, X. Moya, *et al.*, "A ferroelectric memristor," *Nature materials*, vol. 11, p. 860, 2012.
- [98] D. Liu, C. Zhang, G. Wang, Z. Shao, X. Zhu, N. Wang, et al., "Nanoscale electrochemical metallization memories based on amorphous (La, Sr) MnO3 using ultrathin porous alumina masks," *Journal of Physics D: Applied Physics*, vol. 47, p. 085108, 2014.
- [99] M. A. Zidan, H. Omran, A. G. Radwan, and K. N. Salama, "Memristorbased reactance-less oscillator," *Electronics letters*, vol. 47, pp. 1220-1221, 2011.
- [100] R. Hasan, C. Yakopcic, and T. M. Taha, "Ex-situ training of dense memristor crossbar for neuromorphic applications," in *IEEE/ACM International Symposium on Nanoscale Architectures (NANOARCH)*, 2015, pp. 75-81.

[101] C. Yakopcic, M. Z. Alom, and T. M. Taha, "Memristor crossbar deep network implementation based on a convolutional neural network," in *International Joint Conference on Neural Networks (IJCNN)*, 2016, pp. 963-970.